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Corporate Information

ARES .

ABOUT CGN MINING AR ERTEE

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands and listed on the AARFEMARERE  B—REHI
main board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 01164). The principal FrER EMMHAR (BRERIE - 01164)
activities are the development and trade of natural uranium resources AEBFENESRAMERHRAZEE

used by nuclear energy enterprises, with a view to be one of the top 5 BEKEZBIMARARMERNESH
suppliers of natural uranium resources for nuclear power plants. JERE 2 — °
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Financial Highlights

MREE

OPERATING RESULTS ¥&

For the year ended 31 December
BZ12A31 HLEE

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
2020 F 2019 & 2018 & 2017 & 2016 &
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FAT FHET FET
Continuing operations BHEEER

Revenue ] 2,862,226 2,076,688 1,625,974 372,790 707,749
Operating profit il 220,855 196,638 172,623 67,746 469,513
Finance costs AR (40,889) (20,466) (32,110) = (5,601)
Profit before taxation R AT A 179,966 176,172 140,513 67,746 463,912
Income tax expense PSRz (24,749) (16,163) (18,447) (15,668) (74,782)
Profit for the year REZHF 155,217 160,009 122,066 52,078 389,130

Profit attributable to : THIALREEET] -
Owners of the Company ZA/NCIEZZE N 155,217 160,009 122,066 52,078 389,130
Non-controlling interests S - = = = =
155,217 160,009 122,066 52,078 389,130

FINANCIAL POSITION B # k%

As at 31 December

R12A381H

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
2020 & 2019 F 2018 £ 2017 £ 2016 £
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’'000
TER FAT TAT FHT FAT
Total assets BERBE 4,187,787 3,095,366 2,674,507 1,911,275 1,886,549
Total liabilities BfELE (2,160,727) (1,151,125)  (810,089)  (120,520) (69,990)
2,027,060 1944241 1,864,418 1,790,755 1,816,559

Equity attributable to owners ZNAEHA A
of the Company FE(G R 2,027,060 1,944,241 1,864,418 1,790,755 1,816,559
Non-controlling interests IR - - - - -
2,027,060 1944241 1864418 1,790,755 1,816,559

hEREEAR AR

—ECTFFR
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Chairman’s Statement

Dear Shareholders,

In 2020, the sudden outbreak of the epidemic has brought different
impact to many countries and regions and all walks of life in the world,
including China. Under the overall depressed economic environment,
the uranium industry has shown good toughness and stability on
the demand side due to the characteristic of rigid demand of its
downstream electricity market. On the other hand, due to the impact
of the epidemic, the global production capacity of uranium mining
shrunk, with a decrease in supply and continuous consumption of
excess inventories. In the past year, the price of natural uranium
generally showed an upward trend, and international natural uranium
trade has become more active.

In 2020, we achieved sound results despite of the impact of the
epidemic. Firstly, in terms of the promotion of the New Kazakhstan
Uranium Project, we overcame various obstacles and gradually
worked out the details, and ultimately reached a framework
agreement near the end of 2020 with the project completion time
being locked, representing a substantial step forward. Secondly, in
terms of the operation of existing projects, through close attention
and strict supervision to the production and operation of Semizbay-U,
we ensured that it still completed the annual production plan under
the epidemic situation, and secured our investment income; and
Fission completed the management reorganization in 2020, then put
forward a new medium to long term plan, and successfully raised
approximately CA$24.07 million, secured the continuous operation
of the company and subsequent development of projects. Finally,
in terms of the sales of natural uranium, in order to prevent possible
losses caused by changes in the international situation, CGN Global
took the initiative to reduce its inventories risk, actively grasped the
market opportunity of natural uranium price recovery and achieved a
significant increase in profits compared with 2019.

CGN Mining Company Limited Annual Report 2020
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Chairman’s Statement

In the past five years, we have grown from scratch and hacked our
way through difficulties. We have begun to gradually emerge and
grow into a specialized and stable company in the field of natural
uranium. We have achieved “three expansions”:

Firstly, we expanded our equity assets and gradually built the
resource pipeline. In 2015, the Company completed the acquisition
of 49% equity interests in Semizbay-U, and by adhering to the goal of
“stabilizing production and reducing cost”, ensured that Semizbay-U
maintained lowest production costs among the mines in production
worldwide through governance control and close coordination
with the despatched team. We further enhanced exchanges and
cooperation with Kazakhstan partner and successfully signed a
series of framework agreements and principle agreements in 2015
and 2016 to lock the new acquisition project of uranium mines, and
we made substantial progress in the project during the “Thirteenth
Five-year” as mentioned above. Furthermore, in order to ameliorate
the resource pipeline, we also tried to invest in high-grade uranium
resource projects in the exploration stage, and sought the potential
value growth by securing the off-take rights of future products. In
2016, the Company completed the acquisition of 19.99% equity
interests in Fission, a company listed in Canada, and became its
largest shareholder. The released pre-feasibility study report showed
that its PSL project has great potential of exploration and high
economic value.

Secondly, we expanded our business scale and created
our own trading brand. Thanks to the long-term demand of the
Controlling Shareholders for natural uranium products, the Company
has always had stable sales channels for its trade business,
which has brought us stable profits, but the over-concentration of
customers has also brought risks to our operations. In order to grasp
the market opportunities, broaden customer channels, open up the
international market and build our own trading brand, we completed
the acquisition of CGN Global in early 2019, which effectively
improved the Group’s overall natural uranium trade structure,
significantly increased trade revenue and brought more space for the
subsequent growth of the financial performance of the Group.

BERF - BPIREDE - BHER -
REREIRA KRR RN ARAMBELE
MBI AR WERT[=EREA]

—REBEAEZEE  BLSBEERBEH -
NRIPA2015F B T H 3 A R149% AR H#EHY
Weig - BIRRIRE I M E AT R B KR
iR - BEBEE  BAKINEZE -
BRTHAREERNNFERFEERE
EREILATY] o B — PG HER AR
TAME  BRINFE2015F 2016 FHE—
RYIEZR has &R A1 ek - SHE 7RO 8h
TEUREETEE - bFrit - BEEI+ =)
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N 8

Chairman’s Statement

Thirdly, we expanded the capital scale and optimized the
shareholding structure. In order to continuously develop and
optimize corporate governance, we have also been seeking the
participation of strategic investors to obtain more development funds
and grow stronger together. In 2016, Fosun Group joined us through
its subsidiary, which not only brought us strong financial support but
also experience in management and operations. Although we still
have a long way to become “strong enough”, we can see that through
five years of operation, the Company’s assets exceeded HK$4 billion
by the end of 2020, nearly doubling from the beginning of 2015. At
present, the Company is on an upward path of development, and
the strength accumulated during the “Thirteenth Five-year® will be
released gradually.

There is no doubt that the “Thirteenth Five-year” is a five-year of
struggling and growing for us, and the oncoming “Fourteenth Five-
year” will be a five-year of development and quality improvement,
which will be even more challenging for us. We will further develop
along the path of “investment, financing, production and marketing”
to realize a virtuous circle based on the existing business. In terms
of investment, we will still focus on high-quality mine resources
worldwide, and explore the best investment opportunities and steadily
control more uranium resources and form a reasonable pipeline
of projects in production, projects under construction, senior and
primary projects; meanwhile, we intend to ensure the implementation
of the target projects through various forms of financing. Besides,
we will continue to stably operate the existing and new projects
in production to ensure obtaining investment income and natural
uranium off-take volume smoothly, which is also the basis for the
Company’s sustainable and sound operation. In addition to trading
with major Shareholder, the team will rely on the brands of CGN
Global and CGN to further build international sales capacity, and
at the time of strictly controlling risks, improve the profitability of
international trade and accumulate market influence by constantly
trying and exploring new sales models.

CGN Mining Company Limited Annual Report 2020
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Chairman’s Statement

2021 is a crucial year, while facing the ever-changing environment,
we will be more proactive in seizing opportunities. It’s our first priority
to push forward the completion of the New Kazakhstan Uranium
Project as planned, and subsequently, we will focus more on the
production and operation and cost control of Ortalyk. We believe that
based on the cooperation experience with Kazatomprom in the two
mine projects, namely Semizbay Mine and Irkol Mine, for many years,
the New Kazakhstan Uranium Project will also bring us sound returns.
For other potential projects, we will make great efforts to seek new
breakthroughs in 2021.

The complex and ever-changing environment would leave few
enterprises unscathed, and hard work and realistic operation are the
only way to survive and grow stronger. In the past, we had developed
from scratch and grown from the small to the big. Thanks to constant
persistence and cultivation, we have achieved today’s results. As
China’s nuclear power is developing rapidly, and the international
uranium price is expected to rise steadily in the future, it is generally
estimated that we are still in a period of strategic opportunities with
great potential. We will respond to the risk of the epidemic with
greater confidence, determination and calm than ever before, and will
lay a solid foundation, strive to improve the quality of development
and risk resistance capacity, and continue to create greater value for
our Shareholders.

Chairman of the Board
Yu Zhiping

Beijing, 31 March 2021
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Chief Executive Officer’s Statement

EEaTEER

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the management, | present the annual results of the
Company for 2020. During the Reporting Period, the main results
were as follows:

o Sales of 4,756tU natural uranium (2019: 3,696tU), of which
off-take based on equity interest amounted to 588tU (2019:
588tU); and 4,168tU of International trading (2019: 3,108tU);

o Revenue amounted to HK$2,862 million (2019: HK$2,077
million);

o The weighted average settlement price was US$29.8/Ib
(2019: US$27.8/Ib) and the weighted average selling cost was
US$27.79/Ib (2019: US$25.9/1b);

° Profit attributable to owners of the Company was HK$155
million (2019: HK$160 million). Basic earnings per Share was
HK2.35 cents (2019: HK2.42 cents).

In 2020, the COVID-19 epidemic has exposed the fragility of the
global natural uranium supply and demand market. As affected by
the market downturn, a large number of mines in production have
been shut down due to economic reasons and entered a state of
production suspension with maintenance. Due to the impact of the
epidemic, the production capacity of mines has been reduced again,
resulting in a sharp drop in global natural uranium production in 2020,
falling to the lowest level in the past 10 years. The continued sluggish
natural uranium production is in sharp contrast with the continuous
and stable development of nuclear power, which has triggered market
concerns about sustained and stable supply in the medium and long
term. The price of uranium rose rapidly, and the spot index increased
from US$24/Ib to US$34/Ib. However, there are still few suspended
mines to resume production.

CGN Mining Company Limited Annual Report 2020
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Chief Executive Officer’s Statement

HEHTESE

Faced with the spread of the epidemic and the violently fluctuating
market, CGN Mining took the initiative and overcame difficulties to
minimize the impact of the epidemic on the Group and completed
various operation tasks well. As the chief executive officer, | would
like to thank all Shareholders for their resolute support and valuable
trust as well as the dedicated hard work of all employees. | will now
summarize the main work performance of CGN Mining in 2020 and
outline the main tasks going forward.

In 2020, the Company was mainly committed to the following works:
firstly, property managed inventory assets and reduced the impact
of the epidemic on the Company’s production and exploration
projects to ensure the Company’s off-take volume based on equity
interest will not be affected; secondly, we strived to make substantial
progress of the acquisition project in the in-situ leachable sandstone-
type uranium mines in production in Kazakhstan; thirdly, we seized
the opportunity in market fluctuations to expand the scale and profits
of the Company’s international natural uranium trade; fourthly, we
continued to strengthen the core capability construction.

Uranium Project in Production

During the Reporting Period, Semizbay Mine and Irkol Mine, owned
by Semizbay-U had completed their annual production tasks.
Affected by the COVID-19 epidemic and the production reduction
measures of Kazatomprom, Semizbay-U’s annual natural uranium
production volume was 733tU, representing a decrease of 24%
as compared with that of 2019. However, benefited from the rising
uranium prices, stringent cost control measures and the continued
depreciation of tenge, Semizbay-U’s gross profit has recorded an
increase. This has laid a solid foundation for Semizbay-U to further
release its performance after resumption of the 1,200tU production
capacity.
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Chief Executive Officer’s Statement

EEaTEER

Uranium Project in Exploration

In 2020, Fission overcame difficulties and completed two rounds of
financings, raised approximately CAD24.07 million, which secured the
financial resources for the feasibility study of the ongoing PLS project.
According to UxC’s global undeveloped project cost analysis report,
the PLS project is one of the most competitive project in cost. Fission
is now promoting the feasibility study of PLS project. After being put
into operation, the PLS project is expected to fill the lost production
capacity of decommissioned mines and meet the continuous and
steady growth of natural uranium demand from global nuclear power
owners.

Merger and Acqusition Project for New
Uranium Mines in Production

During the Reporting Period, the Company carried out supplementary
due diligence on the target uranium mine, gained an in-depth
understanding of the target company and mine. In addition, through
conducting multiple rounds of negotiations with Kazatomprom, the
Company has reached an intention in principle with Kazatomprom
on the completion of the New Kazakhstan Uranium Project before
30 June 2021 and the Company’s off-take volume based on equity
interest will grow significantly upon completion of the delivery.

Natural Uranium Trade

Stimulated by the news of the suspension of production at Cigar
Lake Mine in Canada and the announcement of production reduction
by Kazatomprom, the spot price of natural uranium rebounded
significantly during the year. CGN Global seized the market
opportunity to expand sales and delivered 10.8 million pounds of
natural uranium, representing an increase of 34% as compared with
that of 2019, and achieved sales revenue of US$313.90 million,
representing a year-on-year increase of 44%, which became a new
driving force for the Company’s performance growth during the year.

CGN Mining Company Limited Annual Report 2020
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Chief Executive Officer’s Statement

HEHTESE

Core Capability Construction

In terms of the operation and management, the Company has
introduced digitization measures during the year to enhance the
decision-making efficiency and risk prevention and control capabilities.
In addition, during the epidemic outbreak, the Company insisted on
nurturing investor relations, optimizing the communication channels
for interaction with investors, and enhancing our communication with
the market. The Company has been included in many indexes such
as Solactive and North Shore, entering the vision of global uranium
resource investors.

2021 will be a fast growing year for CGN Mining. As nuclear power
plays an increasingly key role in the global process of carbon
neutralization of energy, natural uranium will release an increasingly
broad market demand. We believe that the Company’s value will be
further revealed in the future. We will also live up to the expectations
of Shareholders and the public, constantly cultivate in the natural
uranium market and share with investors the dividends in the recovery
process of natural uranium.

Chief Executive Officer
An Junjing

Beijing, 31 March 2021
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWERMMF

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in natural uranium investment and
trading. As of 31 December 2020, the Company held 49% equity
interest and off-take rights of products in Semizbay-U, 16.74% equity
interest in Fission, as well as wholly-owned subsidiaries Beijing Sino-
Kazakh, CGN Global and CGNM UK Ltd..

In 2020, the Group achieved revenue of HK$2,862 million and profits
attributable to owners of the Company of HK$155 million.

Analysis of business environment
The nuclear power market and its development

According to data released by International Atomic Energy Agency,
there were 443 nuclear power units in operation worldwide by the end
of 2020, with a total installed capacity of 393,080MWe, and nuclear
power units in operation and under construction are scattered in 32
countries and regions. In 2020, there were five newly grid-connected
units worldwide, with a total installed capacity of 5,521MWe; four
units with a total installed capacity of 4,473MWe commenced
construction; and six closed units with a total installed capacity
of 5,1656MWe. The world’s total net installed capacity showed an
increasing trend, and the focus of global nuclear power generation
is shifting from traditional nuclear power countries to emerging
economies.

CGN Mining Company Limited Annual Report 2020
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Newly grid-connected units, units commenced construction, 2020 FE 2 ERZEMANFHOIE - AT
and closed units around the world in 2020 BEER

Newly Grid-connected Units Units commenced construction Closed Units
HHIER 4
Installed Installed Installed

Name Capactty . Capacty . Capacty

AR S
Knng

il

1. BARAKAH- 1,345 United Arab Emirates 6. AKKUYU-2 1,114 Tukey ~ 10.  DUANE APNOLD-1 601 United States
BARAKAH-1 1,345 ik AKKUYU-2 1,114 1EH DUANE APNOLD-1 601 %8
2. BELARUSIAN-1 1,110 Republic of Belarus 7. SANAO-1 1,17 China 11, FESSENHEIM-1 880 France
BELARUSIAN-1 1,110 AN =B 1117 e FESSENHEIM-1 880 b
3. FUQING-5 1,000 China 8. TAPINGLING-2 1,116 China 12 FESSENHEIM-2 880 France
855 1,000 R A¥E-2 1,116 G FESSENHEIM-2 880 i
4, LENINGRAD2-2 1,006 Russia 9. ZHANGZHOU-2 1,126 China ~ 13.  INDIAN POINT-2 998 United States
LENINGRAD2-2 1,066 ik N2 1,126 % INDIAN POINT-2 998 %68
5 TIANWAN- 1,000 China 14, LENINGGRAD-2 95 Russia
RE-5 1,000 hE LENINGGRAD-2 0 GER
15, RINGHALS-1 881 Sweden
RINGHALS-1 881 it
Note: 1. Data source: International Atomic Energy Agency 5 1. HUERR - B RERIERE
2. The “-number” in the name column represents the unit serial number 2. LB BT IRKZEEWIEE
of the nuclear power unit project. AR SRR o

The details of global nuclear power units in the short to medium term AR B A BRI T
are as follows:

. Leningrad II-2 nuclear power unit 2 in Russia was connected . RABHTT RS S || 2 Buh25R 48
to the grid for power generation in October 2020. E20205F 10 A P48 EE s -

. The first nuclear power unit in Belarus was connected to the . HEZES E 8% B E20204F 11
grid in November 2020, and the construction of its unit 2 is R4 - 25 A EFZE 8RN
scheduled to be completed in the middle of 2022. 2022F R HEATERK, °

. In November 2020, Turkey announced that the unit 3 in . TEHR2020%F11 A% E #ibiE
Akkuyu nuclear power plant had obtained construction permit. A BRI ARES T s Al
Besides, unit 1 had obtained construction permit in 2018 and & BIM SRR 2018 F ES
is expected to be put into operation in 2023. FEETA] - THETHSTE2023 5 RE o
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in December 2020, and the remaining unit 3 and unit 4 are

expected to operate for more than 20 years.

power units in operation in the US were at a competitive
disadvantage in the open power market, but the enterprises
also applied to its government to extend the life cycle of
nuclear power units in the states where the power market
was regulated. The US will continue to invest in research
and development of advanced nuclear energy technology to
maintain the leading position in nuclear energy technology.
The US Senate and the House of Representatives passed the
Nuclear Energy Leadership Act (NELA) in July and September
2020, respectively, which required the Department of Energy
to provide support for the development and construction
of new and advanced reactors, provide nuclear fuel supply,
cultivate nuclear energy talents, support the federal agencies
to sign long-term power purchase agreements, and create
the commercial environment for new reactors. Furthermore,
two nuclear power plants in the US are expected to put into

production in 2021 and 2022.

° Germany, being the most concrete country which announced
its nuclear abandoning attitude among major nuclear power
countries, still has six nuclear power units in operation and

plans to close them all by the end of 2022.

° France is still the country with the highest proportion of nuclear
power in the world, with 56 nuclear power units currently in
operation, providing approximately 70% of power supply of
the country, and with an EPR unit under construction, which
is expected to be loaded in 2022. According to its Energy
Transition Law for Green Growth, enacted in 2015, it aims to

reduce the proportion of nuclear power to 50% by 2035.

CGN Mining Company Limited Annual Report 2020
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° By the end of 2020, 9 nuclear power units in Japan have been
restarted, all of which are pressurized water reactors, and
18 nuclear power units were still under review for restarting
operation. In October 2020, the Japanese government
announced that it planned to achieve carbon neutrality by
2050. In view of 88% of its current energy supply coming from
fossil fuels and almost all of them relying on imports, coupled
with the electricity power shortage in the winter of 2020, the
Ministry of Economy, Trade and Industry of Japan believes
that the development of nuclear energy is crucial.

In China

According to data released by the China Nuclear Energy Association,
there were 49 nuclear power units in operation in China (excluding
Taiwan Region of the PRC) with a rated installed capacity of 51,027
MWe as of 31 December 2020. In 2020, the total power generation
of the country was 7,417,040 million kWh, and the total power
generation from nuclear power units was 366,243 million kWh,
accounting for 4.94% of the total power generation of the country.
Power generation by nuclear power units in 2020 represented a year-
on-year increase of 5.02% compared with 2019 and the cumulative
on-grid power generation was 342,854 million kWh, representing a
year-on-year increase of 4.89% compared with 2019.

. E2020F K - BAELHIEAZE
WAHBRL - 9 AREEKE - HE18
Az ERATERETHNE S RIE
2 2020F10A + BABINE
FTEITE2050F RIERIRPA « R
NE & RI88% R BERILER B A
R B AT REMKRSERED - 0
220204 FHIME R - H
TEBEXERRERZEEHE

= o

o B3 i

BEFBEZEITERBMOEE - B2
2020F12A31H » REEEZE#A L
498 (FFTSETEETFRAEHE) - 5
TFEEMAE A51,027MWe ° 2020F 2 F
T E H7,417,0408 BkWh » #Z B 1
1A E & 5366,243F EkWh © G2 EH
LB EM4.94% ° 2020F X B4R B 3%
BE&R2019F R EF5.02% + Zit L4
T2 /5342,854H EkWh - 82019 At
EF+4.89% o

Growth of Installed Capacity of Nuclear Power in China from 2009 to 2020
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Major events in China’s nuclear power industry during the Reporting
Period:

° On 10 August, Tianwan Unit 5 was successfully connected to
the grid for power generation.

o On 2 September, the State Council approved the Hainan
Changjiang Phase Il project and the San’ao Nuclear Power
Phase | project.

° On 4 September, the construction of Zhangzhou Unit 2 in
Fujian Province commenced.

° On 15 October, the construction of Taipingling Unit 2 in
Huizhou, Guangdong Province commenced.

° On 27 November, the world’s first nuclear reactor of “Hualong
One”-Unit 5 of Fuging nuclear power plant was connected to
the grid for the first time.

° On 28 November, the first overseas nuclear reactor of
“Hualong One”-Unit 2 of Karachi nuclear power plant in
Pakistan started loading.

° On 31 December, Unit 1 of San’ao nuclear power plant in
Zhejiang Province began pouring the first tank of concrete on
the nuclear island and officially commenced the construction.

Global natural uranium market and industry development

Due to the impact of the COVID-19 epidemic, major natural uranium
producers in the world announced to reduce or suspend production
in 2020, such as, Cameco Corp. announced to suspend the
production of Cigar Lake uranium mine in March (subsequently
resumed in September and suspended again in December due
to the intensification of the COVID-19 epidemic) and the uranium
mines of Kazatomprom implemented a three-month production
reduction; besides, the production of major uranium mines such as
Husab and Rossing uranium mines in Namibia was also affected by
different extents. The output of natural uranium was approximately
47,000tU in 2020, representing a decrease of 17% as compared
with 2019, which is the lowest point since 2008, accounting
for only 69% of the global natural uranium demand in the year.

CGN Mining Company Limited Annual Report 2020
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Affected by the suspension of production of Cigar Lake uranium
mine in March, the trading volume of natural uranium spot trading
surged between late March and April, and the single-month trading
volume in April broke the historical record. Spot prices increased
from US$24/Ib to US$26/Ib at the beginning of the year to US$34/
Ib at the end of May, which is the highest point of the year. Spot
prices declined gently to below US$30/Ib after June, but recovered to
US$30/Ib by the end of the year. According to data released by UxC,
the global spot trading volume of natural uranium was 35,503tU in
2020, representing an increase of 43% as compared with 2019, with
average trading size decreased and the trading frequency increased.
It was observed that natural uranium producers sought procurement
opportunities in the spot market after they reduced their production
capacity and the activities of natural uranium traders and financial
investors increased dramatically, while the direct procurement
demand from nuclear power plants owners remained pent-up and
delayed.

In 2020, the long-term trading volume of natural uranium was
approximately 21,560tU, representing a decrease of approximately
42% as compared with 2019. According to the data from UxC, the
long-term price fluctuated between US$31/lb to US$33/Ib in 2020,
while according to the data from TradeTech Inc., the long-term price
fluctuated between US$33/Ib to US$39/Ib in 2020.
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BUSINESS PERFORMANCE AND ANALYSIS
Uranium mines under production - production of Semizbay-U

Due to the impact of the COVID-19 epidemic, Semizbay Mine and
Irkol Mine reduced its production volume to 299tU and 434tU, both
completed its annual production plan, but the total production was
decreased by 24% as compared with 2019. However, based on the
foundation of good cooperation between the two parties for years
and active communication, the Company kept its natural uranium off-
take amount of 588tU from Semizbay-U in 2020.

During the Reporting Period, Semizbay Mine developed four new
blocks with 326 boreholes drilled and approximately 409tU developed
reserves expanded; and Irkol Mine developed five new blocks with
333 boreholes drilled and approximately 435tU developed reserves
expanded. The total exploration expenses of Semizbay Mine and Irkol
Mine were 3 billion tenge (approximately HK$55.06 million).

As at 31 December 2020, the uranium reserves of Semizbay-U were
as follows:

RERBARDI
HEE MR — B2 ALERR

XHEEBTE  WENFERREZR
200tU Rk 434tU - AKX FEEEETE -
BRESTR2019F K I24% - ERMAT %
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HEFL3261E - FIE A E L A400tU
PR EFRMSER IR - e T FLI331E -
HIZBA B 4 /5435tU o # - (7 2
L B R 42 S M B01B B X (495,506 8 7
JT) °

R2020F 12 A31H © @R AIFE A=
MEPBBEEB LT ¢

Reserves Average Grade
e T

tU

Wi e

CGN Mining Company Limited Annual Report 2020

Semizbay Mine Irkol Mine

Bk Rz
0.055% 0.0422%
10,120 15,234



Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWERMMF

Uranium mine project pending for development - operation
and project exploration by Fission

There were changes in Fission’s management in 2020. The former
chief operating officer Mr. Ross McElroy has been promoted as the
chief executive officer, new management and technical team have
been engaged and a new company development plan has been
formulated to meet the need in promoting the PLS project to the
development phase, which mainly comprises:

(1)  Putting forward the development path of Fission, promoting
the development of the PLS Project by strengthening operation
team and obtaining financial resources, and continuously
improve the image of the company.

(2)  Evaluating potential financing pathway of Fission. To implement
the new development plan, Fission conducted two rounds
of financing in 2020 with proceeds of CA$24.07 million
(approximately US$19.26 million), which secured the financial
resources for commencement of infill drilling and other works.

(8)  Formulating a new 6-year (2021 to 2026) development plan for
the PLS Project, where the total expenditure is approximately
US$56 million, including US$12.40 million for infill drilling,
US$27.20 million for feasibility studies, and US$16.30 million
for licenses and permits and social impacts. Approximately
US$41.50 million are urgently needed in 2021 and 2022 for
feasibility studies and environmental assessments.

During the Reporting Period, Fission had not carried out any
exploration activity.

7B $ 1B — Fission 2> ajA8 & R E B &
HFIER
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Natural uranium trading business

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group achieved revenue
of HK$2,859 million from natural uranium trading, increased by 38%
as compared to 2019. Trading revenue from sales of natural uranium
products from mines owned by Semizbay-U was HK$425 million,
representing an increase of 12.5% compared to 2019 (2019: HK$377
million).

During the Reporting Period, CGN Global sold a total 4,168tU and
realised trading revenue of approximately HK$2,434 million, with
realised profit of approximately HK$60 million. Although the price of
natural uranium in 2020 was still at the low point in the historical cycle
and face to face communication with customers was impracticable
due to the epidemic in 2020, CGN Global made an active effort to
grasp the opportunities and still realised significant improvement in
operating performance compared to 2019.

As of 31 December 2020, the Group held 3,142tU of natural uranium
(approximately 8.17 million pounds of U,Og), with a weighed average
cost of US$27.90 per pound of U;Og, and had 5,096tU of natural
uranium sales contracted but not delivered (approximately 13.25
million pounds of U,Og), with a weighed average selling price of
US$32.28 per pound of U,Os.

Acaquisitions of New Uranium Projects

The New Kazakhstan Uranium Project has been the primary task
of the Company in recent years. During the Reporting Period, the
Company had completed a round of supplemental due diligence
and launched multiple rounds of negotiations with its Kazakhstan
partner. The Company has reached an intention with Kazatomprom
in principle to complete the transaction by 30 June 2021.

CGN Mining Company Limited Annual Report 2020
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Maintenance of Investor Relationship

Investor relationship management met new challenges in 2020.
To enhance its communications with Shareholders and the capital
market, during the Reporting Period, the Company improved its
investor relationship management through online communication,
systematically optimised its information disclosure, market promotion
and industry research, and achieved satisfactory results.

REEMEESE

2020F HIREEBFEE IR T H AL
B o RIBERBEREEARTIZON - ]
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Relative Performance of Share Price of CGN Mining (01164.HK), HSI and the Spot Price of
Natural Uranium from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2020
FEZEEO1164 HK)ERIEE BB R AAMREBRNEEHERER
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During the Reporting Period, the Company made several attempts i
to broaden its channels of direct communication and liaison with

A ARTAERRERRNERE
BEBEHRETEBTHZEARS

H
Shareholders. The key tasks during the year 2020 were as follows: 71 2020F 2 FER TEMT ¢

Channels
RE

Annual general meeting

BRREAFKE

Annual results presentation and interim
results presentation

FERERMERTHXERGE

Investor seminars and roadshows
communication

REEMNERKEEE

Increase in natural uranium industry index
fund holdings
ARMITRIEHE SRS

Company awards
AT RIE

CGN Mining Company Limited Annual Report 2020

Key points
=5

Approved 8 ordinary resolutions on 18 June
6A18B AL ESEE BAZER

On 27 March, the annual results conference was held
via telephone under the chairmanship of BOCI
SHTREHREENEH T RAEEGARFRESE
On 26 August, with the support of Essence Securities,
the interim results conference was held through
Tencent conference and Futu live broadcast

8RR AR EEFNXFE MBBRAEENEEE
BT ARFREERME

117 seminars and roadshows
175552 KA

North Shore Global Uranium Mining ETF increased its
holdings in the Company by 41.63 million shares. The
Global X Uranium ETF re-incorporated the Company
into its constituent stocks.

North Shore Global Uranium Mining ETF##5 28 2 &%
$£41.63E &R ° Global X Uranium ETFE#T 1§ 22 7]
MAEB DI

The Company received the best “Energy and
Resources Listed Company” and “Best CEQ” awards
from Golden Hong Kong Stock.
RArIRESAREERIREER EmAa [ &E
CEOJ #2315
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Channels Key points

RE B2

Regular reports and announcements e Released 13 announcements and 2 regular reports
EHRERAE throughout the year

RFEEMIBMHAE RO ERRE
¢ Including 3 voluntary disclosure announcemnets

HER3maREREAS
PNGIE D e Company news and industry information
Company websites NEIFNRERITEE
(http://www.cgnmc.com/) e Policies and codes

R e sr Al

e Financial information and investors’ contact
B ER RIRE &S A

e Briefing information for analysts

SATEN A *
Official Company We Media channel e The official Wechat account, the corporate accounts
AFEFBRERE on Futu, Flush and Xuegiu.com, and the investor

relations WeChat applet have been created
EEFAATAMER - B8  REIERSREEER
5 ARREEBERBEDEF

Official Company e-mail e ir.cgnmc@cgnpc.com.cn
AR EHEE

Receives investor enquiries and feedback

B EEZANERRE
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BUSINESS PROSPECTS

BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT OUTLOOK
Nuclear power market forecast

Low-carbon has never been more widely recognized in the world
like it is today. On 22 September 2020, the Chinese President
Xi Jinping announced at the 75th session of the United Nations
General Assembly that “China will scale up its nationally determined
contributions and adopt more vigorous policies and measures, strive
to peak carbon dioxide emissions before 2030, and achieve carbon
neutrality before 2060”. Countries such as Japan, South Korea, and
Canada successively announced in 2020 the plan for realization of
carbon neutrality. In January 2021, the President of the US, Biden,
announced the return to the Paris Agreement. The US and European
Union jointly announced that they would achieve carbon neutrality by
2050 in March 2021. According to a research report issued by the
International Energy Agency, nuclear power accounted for 18% of the
total power generation among developed economies in 2018, which
was the largest low-carbon energy sourcre, contributed nearly half of
the low-carbon power in the past half century and was an important
contributor to the global energy transition. However, emerging
economies are expected to succeed the developed countries as the
main players in vigorously developing nuclear power in the future.

On 5 March 2021, the Chinese Premier Li Kegiang proposed in
government report: Promote clean and efficient use of coal, vigorously
develop new energy, and actively and orderly develop nuclear power
under the premise of ensuring safety. This is the first time in the
past ten years that the word “actively” was used in mentioning the
development to nuclear power in Chinese government’s work report.
According to the estimation of the China’s Annual Development and
QOutlook of Nuclear Energy (2020) published by the China Nuclear
Energy Industry Association, the future position of nuclear energy
in China’s energy structure will be clearer, and the pace of nuclear
power construction is expected to be stabilized. China’s nuclear
power construction is expected to continue steadily at a rate of 6
to 8 units per year during the “14th Five-Year” and mid- to long-
term periods and it is estimated that China’s nuclear power installed
capacity in operation will reach 70 million KW by 2025 with 30 million
kW under construction. The total installed nuclear power capacity in
operation and under construction will reach 200 million kW by 2035.
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We believe that nuclear power, with its advantages of zero carbon
emission, fearless of climate changes and its capability of being base
load, will play an increasingly important role in the worldwide carbon
neutrality movement.

Natural uranium market forecast

As the COVID-19 epidemic rebounded at the end of 2020 in Canada
and Kazakhstan, major producers of uranium in the world, certain
natural uranium mines stopped production. Moreover, the industry
has been starved of capital investment for years, and there were no
new uranium projects receiving sufficient capital for development in
the market, which means that it will be difficult for new projects to
form new production capacity rapidly even if natural uranium prices
rise in the short term. Therefore, although the global supply of natural
uranium is expected to recover in 2021 as compared with 2020, it is
unlikely to recover to the level before the outbreak of the epidemic,
and the market demand will continue to exceed production and the
inventory of natural uranium will be further consumed.

Meanwhile, both newly constructed nuclear power plants in global
emerging economies and the demand brought by the expiration and
renewal of long-term trade contracts signed historically will bring more
mid- to long-term procurement demands by nuclear power plants
owners and enhance recovery impetus to the natural uranium market
in 2021.

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT OUTLOOK
Operation Management of Semizbay-U

Faced with the situation that Semizbay-U was forced to reduce
production under the impact of the COVID-19 epidemic, the
Company will actively participate in its governance through its board
of directors in 2021 to ensure the completion of its annual production
plan and product sales tasks so as to achieve annual profit targets.
The field team will strengthen the supervision of the implementation
on the annual production, operation plan and the annual budget to
ensure that the enterprise’s business objectives are achieved under
the premise of safe production. Moreover, in 2021, Semizbay-U
will continue to promote innovation in mineral production and new
technology, optimize the construction of digitalized mines and
improve the standard of automated management. Meanwhile, in
order to promote the sustainable development of Semizbay-U, the
Company will continue to promote the enhancement of its resources/
reserves in 2021.
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Management and Control on Fission

In respect of Fission, the Company mainly relies on participation in
its board of directors to involve in its major decision-making and
exert influence, while continuously deepen the technical support
for the PLS project and enhancing regular technical exchange. In
2021, the Company will support Fission in completing the winter
and summer exploration programs as scheduled and finishing the
upgrade of part of the R780E and R840W areas of the PLS project
from inferred level to indicated level so as to extend the designed life
of mines. The Company also plans to hire a local technical personnel
to participate in the field work of Fission in Canada to increase
technical management for the PLS project and enhance collaboration
efficiency.

Active Expansion of Trading Business

The Group will strengthen its business dealings with end customers,
such as global nuclear power plants owners, actively participate in
international market bidding, deepen its analysis of market conditions
and counterparties’ behaviors, seize market opportunities, develop
new business models and actively explore new trading opportunities
to ensure the achievement of annual trade targets.

Acaquisition of New Uranium Resources Projects

The Company is optimistic about the continuous growing trend
of natural uranium demand brought by the long-term stable
development of global nuclear power. Given the current price of
natural uranium is still at the low point in the historical cycle, the
Company will seize this historical opportunity and take the investment
and acquisition of high-quality uranium resources as its lifeline of
development. In 2021, the Company will strive to implement the
relevant completion work on New Kazakhstan Uranium Project in
the first half of the year on the one hand, and will seek for potential
uranium resource investment opportunities in major uranium-
producing regions such as Central Asia and Africa on the other hand,
and start to build a sustainable development resources pipeline of
“exploration+in-production”. Furthermore, the Company will seek for
establishing strategic cooperative relationships with internationally
renowned uranium producers and traders to study the feasibility of
joint development of uranium projects in various modes.
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RISK IDENTIFICATION AND MANAGEMENT

The comprehensive risk management system of the Company
functioned effectively in 2020 with all risks under monitor and no
significant risk incident happened. The major work completed
including:

a. Implementing of dynamic risk management mechanism.
The middle and senior management of the Company were
requested to rate the annual risk list to identify major risks
scientifically. The major risks were tracked, monitored and
were reported to the management and the Board regularly,
utilising the dynamic monitoring of major risks. The risk list
has been timely identified and updated based on business
progress so as to determine the trend of risk as well as update
and implement corresponding response measures.

b. Establishing risk management information system. The risk
management efficiency has been improved by utilising the
informatization and visualization of risk management tracking.

G Managing major specific risks of the Company well and to
optimise the risk management of subsidiaries and companies
with shareholding interests. To deal with the major risks which
may bring material impacts to the Company such as changes
in the international political environment and the spread of
epidemic, the Company has established a specific research
mechanism and implemented weekly tracking, realizing
dynamic risk monitoring.

Upon systematic analysis, the Company is subject to the following
two main risks in 2021
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International natural uranium trade risks

Affected by the COVID-19 epidemic, CGN Global still faces
challenges in securing contracts with nuclear power plants owners
for the sale of natural uranium and in identifying trade opportunities.
To reduce the risk of natural uranium trade, the Company will sort out
and optimize the authorization mechanism for exposure (i.e. purchase
of natural uranium without the sales customers secured). Leveraging
on the market opportunities, the Company will actively expand trade
business in Europe and other regions, explore new business models
such as the trade of UF6 (intermediate product in the production
of nuclear fuel), and strive to achieve the annual target of the trade
business. We will also vigorously develop the global natural uranium
market, increase the proportion of sales to overseas customers, and
try to win the bid of more sales to international nuclear power plants
owners.

Production and operation risk of Semizbay-U

As the COVID-19 epidemic in Kazakhstan has not been effectively
controlled and is not expected to end in the short term, Semizbay-U
will face challenges in achieving its annual production and profit
targets. To this end, the Company will assist Kazatomprom to carry
out the epidemic prevention and production works on the mining
site, continuously conduct nucleic acid test by all the staff before
work, strictly prevent cluster infection, and strive to ensure that the
mine production and operation will not be affected in the year. We
will monitor the production progress of the two mines on a daily basis
to ensure the timely completion of development tasks and ensure
the progress of acidification and pipeline connection; and increase
the number of drilling rigs as appropriate to improve the production
efficiency of the two mines.
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE AND ANALYSIS

Financial performance reflects the operation performance of the
Group throughout the year. By paying attention to changes in

BBRBER DT

MBRNERMRAEE2FELER - B
BEOTMGERES - K2 HEEAS

financial indicators, business development of the Group can be B EEAMMN -

comprehensively understood.

OVERVIEW OF FINANCIAL RESULTS AND POSITION IS EBERRTEE

Major Financial Indicators FEHHBIEE

2020 2019
20204 20194
Profitability indicators BFIgENIEE
Gross profit margin (%)’ FEFZE (%) 7.08 6.93
EBITDA (HK$ million)? EBITDA(E&#HIT)2 222.78 199.14
EBITDA/Revenue ratio (%)° EBITDA /& ¥ 5810 5 (%)° 7.78 9.59
Net profit margin (%)* F g 1 2 (%) 5.42 7.71
Operation ability indicators EIERE HIEE
Trade receivables cycle — average FEUBR SR B — 15 (K)°
(Days)® 30 17
Inventory cycle — average (Days)® GFEHEA—- ¥R 218 200
Investment return indicators REERIER
Return on equity (%) e 2w B HR K (%) 7.82 8.40
Profit attributable to owners of the ~ ZXA R A B 5 A2
Company to revenue ratio (%)? & ERE L (%)? 5.42 7.71
Return on assets (%)° & 7= O] R 2 (%)° 4.26 5.55
Repayment ability indicators BERENIEE
Bank balances and cash (HK$ million) $R17#51F M4 (BEBT) 1,174.51 676.79
Net tangible assets (HK$ million)™© BEREEFEESEET) 2,025.08 1,940.41
Gearing ratio (%)" BB fEE R (%) 106.59 59.21

Notes: Kt -

1. Difference between revenue and cost of sales divided by revenue multiplied by 1. EHERHEEENA 2 ZR A R E N
100%. 100% ©

2. The sum of profit before tax, finance costs, depreciation of right-of-use assets 2. BREADES - MEKAE - FABREENER
and depreciation of property, plant and equipment, if any. M - BB REEAEITE (nF) 2 A .

3. The sum of profit before tax, finance costs, depreciation of right-of use assets 3. BREADES « MEKAE - FABEENER
and depreciation of property, plant and equipment, if any, divided by revenue M - BEREREITE () 2 MR %
multiplied by 100%. FEFEIELA100% °

4. Profit for the year divided by revenue multiplied by 100%. 4. N R FIIRR DA SRR A IR LA100% ©

5. Average receivables (i.e the arithmetic average of the beginning and the end of 5. el ARk (RIS B9 R B fir 15 1E)

the Reporting Period) divided by average daily sales (i.e revenue divided by 360

days).

BRUASFES B S5 58 (BN & S8R ABB0K) ©
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6. Average inventories (i.e the arithmetic average of the beginning and the end of 6. FHFE (ARSI RE M FI9E) BRIA
the Reporting Period) divided by average daily costs of sales (i.e costs of sales 5 A SHEMK AR (BIEHE AR LAS60K) °
divided by 360 days).

7. Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company divided by total 7. RNQREA A EAF AR FIBR A 19 i
average equity (i.e the arithmetic average of the beginning and the end of the @ (AREMYEREMTHE) BRA
Reporting Period) multiplied by 100%. 100% °

8. Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company divided by the revenue 8. RABIEEABIEFENENRIAL EBHE
multiplied by 100%. LA100% ©

9. Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company divided by total 9. RABEB ABMRFERNERRATEHHEE
average assets (i.e the arithmetic average of the beginning and the end of the egn (B E By BAREM FHE) BRA
Reporting Period) multiplied by 100%. 100% -

10. Total equity less intangible assets, net. 10. BRBEREEREERFE -

11. Total debt divided by total equity multiplied by 100%. 11. BTG AR RARR A 2 ARE B R LA100% ©

. - R ==

Financial results MBS

The profit of the Group was HK$155 million in 2020, representing a REE2020F E R FA155BEAT * B
year-on-year decrease of 3% as compared to that of HK$160 million 20195 1608 B TR L T F£3% °

in 2019.
REVENUE R
For the year ended Percentage
31 December Movements Change
BZ12A31HILEEE By SBEIL
Increase/ Increase/
2020 2019 Decrease Decrease
20204 20194 y ',/ ®m
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 %
FHR AR FHT
Natural uranium trading KAHE 5 2,859,214 2,073,449 785,765 38
Property investment ML E 3,012 3,239 (227) )
Total revenue FobE 2,862,226 2,076,688 785,538 38

The revenue of the Group was HK$2,862 million in 2020, representing REE2020F & 550 42,8628 BT -
an increase of 38% as compared to that of HK$2,077 million in B2019F 2,077 B BB TiEN38% » &+
2019, primarily because CGN Global aggressively expanded the ZRAEARTEZBEREE R RN RAE
global market and achieved a significant increase in sales volume BRTis - RAHHE = MHE W AE2019
and trading revenue of natural uranium as compared with the FRBABARER

corresponding period in 2019.
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Cost of sales

SHERA

For the year ended Percentage
31 December Movements Change
HZ12A31BLEE 28 LS3EIH
Increase/ Increase/
2020 2019 Decrease Decrease
20204 20195 #m/WH  #iEL
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 %
FTHET FHT THET
Natural uranium trading cost ~ KASE 5k A 2,659,460 1,932,783 726,677 38
Property investment MERE - = = =
Total cost of sales HERAET 2,659,460 1,932,783 726,677 38

The cost of sales of the Group was HK$2,659 million in 2020,
representing an increase of 38% as compared to that of HK$1,933
million in 2019, which is in line with the increase percentage of
revenue primarily due to CGN Global aggressively expanded the
global market.

Gross profit and gross profit margin of natural uranium trading

Due to impact from the increase on the sales volume of CGN
Global, the Group recorded a gross profit of natural uranium trading
of HK$200 million in 2020, representing an increase of 42% as
compared to that of HK$141 million in 2019, and the gross profit
margin of natural uranium trading remained stable at 7%.

Other operating income

The other operating income of the Group was HK$9 million in 2020,
representing a decrease of 54% as compared to that of HK$20 million
in 2019, mainly due to the significant decrease in the amount of daily
average fund deposited through optimising the internal utilisation
of financial resources of the Company by lending to its subsidiary,
CGN Global, and together with the decrease of market interest rate,
resulting in the significant decrease in interest income.

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses of the Group was HK$10 million in
2020, representing an increase of 38% as compared to that of HK$8
million in 2019, mainly due to the increase of storage expenses of
natural uranium inventories.
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JC 20199 1,933 F & B L m
38% ' HEXBRRBEMEL 2R
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Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses of the Group was HK$38 million in 2020,
representing an increase of 1% as compared to that of HK$37 million
in 2019. Although the Group expanded its business actively during
the Reporting Period, benefited from the overall strengthened cost
management, administrative expenses only increased slightly.

Share of results of a joint venture

The joint venture of the Company is Semizbay-U. The share of results
of a joint venture was HK$71 million in 2020, representing an increase
of 9% as compared to that of HK$65 million in 2019, mainly due to
the increase of selling price of natural uranium during the Reporting
Period.

Share of results of an associate

The associate of the Company is Fission. The share of loss of an
associate was HK$15 million, which includes share of loss for the
Reporting Period of HK$10 million, loss on deemed disposal of
HK$64 million and the reversal of long-term investment impairment of
HK$59 million.

During the Reporting Period, Fission issued 79,163,474 ordinary
shares under subscription of new shares by investors, 1,684,231
ordinary shares in lieu of payment of interest, 10,000,000 ordinary
shares upon exercise of warrants and 243,852 ordinary shares as
director remuneration. As a result, the equity interests in Fission held
by the Company as at 31 December 2020 decreased to 16.74% (31
December 2019: 19.88%).

Finance costs

The finance costs of the Group was HK$41 million in 2020,
representing an increase of 100% as compared to that of HK$20
million in 2019, mainly due to the addition of external borrowings by
CGN Global for business expansion.

Income tax expenses

Income tax expense of the Group was HK$25 million in 2020,
representing an increase of 53% as compared to that of HK$16
million in 2019, mainly due to the increase in gross profit of natural
uranium trade.
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Profit for the year

The profit of the Group was HK$155 million in 2020, representing a
slight decrease of 3% as compared to that of HK$160 million in 2019.

FINANCIAL POSITION AND ANALYSIS

Total assets

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s total assets were HK$4,188
million, representing an increase of 35% as compared to HK$3,095
million as at 31 December 2019, mainly due to the significant increase
in natural uranium inventories, trade receivables and bank balances
and cash as compared with the corresponding period in 2019.

Total liabilities

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s total liabilities were HK$2,161
million, representing an increase of 88% as compared to HK$1,151
million on 31 December 2019, mainly due to the external bank loan
newly drawdown by CGN Global for business expansion during the
Reporting Period.

Net current assets

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s net current assets were
HK$2,100 million, representing an increase of 19% as compared
to HK$1,766 million as at 31 December 2019, mainly due to the
significant increase in natural uranium inventories, trade receivables
and bank balances and cash as compared with the corresponding
period in 2019.

FREER
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Percentage
As at 31 December Movements Change
M2H31H 28 SBAS/L
Increase/ Increase/
2020 2019  (Decrease) (Decrease)
20204 20194 #m(R4) i/ (B)
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 %
FTHEx FHT THET
Inventories FE 1,767,335 1,441,980 325,355 23
Trade and other receivables  FEUUBR K I E At FEUGRIE 363,176 126,706 236,470 186
Amount due from an JE U —FEl AR X R 3RIE
intermediate holding
company 2,323 3,875 (1,552) (40)
Amount due from a fellow e — R ZHT B A BFIE
subsidiary 19 - 19 N/ATEA
Income tax recoverable AT @ AT S AR 6,678 1,737 4,941 284
Bank balances and cash RITEELRRE 1,174,508 676,793 497,715 74
Total current assets RBEERE 3,314,039 2,251,091 1,062,948 47

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s total current assets were
HK$3,314 million, representing an increase of 47% as compared
to HK$2,251 million as at 31 December 2019, mainly due to the
significant increase in natural uranium inventories, trade receivables
and bank balances and cash as compared with the corresponding
period in 2019.

As at 31 December 2020, the aggregate amount of bank balances
and cash of the Group was HK$1,175 million (31 December 2019:
HK$677 million), among which, approximately 9% (31 December
2019: 32%) was denominated in HKD, approximately 90% (31
December 2019: 67%) was denominated in USD, approximately 1%
(31 December 2019: 1%)was denominated in RMB.

CGN Mining Company Limited Annual Report 2020

R2020F 12 A31H - REBRSEER
BE/R3,31488E7T + 820195F12H31H
KI2,251 B BAETTIERAT% - TE2FRAR
RAIFE - BUERFMRITEFTRIES
B2019FRIEAAIRIER -

R2020F 128318 * AEBHEARRTT
EARRIRS HE1 175A BT (20194
128818 :67788%7L) + EFH9%
(2019512 HA31H : 32%) A8 4
90% (20194F12 H31H : 67%) A3ETL
#91% (201912 A31H : 1%) BAR
% o



Management Discussion and Analysis
TEEHWERSAN .

As at 31 December 2020, the Group did not have any bank deposits R2020F 12 A31H » REBRA TR
and cash pledged to any banks (31 December 2019: Nil). The THEFRRSERGEIRIT (201956124
proportion of current assets of the Group over total assets was 79% 318 &\) - REERDEELBEEN
(31 December 2019: 73%), and the proportion of LB 579% (201912 8318 : 73%) -
bank balances and cash over total assets was 28% MITEFELRBEEBEENL I A28%

(31 December 2019: 22%) . (201912 A31H : 22%) °
Non-current assets ERBEE
Percentage
As at 31 December Movements Change
M12H31H By S
Increase/ Increase/
2020 2019  (Decrease) (Decrease)
20204 20194F #8140,/ (R4) i,/ (BD)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 %
FET FAT FET
Property, plant and equipment 1% - BiE &% 622 160 462 289
Right-of-use assets EREEE 1,977 3,836 (1,859) (48)
Investment properties KEYE 52,623 48,595 4,028 8
Interest in a joint venture R—FEEEhE R 264,956 237,775 27,181 11
Interest in an associate i 1L YN P e 553,570 553,522 48 =
Rental deposits HERS - 387 (387) (100)
Total non-current assets FRBEELE 873,748 844,275 29,473 3

As at 31 December 2020, the total non-current assets of the Group R2020F12A381H + AEBEERBEE
were HK$874 million, representing an increase of 3% as compared to RERS7TAEERIT - 2019128311
HK$844 million as at 31 December 2019, mainly due to the increase HI844B BATTIEMN3% - TEREZN—
in interest in a joint venture. MaEbEIERNER -
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Current liabilities

RBREE

Percentage
As at 31 December Movements Change
MW12A31H By SBEIL
Increase/ Increase/
2020 2019  (Decrease) (Decrease)
20205 2019%F #i0/(R4) i/ (hd)
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 %
TER FHET THERT
Trade and other payables FERTBRSR R MR 3R 158,289 36,382 121,907 335
Loans from a fellow subsidiary R 8 —FERZHB AR 2 ER 370,693 422,559 (51,866) (12)
Bank borrowings RITERK 666,704 666,704  N/ATEH
Lease liabilities HEBE 704 1,703 (999) (59)
Amount due to an intermediate  J& st — i fEER A B FUA
holding company 874 8,373 (7,499) (90)
Amount due to a joint venture  JEff—F& A**ﬁ% - 5,513 (5,513) (100)
Amounts due to fellow EANIEES I
subsidiaries 1,135 1,421 (286) (20)
Income tax payable &R TS BR 15,848 9,555 6,293 66
Total current liabilities REAEAE 1,214,247 485,506 728,741 150

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s total current liabilities were
HK$1,214 million, representing an increase of 150% as compared to
HK$486 million as at 31 December 2019, mainly due to the external
bank loan drawdown by CGN Global for business expansion during
the Reporting Period.
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Non-current liabilities

FRBEE

Percentage

As at 31 December Movements Change

MW12A31H By SBEIL

Increase/ Increase/

2020 2019 Decrease Decrease

20204 20196  #m/ RS #EhED

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 %

TER TAT THERT

Deferred tax liabilities EREFIRAE 23,968 19,104 4,864 25
Loans from a fellow subsidiary KB —ERZHBA B2 ER 533,596 644,494 (110,898) (17
Bank borrowings RITER 387,754 = 387,754  N/ATEA
Lease liabilities HEGE 1,162 2,021 (859) (43)
Total non-current liabilities FREBEBEE 946,480 665,619 280,861 42

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s total non-current liabilities
were HK$946 million, representing an increase of 42% as compared
to HK$666 million as at 31 December 2019, mainly due to the
external bank loan drawdown by CGN Global for business expansion
during the Reporting Period.

M20205F12H318 » NEBEFERBAEE
BERIM6EEBTT - B2019612H31H
H1666H & BT IN42%  EBREARF
BZBEHEE AR AREEBRREHA
WERTTHRER T $TRIINIBIE K

Total equity R

Percentage
As at 31 December Movements Change
MW12H31H 2y SBEIL
Increase/ Increase/
2020 2019 Decrease Decrease
20204 2019F  #m/ RS #hSED
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 %

T#ExT FAL FTET
Share capital & 66,007 66,007 - -
Reserves it 1,961,053 1,878,234 82,819 4
Total equity EmEE 2,027,060 1,944,241 82,819 4
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As at 31 December 2020, total equity of the Group amounted to
HK$2,027 million, representing an increase of 4% as compared
to HK$1,944 million as at 31 December 2019, mainly due to the
increase of profit during the Reporting Period.

The Group’s gearing ratio (total debt divided by total equity multiplied
by 100%) was 107% (2019: 59%).

Assets and investments

The Group did not conduct any significant equity investment, major
acquisition or disposal during the Reporting Period.

Investment direction

According to the business positioning and development strategy of
the Group, the main investment direction of the Group remains to be
acquiring competitive overseas uranium resource projects with low
cost. The Group will carry out relevant investment activities as and
when appropriate, to laid the foundation of further development of the
Group.

Financial capital

Capital structure

As at 31 December 2020, the Company had a total of 6,600,682,645
ordinary shares in issue (31 December 2019: 6,600,682,645 ordinary
shares) ordinary shares, and the market capitalization of the Company
was approximately HK$2,376 million (31 December 2019: HK$2,013
million).

Liquidity risk and financial resources

The Company adheres to prudent capital and treasury policy and
goals. During the Reporting Period, the Company’s operating fund
was mainly from the cash generated from operating activities and
external borrowings. The capital requirements of the Company mainly
come from the possible acquisition expenses of acquiring natural
uranium resources and funds for operation.
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The Group has sufficient financial resources for daily operation and
business and does not have seasonal borrowing demands. If any
suitable acquisition opportunity arises in the future, the Group will
raise funds from diverse financing channels.

The Company’s financing capacity is affected by multiple external
and internal factors. To obtain financing on more favourable terms,
the Company must understand the external financing environment
and adopt a reasonable financing model and strategies based on its
structure of assets and liabilities.

The Company pays close attention to financial market trends, actively
considers its responses to internal and external financial risks,
formulates reasonable models and strategies to ensure the safety
and economic efficiency of financing, and takes strict management
measures for debt risks to prevent exposure to related risks and to
facilitate the financial health and development of the core business.

Financing model

Given the complex and ever-changing financial market, the Company
has been exploring diverse financing methods and strives to establish
a financing model with combination of short-, medium-and long-term
capital, merged direct and indirect financing and multiple financing
channels to ensure the protection of a stable fund. In the process
of debt financing, the Company has taken a balanced approach to
between cost and safety. The Company is committed to the pursuit
of a competitive financing cost rather than the lowest one to ensure
the security of financing and the quality of service received.

For projects with large capital expenditures and sound expected
returns, the Company will prudently consider using equity financing to
balance risks and enhance Shareholder value.

AEBE TS AR A REEET
P - BRAFEEMERES  BAR
BRBNGHRE - AEBBHAS T
MBAREERES -

ARBRERE NBURR SN EPM A B Z & A
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EWSE UL
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EIEHE DI #R R)H R A ERRRER - DA
ERRMBRERZODEBER
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EEMZENEBMHERET AR —
BERRZTTCBESN - BHEYE -
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BMEMGES  ZRRBIBHBEERN -
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BIZH - ARARIRKRBRERAME 25
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B - AN A SR B E AR AN A —
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s development comes with various financial risks, such as
debt risks and exchange rate risks.

Risk management of debt

As at 31 December 2020, the bank borrowings (drawdown during the
year 2020) were US$136 million, denominated in USD with floating
interest rate and were unsecured and interest bearing ranging from
0.78% to 1.47% per annum. Borrowings from a fellow subsidiary
of the Company (drawdown during the year 2018 and 2019) were
US$117 million, denominated in USD with fixed interest rate and
were unsecured and interest bearing ranging from 3.2% to 4.6% per
annum.

To manage liquidity risk, the Company closely monitors the cash,
cash equivalents and unutilised credit to ensure sufficient liquidity
for operation and to reduce the effects of cash flow volatility. The
Company’s management also keeps an eye on external borrowing to
ensure a sufficiency of available borrowing credit. As at 31 December
2020, the Group has undrawn borrowing credit of US$857 million,
which can be utilised to provide sufficient cash for the Group’s
operation and to reduce the impact of cash flow volatility.

Exchange rate risk

The Company’s functional currency is US$. During the Reporting
Period, the Group’s sale and purchase of products were mainly
settled in US$ and RMB (2019: US$ and RMB), while its cash was
mainly denominated in US$ and HK$ (2019: US$ and HK$). Daily
expenses including administrative expenses, sales and distribution
expenses, were mainly settled in US$, HK$ and RMB (2019: US$,
HK$ and RMB). The Group was not subject to any material exchange
rate risk during the Reporting Period.

For exchange rate risk management, the Company aims to control
cost rather than profitability. In 2020, the Group had no forward
foreign exchange contracts, interests or currency swaps or other
financial derivatives for hedging purposes, and experienced no
significant difficulty or impact on its operation or liquidity due to
exchange rate fluctuation.
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CONTINGENCY EVENTS
External guarantees

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have any external
guarantee (2019: Nil). The guarantee provided by the Company to
CGN Global was US$180 million (2019: Nil) and US$136 million
(2019: Nil) was utilised. The Company did not allow subsidiaries to
provide any form of guarantee to any entities or individuals without
the approval of the Company.

Pledge of assets

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not pledge any of its assets
(2019: Nil).

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2020, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities (31 December 2019: Nil).

Legal proceedings

The Company confirms that there was no significant litigation, and
that it was nor aware of any pending or threatened litigation against it,
which had or could have a material and adverse effect on its financial
condition or operation during the Reporting Period.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Details of changes in accounting policies as required under the
applicable accounting standard are explained in note 2 and 4 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

HRER
HIER

WEHN - AEBEWELIMER (20195
E &) - RRAIEHPEZBERHEEAFR
HIEREA1808EEIL (20194 « &) -
HA136A &% (2019%F : #)BIRA -
RART R MBI AREA R RIBLE
RIR T - BRI EL K EAREE R
HEELR o

BEBRA
HBERR - AERELEEEEM (20195
€ ;) -
HAEE

R2020F12H31H » AEEITEE KK
RBEQOI9FEI12A31H - M) o

SERER

ARAERNBEHA - BHREANER
SRS - B0 R AR K R B Y
SFEAT AR S AT BE B I AR A R B S 34T
BERERTNZTE -

BETERAE

REBERN S ERZ KA RO ST BR
BN A MR M T2 R4 o

PEZEXARAR —T-_ZFFH 43 1



44

Corporate Governance Report
TEERRE

The Company is committed to establishing and fulfilling a good
corporate governance practice and procedures, for ensuring a quality
Board, sound internal control, and transparency and accountability to
all Shareholders in order to enhance credibility and reputation of the
Company. We firmly believe that good corporate governance practice
can earn the trust of Shareholders as well as other stakeholders,
and most importantly, preserve the long-term interests of the
Shareholders.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS

Chairman and Non-executive Director

Mr. Yu Zhiping (“Mr. Yu”), aged 57, joined the Group in August
2011 and is currently the chairman of the Board and serving as the
chairman of CGNPC-URC. Mr. Yu joined Guangdong Nuclear Joint
Venture in 1989 and served as the deputy director(presiding) of the
generation scheduling division of the production department since
1998. He subsequently joined CGNPC and served as the planned
statistics manager of the development planning department, the
secretary general of the financial and economic affairs committee,
the director of the research centre and the general manager of the
strategic planning department from November 2000 to September
2009. Mr. Yu served as the managing director of CGNPC-URC from
September 2009 to January 2018 and as the general manager of the
nuclear fuel division of CGNPC from February 2017 to January 2018.
Mr. Yu graduated with a Bachelor’s degree in engineering mechanics
from Huazhong University of Science and Technology in 1985 and
was accredited as a senior engineer by CGNPC in 1995. He has over
30 years of experience in corporate management and nuclear fuel
system operation.
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Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. An Junjing (“Mr. An”), aged 47, joined the Group in January
2018 and is currently an ED and the chief executive officer of the
Company and serving as the managing director of the CGNPC-URC
and the chairman of Swakop. Mr. An joined Guangdong Nuclear
Joint Venture in July 1996 and successively served as the head of
the general training division and assistant to director of the training
centre of Daya Bay Nuclear Operation Management Co., Ltd.* (K3p
EIZEEEERAREMAR) and the deputy general manager of
Fangchenggang branch from March 2003 to December 2011. Mr. An
served as the manager of production department and subsequently
as the assistant to general manager of Guangxi Fangchenggang
Nuclear Power Co., Ltd.* (B7FHikBZE B PR A 7)) from December
2011 to May 2014. Mr. An served as the deputy director of the office
of the board and director of the research office of CGNPC from May
2014 to February 2016. He served as the deputy general manager
of the(presiding) system management department of CGNPC from
February 2016 to January 2018. Mr. An graduated with a Bachelor’s
degree in engineering in nuclear and thermal energy utilization from
Tsinghua University in July 1996 and subsequently obtained a
Master’s degree in engineering in nuclear and nuclear engineering
from Shanghai Jiao Tong University in June 2009. Mr. An was
accredited as a senior engineer by CGNPC in 2009.
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Executive Director

Mr. Chen Deshao (“Mr. Chen”), aged 46, is currently an ED and
the chief financial officer of the Company and serving as the chief
accountant of CGNPC-URC. Mr. Chen also serves as a director
of certain subsidiaries of CGNPC-URC, including China Uranium
Development, Swakop Uranium, etc. Mr. Chen served as the deputy
manager of the finance department of the materials trading centre
of Anhui Materials Corporation* (Z#(#) & & & /A ]) from July 1996
to December 2001. He subsequently joined Guangdong Daya Bay
Nuclear Power Services Group Co., Ltd.* (B A5 /&% B ARG EE
BFRAF) in December 2001. Mr. Chen successively held positions
of head of finance department, manager of budget management,
deputy director of budget department and director of budget
department of CGNPC from May 2007 to July 2013. He served as
an assistant manager of the finance department of China Nuclear
Power Engineering Co., Ltd.* (FEZTIEBR A7) from July 2013
to June 2014 and the manager of the finance department of CGNPC-
URC from June 2014 to January 2018. Mr. Chen graduated with a
Bachelor of economics degree in accounting from Anhui Finance* (%
BB EEP7) and Trade College in June 1996 and a Master’s degree
in accounting from Xiamen University in 2012. Mr. Chen obtained
the senior accountant title of the PRC in 2008 and was accredited
as a non-practicing member of China Institute of Certified Public
Accountants in 2009. He has over 24 years of financial management
experience.

Non-executive Director

Mr. Sun Xu (“Mr. Sun”), aged 55, joined the Group in November
2018 and is currently a NED of the Company and serving as the
director of CGNPC-URC, CGN Energy International Holdings Co.,
Limited (*/1 Bl Bz g IR BIBR 1= IR B IR 2 7]) and CGN Intellectual
Technology (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd (*FR EZ & AERI# CRII) AR A
7)), respectively. Mr. Sun joined Guangdong Nuclear Power Joint
Venture in June 1990 and served in management positions at
various group members of CGN Group. Since January 2011, Mr.
Sun served as a full-time director of CGN Group and has been a full-
time director and a member of various professional committees to
various group companies in nuclear power, nuclear fuel, new energy
and other industries. Mr. Sun graduated from the Asia International
Open University (Macau) (T2 CEFT) Bl 2 F A Z(AI0U))in April
2001 with a Master’s degree in business administration. Mr. Sun was
accredited as a senior economist by CGNPC in September 2014.
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Non-executive Director

Mr. Yin Xiong (“Mr. Yin”), aged 55, is currently a NED director of the
Company and the director of CGNPC-UPC, and has been serving
as a full-time director of CGN Group since April 2018. Mr. Yin joined
CGN Group in September 2011, prior to which he held various
management positions in China National Nuclear Corporation(#
1% T34 /2 7)) and government bureaux in Sanya, Hainan Province
in the PRC. After joining CGN Group, he successively served as the
responsible person of some important departments and/or senior
management of CGNPC, Daya Bay Nuclear Power Operation and
Management Co., Ltd.(BRAGEE%ZE RS (£E) AR A7) and
Yangjiang Nuclear Power Co., Ltd.(F/T#% & A R /A 7). From January
2016 to April 2017, Mr. Yin served as an executive director and
general manager of Shenzhen Nengzhihui Power Sales Co., Ltd.(%
JITae 2 [EE NI E B R A7), Which is an electricity sales company
of CGN Group. Mr. Yin received a Bachelor’s degree of science in
nuclear physics and nuclear technology from Lanzhou University in
July 1986 and a Master’s degree of science in July 1988. In May
2008, Mr. Yin received his Ph.D. degree of management in business
administration from Grenoble School of Business in France. Mr. Yin
was accredited as a researcher-level senior engineer by CGNPC in
December 2010.

Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. Qiu Xianhong (“Mr. Qiu”), aged 58, is currently an INED of the
Company on August 2011. Mr. Qiu possess the qualification as a
Certified Public Accountant in the PRC and a senior accountant
of the PRC. Mr. Qiu also served as an executive director of Beijing
Furun Tianming Financial Consultant Co., Ltd* (3t =B XA 15
EERABR 2 7). Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Qiu was a partner
of Beijing QQCPA Accounting Firm, the deputy head of the financial
department and assets management department of China Packaging
Corporation* (F BB 2422 7)), the finance controller and the vice
secretary general to China Institute of Strategy and Management,
independent non-executive director of Qinhuangdao Tolilan Heavy
Industry Co., Ltd., and the deputy director of finance department of
preceding National Patent Bureau* (BIZX 2.5///). Mr. Qiu graduated
with a Bachelor’'s degree in financial accounting from Jiangxi
University of Finance and Economics.
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Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. Gao Pei Ji (“Mr. Gao”), aged 74, joined the Group in August
2014 and is currently an INED of the Company. Mr. Gao also serves as
an independent non-executive director of CITIC Resources Holdings
Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
with stock code 01205). Mr. Gao was a deputy director of C & C Law
Office in Beijing, a leading law firm in China, between 1984 and 1993.
Mr. Gao became a partner of Clifford Chance, a leading international
law firm, between 1993 and 2007. Following his retirement in
2007, he became a PRC legal consultant to Clifford Chance, Hong
Kong office. Mr. Gao has extensive and diversified experience in a
broad area of legal practices, including banking and finance, direct
investment (both inbound and outbound from the perspective of the
PRC) in the areas of energy, natural resource and petrochemical
projects. Mr. Gao has been involved in the development of nuclear
power projects since 1985, including the development of Daya Bay
nuclear power project, the incorporation of the operating company
for Daya Bay and Lingao nuclear power plants and the development
of the Taishan nuclear power project (applying third generation
technology). Mr. Gao holds a LLM degree from the Law School of
University of California, Berkeley. He has been admitted to practice
law in the PRC since 1984.

Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. Lee Kwok Tung Louis (“Mr. Lee”), aged 53, joined the Group as
an INED in August 2014. Mr. Lee was admitted as a Certified Practising
Accountant of the CPA Australia in June 1996 and a Certified Public
Accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) in October 1999. Mr. Lee is currently a Fellow Certified
Practising Accountant of the CPA Australia and a Fellow Certified
Public Accountant of HKICPA. Mr. Lee has accumulated and
possessed extensive experience with unlisted groups, listed groups
and professional firms in finance, accounting and auditing since 1993.
Mr. Lee is currently an independent non-executive director of Windmill
Group Limited (listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange with
stock code 01850), Redsun Properties Group Limited (listed on the
main board of the Stock Exchange with stock code 01996), Fusen
Pharmaceutical Company Limited (listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange with stock code 01652), TUS International Limited
(listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange with stock code
00872), ZonBong Landscape Envirnomental Limited (listed on the
main board of the Stock Exchange with stock code 01855). Mr. Lee
graduated with a Bachelor’s of Economics degree from Macquarie
University in Australia in 1992.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. He Fei (“Mr. He”), aged 43, is currently the vice president of
the Company and serving as the vice general manager of CGNPC-
URC and the director of Swakop, Energy Metal Ltd, China Uranium
Development, CGN Global, CGNM UK LTD etc. Prior to joining the
Company, Mr. He held a position in the department of international
cooperation of the State Commission of Science, Technology and
Industry for National Defence, and was then appointed to the French
Atomic Energy Commission; and served successively as the secretary
of the general manager department of the general office, secretary
to the chairman of the board, senior manager for business of Beijing
business unit and director of the business liaison office of the general
office of CGNPC.Mr. He graduated from the International Relations
College* (BFR B1Z ) with a Bachelor’s degree of arts in English in
2000 and obtained a Master’s of law degree in civil and commercial
law from Renmin University of China* (B A R A3 in 2009. Mr. He
has worked in the nuclear power industry for an extensive period and
developed extensive understanding of the domestic and international
nuclear power industry, and has rich corporate management
experience.

Ms. Zheng Xiaowei (“Ms. Zheng”), aged 54, is currently the general
counsel and company secretary of the Company and serving as the
general counsel and secretary of board of directors of CGNPC-URC.
Ms. Zheng has served as the project manager of the Hong Kong
High Technology Development Management Company Limited* (&
BaiHi R EIEGR A A]). She joined CGNPC in March 1999 and
subsequently worked in the finance department and development
planning department. Ms. Zheng served as the manager of planning
and finance department, financial representative and secretary of the
board of directors of Galaxy Captek Co., Ltd.* (b REA A AT, a
subsidiary of CGN Group) from October 2002 to August 2006. She
served as the director of investment and legal department of CGNPC-
URC from August 2006 to October 2010 and was re-designated
to general counsel and secretary of board of directors of CGNPC-
URC from October 2010 to now. Ms. Zheng graduated from Zhejiang
University (41T KXE2) with a Bachelor’'s degree of engineering in
industrial automation in 1988 and obtained a Master’s of science
degree in science and technology information from China Defense
Science and Technology Information Center (FF B[ fl 4% 12 B
L) in 1992, Ms. Zheng possesses the qualification certificate for
accounting of the PRC and the Enterprise Legal Adviser Qualification
Certificate of the PRC* (FBI 3 A2 M EE ), and has
extensive experience in financial management, corporate governance
and legal affairs management.
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Mr. Zhou Rongsheng ([Mr.Zhou]), aged 50, is currently the
assistant president of the Company and serving as the assistant
general manager of CGNPC-URC. Prior to joining the CGN Group,
Mr. Zhou was ever a lecture and an associate professor of school of
nuclear science and engineer, an associate professor and head of
education and training centre of school of mechanical engineering
of Shanghai Jiao Tong University. Mr. Zhou joined CGN Group in
September 2010, and successively served as nuclear fuel manager
of technology and production management department * head
of nuclear fuel management division of technology research and
development department of CGNPC, and head of nuclear fuel
management division of asset operation department of CGN Power
Co., Ltd. Mr. Zhou joined CGNPC-URC in January 2016 and acted as
the general manager assistant since then. Mr. Zhou graduated from
Anhui Education Colleage* (Z#24 & £F%) with a Bachelor's degree
of chemistry in 1995 and obtained a Master’s degree of nuclear fuel
cycle and material from Nuclear Power Institute of China in 1998 and
obtained a Ph.D. degree of nuclear fuel cycle from the same school in
2002.
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TEERHRE ®
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE TEER

During the Reporting Period, the Company’s corporate governance ARARRBREHADEALETFEEER
policy adopted and complied with all the applicable code provisions SPRIEY 2 BB SF RIS

of the Corporate Governance Code.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

EEHE

Regulators

PR

Shareholders

oy
The Board

v
BRORR N B

EERRE

Strategic Decision and Supervision

lkiElops

BREEE
Senior
Management

v

BEEE

Stake-
Holders

PEbE

Internal Audit

8T

Employees

Operational Management

HNEREEETEM
External
Auditor
[ B 22 1)
Risk Control

PEZBEARAR —ZT-TF4% 51 1



Corporate Governance Report
TEERRE

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the standards of
securities transactions by the Directors. All Directors have confirmed,
following specific enquiries made, that they have complied with the
required standards set out in the Model Code regarding Directors’
securities transactions during the Reporting Period.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition and role

The Board of the Company currently comprises eight Directors,
including two EDs, three NEDs and three INEDs. The composition
of the Board is based on a comprehensive consideration of the
Directors’ professional skills, working background and qualification. It
shows the differentiated and diverse arrangement of Directors. As at
the date of this report, the members of the Board are as follows:

Remuneration

Committee

e B

Directors

ESETESREZNERETA

AAREFMEETI AEBETEES
BEIEE - BAFBEEEELETEEH
% AR SURRESNEEHNE
ST -

Exg
MR AE

ARAPMEFGRHSBRESHEK - BiE2%
HITES  SRIFMITESZMIRBUIEH
TEE -BEINERERNBENEER
B BESEREREZTERAZRE -
BRTEFZRCRZTENTH - RE
SHH - BEFEXENT

Audit
Committee

BEREEE

Nomination
Committee

REZEE

Eds HITES

Mr. An Junjing REBEE(HERENITE)
(chief executive officer)

Mr. Chen Deshao PR1EAR S A4

NEDs FHTES

Mr. Yu Zhiping (chairman) REFRE (EFE)

Mr. Sun Xu FRB k&

Mr. Yin Xiong BRI A

INEDs BYFHITES

Mr. Qiu Xianhong ERSe itk A

Mr. Gao Pei Ji =IRESLE

Mr. Lee Kwok Tung Louis RIS

C - Chairman of the relevant Board committees
M — Member of the relevant Board committees

The biographical details of each Director are set out in the section
“Biographies of Directors” of this annual report.
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The Board is responsible for formulating the overall strategy and
policy of the Group and ensures there are sufficient capital and
management resources for the implementation of relevant strategies
and the completeness of the financial and internal control systems,
and the compliance of business operation with relevant legal
requirements. All members of the Board have fulfilled their duties
and act in the best interest of the Group and Shareholders. Unless
otherwise disclosed in this annual report, to the knowledge of the
Company, there was no financial, business, family and other material/
related relationship among members of the Board.

All Directors should comply with Rule 3.08(d) of the Listing Rules at
all times to avoid actual and potential conflict of interest and duties. In
each meeting of the Board and special committees of the Board (the
“Meetings”), Directors are required to declare if they have any interest
in the matters being considered in the Meetings. If a Director or any of
his associates have material interests in the matters to be considered/
approved, the Director will not be counted as the quorum and will
not vote at the meeting. The Director may not be present during the
discussion on related matters.

Pursuant to Article 108 of the Articles of Association of the Company
and the Corporate Governance Code, all Directors are required
to retire from office by rotation once every three years. The Board
complies with Rules 3.10 (1) & (2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules in
relation to the appointment of at least three INEDs, which represents
at least one-third of the Board, and one of the INEDs has appropriate
professional qualifications in accounting or related financial
management expertise.

In accordance with the requirements of code provision C.2.1, the
Directors have conducted a review of the overall effectiveness of the
internal control systems of the Group and concluded that all material
controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls and
risk management are effective.
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Responsibilities of the Board

As the decision-making body of the Company, the Board
takes charge of the corporate governance function. The major
responsibilities of the Board include the tasks stated below. The
Board may delegate the responsibilities to other committees as it
thinks fit:

@)

to review the Company’s policies, programs and procedures
and make recommendations as necessary from time to time;

to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices to
ensure compliance with the legal and regulatory requirements;

to oversee the implementation of any code of conduct and/
or business ethics of the Company to ensure the Company’s
compliance with the relevant rules and regulations, including
but not limited to the Listing Rules and the Takeovers Code;

to review the Company’s compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code and disclosure in the Corporate
Governance Report;

to form any committee(s) or panels, appoint members thereto,
delegate at any time and from time to time to any person
or committee(s) or panel(s), any of its powers and functions
conferred on it, review and approve the reports of the
committee(s) and panel(s), review their performance and revise
their composition and terms of reference as appropriate;

to oversee all matters and to formulate policies in relation
to the Company’s internal control, succession plans,
remuneration and compensation for Directors and employees,
risk management, corporate governance and corporate social
responsibility, and to supervise the implementation of such
policies conducted by the Company’s management;
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investigate any significant instances of non-compliance or
potential non-compliance of the Company; and

to do any such things to enable the Board to discharge its
obligations and responsibilities.

Major work performed by the Board in relation to its corporate

governance function in 2020 includes:

reviewing and approving the Board’s major work plan of 2020
(including summary of the Board report of 2019);

reviewing and approving the comprehensive risk management
report of 2020 (including summary of risk management
situation of 2019);

reviewing and approving the internal audit plan of 2020
(including summary of the internal work plan of 2019);

reviewing and approving the internal control evaluation report
of 2019;

reviewing the interim report on the implementation of
comprehensive risk management of 2020;

reviewing the interim report on the implementation of internal
audit of 2020;

reviewing and approving the Board meeting plan of 2021.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

All Directors, including the chairman and the chief executive officer,
are required to retire from office by rotation once every three years
and are subject to re-election by Shareholders at the annual general
meeting in accordance with the Articles of Association and the
Corporate Governance Code. The Articles of Association of the
Company provides details in relation to the procedures of election
and appointment of the Directors.

Besides, pursuant to article 112 of the Articles of Association of the
Company, Directors appointed to fill casual vacancy shall hold office
only until the next general meeting after their appointment, and shall
be subject to re-election at general meetings.

All Directors will enter into a director service contract with the
Company immediately after their appointment for a term of two years
and subject to retirement and re-election of at least once every three
years. The contract sets out the details of the duties and obligations
of Directors. All Directors understand they have joint responsibility
towards all Shareholders in terms of the operation, business and
development of the Company. They are required to fulfill Directors’
duties according to the director service contract and relevant laws
and regulations. All Directors confirm that they provide sufficient time
and effort in company affairs, express their views cautiously and
diligently and fuffill their Directors’ duties.

Directors’ Interests

As recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352
of part XV of the SFO, none of the Directors held Shares of the
Company or associated companies as at 31 December 2020.
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Directors’ Training and Continuous Professional Development

Newly appointed Directors will receive an introduction package
related to the laws in relation to directors of a listed company and
their duties, which covers the statutory and regulatory obligations of a
director.

Pursuant to code provision A.6.5, directors should participate in
continuous professional development training to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills. The Company encourages all Directors to
participate in continuous professional development to ensure better
fulfillment of Directors’ duties and contribution to the Company’s
development. During the Reporting Period, all Directors participated
in continuous professional development by attending internal training,
seminar or forum. Furthermore, attending training seminars or reading
materials is also beneficial to continuous professional development.

In 2020, a summary of training taken by the Directors is set out as
follows:

Directors

EERIIRBEERRRE
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2020 - ER2EEFIFRMAT -

Type of training

BIER

EDs BITES

Mr. An Junjing TZEELAE

Mr. Chen Deshao PRI=RRST A
NEDs FHITES

Mr. Yu Zhiping RETEE

Mr. Sun Xu FIBEAE

Mr. Yin Xiong BRI ST
INEDs BYFHITES
Mr. Qiu Xianhong Ef St A

Mr. Gao Pei Ji SEELA

Mr. Lee Kwok Tung Louis ZEIRR S

a. Attending training seminars in person/via video: on 20 November 2020, the

Company held a training session for Directors, the topic was Depth Analysis of
the Trend of Anti-globalization.

b. Reading training materials relevant to the Company’s business, updates on
Listing Rules or to the Directors’ duties and obligations.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

According to the Corporate Governance Code A.2.1, the roles of
chairman of the Board and chief executive officer should not be
performed by the same individual. During the Reporting Period, the
chairman of the Board and chief executive officer of the Company
were Mr. Yu Zhiping and Mr. An Junjing, respectively. The Chairman
is responsible for ensuring that the Board performs its duties properly
under good corporate governance practices and procedures; the
chief executive officer is responsible for managing the affairs of the
Group with the support of the EDs and management team, including
executing the major strategies and measures adopted by the Board.

NEDS

NEDs, including INEDs, are experienced individuals from different
industries and backgrounds. At least one of them possesses
the appropriate accounting qualifications and related financial
management expertise as required by the Listing Rules. Based on
the expertise and experience of each of the Director, the Directors
assumes related responsibilities to provide independent judgment
and advise on the Company’s management. The number of NEDs
representing more than half of the Board members, which helps the
Company to make objective and independent judgment and decision.
The advice of NEDs shall be considered as major advice, in case
where there are potential conflicts of interest on the matter.

The initial term of appointment of each NED is two years and is
subject to retirement and re-election as required by the Articles of
Association, and will continue thereafter until terminated by not less
than three months’ notice in writing served by either party to the
other.

The Company has received from each INED the annual confirmation
of independence in compliance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
After taking into consider of the factors set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules, the Company is of the view that all the INEDs are
independent.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Zheng Xiaowei (“Ms. Zheng”) has been appointed as joint
company secretary of the Company since 1 June 2014. The
role of the company secretary is to support the chairman of the
Board, the Board and relevant committees, to ensure smooth
communications and timely transmission of information. At the same
time, the company secretary plays an important role such as to
ensure the Board meetings are convened in accordance with laws
and regulations, and the Board’s decisions are executed correctly.
The company secretary is also an important communication bridge
between the Company and Shareholders, and assists the Board
to perform its responsibility to Shareholders in accordance with the
Listing Rules.

In accordance with the Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Ms. Zheng
has received no less than 15 hours professional training during the
Reporting Period.

BOARD PROCESS AND ATTENDANCE OF MEETINGS

There are at least four regular Board meetings held every year, and
ad hoc Board meeting is convened when necessary. In addition to
written resolutions, Directors participated in the meetings either in
person, by proxy or through electronic means of communications.
Board members have full access to the business development of the
Company at the meetings at regular interval.

At least 14 days’ notices of all regular Board meetings were given
to all Directors, who were given an opportunity to add matters in
the agenda for discussion. The finalised agenda and accompanying
board papers were sent to all Directors at least three days prior to the
meetings.
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During the Reporting Period, there were five Board meetings held by RMEHRA - ARFIHEBRRNESE -
the Company in total. The attendance of each Director at the Board EEFHEEEg e MEHEE g gE
meeting and relevant committee meetings are as follows: HIERA T

Number of meetings attended/Number of meetings held

HRERY, ERETRY
Board Audit Remuneration Nomination
Position Meeting Committee Committee Committee
Bifu Ezg ENZES FHzEE REZE®
Mr. Yu Zhiping NED, chairman of both the Board and nomination 5/5 N/A 0/0 11
committee and member of the remuneration
committee
RETEE FNTES EFQLR  REZEGIER 5/5 ik 0/0 11

FMZREZE

Mr. An Junjing ED and member of both the nomination committee 4/5 N/A N/A 11
and remuneration committee
REREL WTES REZEGZENFMEEEZE 4/5 TEm TER 11
Mr. Chen Deshao  ED 5/5 N/A 0/0 N/A
BRIERR 4 HITESE 5/5 NEh 0/0 NEH
Mr. Sun Xu NED and member of the audit committee 5/5 4/4 N/A N/A
it FRTESRERZEGEE 5/5 4/4 TEm Tam
Mr. Yin Xiong NED 5/5 N/A N/A N/A
RIExE FRTES 5/5 NER NEm Tam
Mr. Qiu Xianhong  INED, chairman of both the audit committee and 5/5 4/4 0/0 11

the remuneration committee and member of
the nomination committee

Bt E BIUENTES  BREEEER - 5/5 4/4 0/0 1/1
FMEEeTRRELZESZE

Mr. Gao Pei Ji INED, member of both the remuneration 5/5 N/A 0/0 11
committee and the nomination committee

SEELE BIUIES  TMZE2ZERIREZE 5/5 N 0/0 1
2%5
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Number of meetings attended/Number of meetings held

Board
Position Meeting
Bifu Ezg
Mr. Lee Kwok INED, member of the audit committee, the 5/5
Tung Louis remuneration committee and the nomination
committee
FHEREE BUFNTES EREEEGEE 5/5
FMEEEZERREEEEEE

Should a potential conflict of interest involving a controlling
Shareholder or a Director arise, the matter would be considered and
approved in a physical meeting, as opposed to being dealt with by
written resolution. Other Directors and INEDs with no material conflict
of interest would be present at the relevant meetings.

The Company has arranged appropriate Directors and officers liability
insurance in respect of potential legal action against Directors.

DELEGATION AND WORK DONE BY THE BOARD

The Board provides leadership and oversees the Group’s business
management, strategic decisions, performance and affairs.

The Board has formulated a clear written policy that delineates
matters reserved for Board approval of the Group. The reserved
matters include, among other things:

1. the business development and planning;
2. corporate policies;

3, financial planning;

4, investment planning;

8. annual budget;

HERE, SEETRY
Audit Remuneration Nomination
Committee Committee Committee
ENZEE PMESE REEZE®
4/4 0/0 11
4/4 0/0 11

EREBRERIEFTFHENENNEE
REHREESASENAETERL
e MIENBERZREE - TFEEARH
BERNEMEE LB IFNTES R
FEHEFEEE -

AAEREEEARESHRAERTTEIE

HENEERSRERABREERBIRR
E77 I

ExgRIEERETRIE
ESeRENREFTERAKEBNES

ﬁEE N ﬁﬁu/kﬁ N %Lﬁ&%% °
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ZEESRAMENTERE
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2. NEIBGR

3. HHRE

4. RERE

5. FERE
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6. major disposals and acquisitions;

7. major connected transactions;

8. appointment of Directors, company secretary and other senior
management;

9. other significant operational and financial matters.

In addition to work relating to corporate governance function, other
major work performed by the Board during the Reporting Period

includes:

1. considering, reviewing and approving the annual results of
2019, annual report and matters relating to the annual general
meeting;

2. reviewing and approving the 2020 business plan (including the

2019 implementation report);

3. reviewing and approving the 2020 budget planning (including
the 2019 budget implementation report);

4. reviewing and approving organizational adjustment and staff
planning of 2020;

8 reviewing the (continuing) connected transactions execution
report of 2019;

6. considering the appointment of the auditor of 2020 and
determination of their remuneration;

7. reviewing and approving the medium and long term
investment strategy of Fission;

8. reviewing the preparation of the business plan of 2021;

9. reviewing the development path during “Fourteenth Five-year”;
10. review the dividend plan of 2020.

The day-to-day operation and management of the Group is delegated
to the senior management. Certain authorities are also granted to

relevant Board committee, the granted authorities and responsibilities
are reviewed by the Board from time to time.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

There are three committees under the Board of the Company,
which are the audit committee, the remuneration committee and the
nomination committee, with its terms of reference established. Each
specific committee performs on specific area, provides comments
and recommendations to the Board for consideration.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee is delegated by the Board to exercise its specific
rights within the ambit of the terms of reference.

As at 31 December 2020, the audit committee of the Company
comprised a NED, namely Mr. Sun Xu, and two INEDs, namely Mr.
Qiu Xianhong (chairman) and Mr. Lee Kwok Tung Louis.

The function of the audit committee is to assist the Board in providing
an independent review of the effectiveness of the financial reporting
process, internal control and risk management systems of the Group,
and oversee the audit process. The audit committee also serves as a
focal point for communication, among Directors, the external auditors,
and the management as regards financial reporting, internal control
and the auditing.

Major work performed by the audit committee during the Reporting
Period includes:

1. hearing the 2019 audit report by the auditor;
2. considering the annual report and the first draft of result
announcement;

3. considering the 2020 internal audit plan (including the 2019
internal audit summary);

4. considering the 2019 internal control evaluation report;
5 considering the interim report on the implementation of

comprehensive risk management in 2020 (including the
summary of 2019 comprehensive risk management);

,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, ’
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6. considering the change of auditor;

7. reviewing the 2020 interim results and matters relating to

interim report;

8. considering the interim report on the implementation of
comprehensive risk management report of 2020;

9. considering the interim report on internal audit work
conducted in 2020.

During the Reporting Period, the Board had no disagreement with the
audit committee’s view on the selection, appointment, resignation or
dismissal of the external auditors.

Internal Control

The Board has overall responsibility for setting up and maintaining
effective internal control system and for reviewing its effectiveness,
to safeguard the Group’s assets and Shareholders’ interest.
The management of the Company at each level assesses on
the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal control system by
performing reviews. Internal control department reports to the audit
committee once a year on key findings regarding internal controls.
Audit committee, in turn, communicates any material issues regarding
internal control system to the Board.

As of 31 December 2020, the audit committee conducted a review
on the effectiveness of the internal control system, and no serious
deficiencies were identified. Therefore, the Board considered that the
internal control systems of the Group are effective, and complied with
the provisions of the Corporate Governance Code.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee is delegated by the Board to exercise its
specific rights within the ambit of the terms of reference.

As at 31 December 2020, the remuneration committee of the
Company comprised one NED, namely Mr. Yu Zhiping, one ED,
namely Mr. An Junjing and three INEDs, namely, Mr. Qiu Xianhong
(chairman), Mr. Gao Pei Ji and Mr. Lee Kwok Tung Louis.

The function of the remuneration committee is basically to make
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure of all remuneration of EDs, NEDs and senior management
and review the remuneration packages of the EDs and senior
management with reference to the corporate goals and objectives.

No Directors’ remuneration adjustment was made during the
Reporting Period.

Pursuant to code provision B.1.5, the annual remuneration of the
members of the senior management (excluding the Directors) by
band during the year ended 31 December 2020 is set out below:

Remuneration band (HK$)
FrifEaE (B x)

Nil to HK$1,000,000
Z£%1,000,000% 7T

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the 5 highest
paid individuals are set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee is delegated by the Board to exercise its
specific rights within the ambit of terms of reference.

As at 31 December 2020, the nomination committee comprised
one NED, namely Mr. Yu Zhiping (chairman), one ED, namely Mr. An
Junjing and three INEDs, namely Mr. Qiu Xianhong, Mr. Gao Pei Ji
and Mr. Lee Kwok Tung Louis.

The function of the nomination committee is to review and
formulate the nomination procedure as regards the appointment,
re-appointment and removal of Directors; review the structure,
size and composition of the Board and make recommendations or
any proposed changes to the Board to implement the corporate
strategy; and make recommendation to the Board on candidates for
appointment as Directors. The nomination committee follows rigorous
selection procedure in choosing the right person as a member of the
Board. Various criteria such as appropriate professional knowledge,
experience, skills and possible contribution of the candidate will be
considered.

During the Reporting Period, major work performed by the nomination
committee includes:

1. recommending the retirement and re-election of Directors at
the annual general meeting;

2. assessing the independence of INEDs.

Board Diversity policy

The Board adopted the “Board Diversity Policy”. The Company
recognises the merits of Board diversity and sees the edge of
Board diversity in driving competitiveness. In making up the Board’s
composition, the Board considers various skills, regional and industry
experience, background, gender and other attributes of the members
of the Board. All appointments of the Board are based on the talent,
skill and experience of the individual, as well as gender diversity, so as
to meet the operational needs.
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As at 31 December 2020, the Board composition can fulfill the
diversity requirements on skills, background, and regional and
industry experience. While there still exists improvement space for
gender diversity, and it is the goal for the Company in the next stage.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation
of the financial statements of the Group. In preparing the financial
statements, the HKFRSs have been adopted, appropriate accounting
policies have been used and applied consistently, and reasonable
and prudent judgments and estimates have been made. The Board is
not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
which may cast significant doubt over the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern. Accordingly, the Board has continued to adopt
the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

The Company’s auditor, BDO Limited, acknowledged its reporting
responsibilities pursuant to the Corporate Governance Code. The
auditor’s responsibilities are set out in the independent auditor’s
report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the Reporting Period, the remuneration paid by the Company
to the auditor, BDO Limited and its affiliate company, is set out as
follows:

Fri= R AR

Services rendered

BRI

Audit services

IEE RS

Non-audit services

The significant amount of fee incurred for non-audit services arose
from review of interim results, consultation service on continuing
connected transactions and consultation service on acquisition
projects.
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SHAREHOLDERS AND SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING

In order to ensure that all Shareholders of the Company enjoy equal
status and effective exercise of their own rights, the Company
convenes general meetings every year in accordance with the Articles
of Association. During the Reporting Period, one general meeting
was held, namely the annual general meeting, on 18 June 2020. The
attendance of each Director is set out as follows:

Mr. Yu Zhiping REFRE
Mr. An Junjing LEIEEE
Mr. Chen Deshao PRIZABSLAE
Mr. Sun Xu FHBEE

Mr. Yin Xiong Bl

Mr. Qiu Xianhong ERSEHtde A
Mr. Gao Pei Ji SIEESLYE
Mr. Lee Kwok Tung Louis ZEIR S AE

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Right to convene an extraordinary general meeting

Pursuant to article 64 of the Articles of Association, on the requisition
of one or more Shareholders at the date of deposit of the requisition
holding not less than one-tenth of the paid-up share capital of the
Company having the right to vote at general meetings, the Directors
are obliged to proceed to convene an extraordinary general meeting
of the Company.

Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Directors or the
company secretary for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary
general meeting and deposited at the registered office of the
Company in Cayman Islands and/or the principal place of business
of the Company in Hong Kong. The requisitionists must state the
purposes of the meeting and sign the requisition letter.
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If the Directors do not convene a meeting within 21 days from the
date of the deposit of the requisition, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may convene a meeting, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Directors
shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Right to put enquiries to the Board

Shareholders have the right to put enquiries to the Board. All enquiries
may be made in writing and sent to the attention of the company
secretary, Ms. Zheng Xiaowei, in one of the following ways:

1. By post: CGN Mining Company Limited
Rm 1903
19/F, China Resources Building
No. 26 Harbour Road
Wanchai, Hong Kong

2. By facsimile: (852) 2116 4031
S By email: ir.cgnmc@cgnpc.com.cn

Voting by poll

Pursuant to Rule 13.39 of the Listing Rules and article 72 of the
Articles of Association of the Company, any votes of the Shareholders
at a general meeting must be taken by poll, except where the
chairman decides to allow a resolution which relates purely to a
procedural or administrative matter to be voted by a show of hands.

Procedures to put forward proposals at general meetings

Shareholders who would like to put forward proposals at a general
meeting shall follow the procedures below:

On the requisition in writing of either: i) any number of Shareholder
of the Company representing not less than one-fortieth of the
total voting rights of all the Shareholders having at the date of the
requisition a right to vote at the meeting to which the requisition
relates; or ii) not less than 50 Shareholders, the Company shall, at the
expense of the requisitionists:
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a) circulate to Shareholders entitled to receive notice of the next

annual general meeting notice of any resolution which may
properly be proposed and is intended to be proposed at that
meeting;

b) circulate to Shareholders entitled to have notice of any general
meeting sent to them any statement of not more than one
thousand words with respect to the matter referred to in any
proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with at that
meeting.

The requisition must be signed by the requisitionists and deposited
at the registered office of the Company in Cayman Islands and/or
the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong for
the attention of the company secretary not less than 6 weeks before
the general meeting, in case of a requisition requires notice of a
resolution, or not less than 1 week before the general meeting for any
other requisition.

Change in Constitutional Documents

During the Reporting Period, there is no significant change in the
constitutional documents of the Company.

Risk management and internal control
Comprehensive risk management

The Company has initially established a relatively comprehensive risk
management system. With reference to relevant risk management
requirements of the “Risk Management — Principles and Guidelines”
of 1ISO31000:2009 standard and the Corporate Governance Code,
the Company effectively identified, tracked and controlled the risks.
It also strictly implemented the Comprehensive Risk Management
Policy. Meanwhile, the Company classified the overall risk business
into four levels, namely major operating risk, non-investment specific
risk, project investment risk and general risk, and clearly defined
risk management process respectively. The Board, management,
the risk management department and business departments were
responsible for their relevant duties within risk management to ensure
the efficient operation of the system.
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Interal audit

During the Reporting Period, according to the internal audit plan
approved by the Board, the internal audit department carried
out relevant audit work such as corporate governance audit, risk
management assessment and internal control assessment of
overseas companies. Among them, the internal control assessment
project was entrusted to a professional advisory body, for a
comprehensive evaluation of the integrity and execution effectiveness
of the internal control system of the Company. By implementing
specialized audit and risk management reviews and internal control
assessments, regular management advices were provided to the
Board to effectively prevent and monitor the risks inherent in the
operation and management of the Company in the relevant areas,
which has played an active role in the internal audit in risk prevention
and control and in ensuring the legal and compliance of the
Company.

At the same time, the internal audit department of the Company, as
the lead department for investigation responsibility for violations of
business operations, has regularly confirmed with various functional
departments and affiliated companies every quarter, and established
a complete natification and monitoring mechanism. During the year,
no clues or problems were found for investigating responsibility for
illegal operations and investments. The establishment of a sound
system of investment accountability for non-compliance of the
Company provides further protection to the Company’s asset safety
and legal compliance operations.

The Company regulates the handling and dissemination of inside
information as set out in the information disclosure policy which
contains the detailed procedures to ensure that inside information
could be identified timely and remain confidential until the disclosure
of such information is appropriately approved, and the dissemination
of such information is effectively and consistently made.

AEB &

WEHRR - RIFESSRENREE T
g2 AEIHETRIAFDREE - A
BREIRE - NG ESHEBETT
fE o Hrh - NIFHEIE B Rt BT
i HRARAEBRE2EMBITER
T T 2EMENE c RREEFEESE
TR AR BRI EMAIETE - WEHM
EEgRMEREER  AROBMERET
ANRIAAREEFREERFENRRE -
BB T NRESHERRENE AT
ERTERIER - BRT ARNAEE R

AL,

B - NRATINEBIERERLCERER
FRRIEEBEIF - BFEEEBES
FIMTBRRIEMRER B TEEMNB
MBS - NEEARFRERLCEER
BEFERNERSMERE - BBEVES
@ﬁéﬁﬁ%&ﬁf&L%%?*%“*
BELENEEAEHRLERETE— PR
RS o

RRFIRGRA R RIS B IEE I E h HFF
HMIESE RS BT TR IR R34 - DATE
RAR(E B M BRI ERE EARE
BRESBEEERNRSRE - BHAGR
AR RN — B T A1 T3 -

—T-—F

—=—=

hEZEEAR AR

FF% 71 1



N 72

Corporate Governance Report

cEERRE 0

Human Capital

We have built up an excellent team of management and professional
talents, with the guidance and value of treasuring, caring for and
optimizing talents to support the sustainable development of the
Company.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had 15 employees, among
which 7 in Hong Kong, 3 in Kazakhstan and 5 in UK. For further
information about staff remuneration, please refer to the relevant
contents in notes 14 and 15 of the consolidated financial statements.

Talents

Employee composition
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Professional qualifications

Among the existing workforce, employees holding middle-level and
above represented 73%.

Employment Mechanism
Path of development

The Company cares growth and career development of each
employee, and has set two paths of career development, namely
the management and the professional technical path, and has
established the switch mechanism between the two paths. Staff can
freely choose from the two career development paths and show their
talents. Meanwhile, the Company provides guidance to staff to set up
their personal career development plan, so as to help them to make
rapid career growth.

Internal talent market

For better use of the ability and expertise of each employee, the
Company established the internal talent market. The vacancies
will first be filled by internal talents, through which the aspiration
of individual employees can be better realized and optimized the
allocation of internal human resources, thus to accomplish the
development of both the Company and employees.

Evaluation System

In order to ensure the Company’s objectives could be effectively
implemented, we have established both incentive and restraint
mechanisms, and tends to guide employees’ conducts by way
of continuous communication, feedback and improvement. The
Company established a complete performance management
system by following the steps of communication, coaching, tracking
and assessment during the formulation and implementation of the
performance plan, so as to reach the expected performance results,
and promotes the co-development of the Company and employees.
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Cultivating talents

The Company adheres to the concept of “cultivating prioritizes
training”, follows the principle of “authorized employment, training for
all employees and lifelong education” by absorbing the experience
of international talent training, and formulate the rolling plans and
supporting systems for key positions, forming a standardized and
efficient independent talent training system.

Training resources

With close combination of its business needs, the Company fully
utilises its own advantages and has established a comprehensive
training system for all employees, covering management cadres, key
positions and internationalized talent pools. At the same time, relying
on the extensive training resources of CGN Group, we have shared
more than 1,000 online courses of the Group, allowing employees
to learn and to have on-the-job training at any time on demand,
effectively meeting the rapid development and talent training needs of
the Company.

Remuneration system

Combined with the characteristics of the industry, the Company
constructed a competitive remuneration system which appeals to
quality talents and motivates employees effectively. The remuneration
system reflects the value of positions and individual contribution
and encourages long-term service of employees, jointly striving for
continuous growth and sustainable development of the Company and
sharing the results of corporate development. Remuneration is mainly
composed of monthly salary, performance bonus, over-time pay,
allowance and subsidy and benefits.
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The Board is pleased to present the Directors’ report and audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2020 as follows.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND ANALYSIS OF
OPERATIONS

The Company is mainly engaged in properties investment, trading of
natural uranium and other trading. The principal businesses of our
subsidiaries include trading of natural uranium and investment of
natural uranium resources. An analysis of the Group’s business for
the year is set out in note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG
KONG

The head office and principal place of business of the Company in
Hong Kong is located in Room 1903,19/F, China Resources Building,
No. 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

EARNINGS AND DIVIDEND DISTRIBUTION

The earnings of the Group for the year of 2020 are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on pages 144 and 145 of the annual report.

The Board recommended a payment of final cash dividend of HKO0.5
cent per share for the year 2020 to Shareholders as at the record
date for payment of dividend (2019: HK1 cent per share).

ANNUAL RESULTS

Details of the Group’s business performance for the year of 2020 and
its analysis are set out in the section “Management Discussion and
Analysis” to this annual report.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy, pursuant to which
allowing Shareholders to participate in the Company’s profits whilst
to retain adequate reserves for future growth. The declaration
and payment of dividends by the Company is also subject to any
restrictions under the laws of the Cayman Islands, the Articles of
Association and any applicable laws, rules and regulations.
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The Directors may from time to time determine and pay to the
Shareholders such interim dividends as it considers appropriate. The
Board may also recommend the payment of final dividends which are
required to be approved by Shareholders in general meetings.

The ratio of final dividend distribution for the end of the year is
based on the various factors such as business performance of the
Company, including future cash commitments and investment needs
to sustain long-term business growth and shall be not less than 20%
of distributable profits of continuing business.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group during the period, the Group’s
exposure to potential risks and uncertainties, significant events
after the end of the reporting date, business prospects, financial
performance and relevant analysis, together with compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
Group are set out in the section headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis” to this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment and
investment properties of the Group are set out in notes 16 and 18 to
the consolidated financial statements respectively.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the major subsidiaries held by the Company are set out in
note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are set out
in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

During the Reporting Period, the Company did not issue or hold any
convertible bonds or has any convertible bonds outstanding.
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DIRECTORS

During the Reporting Period and as at the date of this report,
Directors of the Company are as followed:

EDs

Mr. An Junjing
Mr. Chen Deshao

NEDs

Mr. Yu Zhiping
Mr. Sun Xu
Mr. Yin Xiong

INEDs

Mr. Qiu Xianhong
Mr. Gao Pei Ji
Mr. Lee Kwok Tung Louis

In accordance with Article 112 of the Articles of Association, any
Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as an additional Director
shall hold office only until the next following general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible for re-election at the meeting
but shall not be taken into account in determining the Directors or
the number of Directors who are to retire by rotation at such general
meeting.

In accordance with Article 108 of the Articles of Association, Mr. Yin
Xiong, Mr. Gao Pei Ji and Mr. Lee Kwok Tung Louis will retire from
office by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting, but are
eligible for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

There is no service contract, which is not terminable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation), in respect of the Directors who are
proposed and offered for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS,
TRANSACTIONS AND ARRANGEMENT

Save for the transactions set out under “Connected Transactions”,
there were no any other contract, transaction or agreement of
significance of the Group in which a Director of the Company or an
entity connected with a director is or was materially interested, either
directly or indirectly, subsisting during or at the end of Reporting
Period.

DIRECTORS’ INDEMNITIES

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director shall be entitled
to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses
or liabilities which he may sustain or incur in or about the execution of
the duties of his office or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company
has arranged appropriate liability insurance coverage for the Directors
and senior management.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS

The biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 44 to
48 of the annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December 2020
amounted to approximately HK$729 million.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association and there was no restriction against such rights under the
laws of the Cayman Islands.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the
Reporting Period.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “2010 Share
Option Scheme”) at the annual general meeting of the Company held
on 2 June 2010. The 2010 Share Option Scheme has been expired
on 1 June 2020. No other share option has been granted since the
adoption of the 2010 Share Option Scheme.

The 2010 Share Option Scheme

The following disclosure is a summary of the 2010 Share Option
Scheme as required by chapter 17 of the Listing Rules:

(1) Purpose:

The purpose of the 2010 Share Option Scheme is to enable
the Company to grant options to eligible participants (as
defined below) as incentives or rewards for their contribution
to the Company and/or any of the subsidiaries.

2 Participants:

The eligible participants of the 2010 Share Option Scheme to
whom option(s) may be granted by the Board shall include any
employees, NEDs, Directors, suppliers, customers, advisors,
consultants, joint venture partners and any shareholders of
any members of the Group or any invested entities or any
holders of any securities issued by any members of the Group
or any invested entities.

3 Total number of shares available for issue under the
2010 Share Option Scheme and percentage of issued
share capital at the date of approval of the share option
scheme:

The number of shares which can be issued is 155,105,699
shares, representing approximately 10% of the issued share
capital of the Company at the date of approval of the 2010
Share Option Scheme.

4) Maximum entitlement of each participant:

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted under the 2010 Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company
(including exercised, canceled and outstanding options) to
each eligible participant in any 12-month period must not
exceed one percent (1%) of the then total issued share capital
of the Company.
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(5

(6)

(7)

&

9)

The periods within which the shares must be taken up
under an option:

An option shall be exercisable in whole or in part and in
accordance with the terms of the 2010 Share Option Scheme
at any time during a period to be determined and notified by
the Board to each grantee, which period may commence
on the day on which the offer for the grant of options is
made but shall end in any event not later than ten (10) years
commencing from the date the Board makes an offer of
the grant of an option subject to the provisions for early
termination thereof.

The minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised:

Unless the Directors otherwise determine and state in the
offer of the grant of options to an eligible participant, there
is no minimum period for which an option granted under the
2010 Share Option Scheme must be held before it can be
exercised.

The amount payable on application or acceptance of the
option and the period within which payments of calls
must or may be made or loans for such purpose must
be paid:

An offer of grant of an option may be accepted by an eligible
participant within twenty-eight (28) days from the date of the
offer of grant of the option. A consideration of HK$1.00 is
payable on acceptance of the offer of grant of an option.

The basis of determining the exercise price:

Subject to the adjustment made in accordance with the
terms of the 2010 Share Option Scheme, the exercise price
in respect of any particular option shall be such price as
determined by the Board in its absolute discretion at the time
of making the offer of grant of an option (which shall be stated
in the letter containing the offer of grant of an option) but in
any case the exercise price must be at least the highest of (i)
the closing price of shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the date of the offer of grant, which
must be a trading day; (ii) the average closing price of shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the
five (5) business days immediately preceding the date of the
offer of grant; and (jii) the nominal value of the shares.

The remaining life:

The 2010 Share Option Scheme valid for a period of 10 years
commencing on 2 June 2010 and has expired. No new share
option can be granted under the 2010 Share Option Scheme.
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RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Details of the retirement benefit schemes are set out in notes 14 and
15 of the consolidated financial statements.

COMPANY WEBSITE

www.cgnmc.com

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

(a)

(b)

The Directors’ and chief executives’ interests and short
position in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or any associated corporation

As at 31 December 2020, none of the Directors, the chief
executives of the Company had any interests or short
positions in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of
the Company or its associated corporations (as defined in the
part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to divisions 7 and
8 of part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
which they were taken or deemed to have taken under such
provisions of the SFO), or which were required, pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred
to therein, or which were required pursuant to the Model Code
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Substantial Shareholders’ interests and short positions
in the shares, underlying shares of the Company

As at 31 December 2020, according to the register kept by
the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO and so far
as is known to, or can be ascertained after reasonable enquiry
by the Directors, the following persons/entities, other than a
Director or chief executive of the Company, had an interest
or short position in the Shares and underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company which would fall to be disclosed
to the Company under the provisions of divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO:
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Approximate

percentage

Name of Substantial Shareholder Capacity Number of Shares of Shareholding
(Note 1) (Note 1)

BRER
TERREH af RG#E BAL
(R&E1) (&E1)

Substantial Shareholders

TERF

CGNPC (Notes 2, 3,4 & ) Interest in a controlled corporation 4,467,887,558(1) 67.69%(L)

tEREERR (23 4R5) R EEER

CGNPC-URC (Notes 2, 4 & 6) Interest in a controlled corporation 4,283,695,652(L) 64.97%(L)

hEZ R R (W52 - 4)k6) REEEER

China Uranium (Notes 7) Beneficial owner 4,288,695,652(L) 64.97%(L)

hEFER (H7) EafEAA

Other Shareholders

ARE

Hong Kong Xinmao (Note 8) Beneficial owner 659,400,000(L) 9.99%(L)

BBEIX (Mzre) EafiEA

Hainan Mining (Note 8) Interest in a controlled corporation 659,400,000(L) 9.99%(L)

BEER (f18) REEE R

Shanghai Fosun Industrial Investment Co., Ltd. (Note 8)  Interest in a controlled corporation 659,400,000(L) 9.99%(L)

FEEEEXRERRAR (HTe) REEE R

Shanghai Fosun High Technology Interest in a controlled corporation 659,400,000(L) 9.99%(L)
(Group) Co., Ltd. (Note 8)

HEEESME (RE) AR (Hie) REEE R

Fosun International Limited (Note 8) Interest in a controlled corporation 659,400,000(L) 9.99%(L)

EERRABRAR (58 REEEER

Fosun Holdings Limited (Note 8) Interest in a controlled corporation 659,400,000(L) 9.99%(L)

BEERARAR (528 REEE RS

Fosun International Holdings Ltd. (Note 8) Interest in a controlled corporation 659,400,000(L) 9.99%(L)

BEARERERAR (HE8) R RS

Guo Guangchang (Note 8) Interest in a controlled corporation 659,400,000(L) 9.99%(L)

BES (18) REEE R

Hainan Haigang Group Co., Ltd. (Note 8) Interest in a controlled corporation 659,400,000(L) 9.99%(L)

B sREEARAR (F5Te) REEEER

State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration ~ Interest in a controlled corporation 659,400,000(L) 9.99%(L)
Commission of Hainan Province (Note 8)

BHEUNEAEEEEERZ ¢ (Wit S iA=L
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Notes:

The letter “L” denotes long position.

CGNPC held the entire equity interest in CGNPC-URC Development, and
CGNPC-URC Development held the entire issued share capital of China
Uranium Development. Accordingly, each of CGNPC and CGNPC-URC
Development was deemed to be interested in the interest held by China
Uranium Development.

CGNPC was also interested in 179,191,906 Shares in other wholly-owned
subsidiaries.

The long position included (i) 4,278,695,652 Shares held by China Uranium
Development; and (i) the interests in 10,000,000 Shares pledged by a third
party.

Mr. Yin Xiong, Mr. Sun Xu and Mr. Yu Zhiping, NEDs, are also employees of
CGNPC.

Mr. Yu Zhiping, Mr. Yin Xiong and Mr. Sun Xi, NEDs, and Mr. An Junjing, an ED,
are also directors of CGNPC-URC. Mr. An Junjing and Mr. Chen Deshao, EDs,
are also employees of CGNPC-URC.

Mr. Chen Deshao, an ED, is also a director of China Uranium Development.

According to the information provided by Guo Guangchang and the Stateowned
Assets Supervision and Administration Commission of Hainan Province (“Hainan
SASAC”), Hainan Mining was the sole shareholder of Hong Kong Xinmao,
and Hong Kong Xinmao was the beneficial owner of 659,400,000 Shares.
Hainan Mining was owned as to 35% by Hainan Haigang Group Co., Ltd.
(“Hainan Haigang”) and 54% by Shanghai Fosun High Technology (Group)
Co., Ltd. (“Fosun High Technology”) (including 18% directly held by Fosun
High Technology and 36% held by its wholly-owned subsidiary, Shanghai
Fosun Industrial Investment Co., Ltd. (“Fosun Industrial”)). Hainan Haigang was
whollyowned by Hainan SASAC. Fosun High Technology was wholly-owned
by Fosun International Limited and Fosun International Limited was owned as
to 71.51% by Fosun Holdings Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Fosun
International Holdings Ltd., which was held as to 85.29% by Guo Guangchang.

Accordingly, each of Hainan Mining, Hainan Haigang, Hainan SASAC, Fosun
Industrial, Fosun High Technology, Fosun International Limited, Fosun Holdings
Limited, Fosun International Holdings Ltd. and Guo Guangchang is deemed to
be interested in the shares held by Hong Kong Xingmao.
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Save as disclosed above, the Directors are not aware of any person
as of 31 December 2020 who had an interest or short position in the
Shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company pursuant to Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE THE COMPANY'’S
SECURITIES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, none of the Company, or any
of its holding companies or subsidiaries, or any fellow subsidiaries, a
party to any arrangement enables the Directors or chief executives of
the Company or their respective associates (as defined in the Listing
Rules) to have any right to subscribe for securities of the Company or
any of its associated corporations as defined in the SFO or to acquire
benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Continuing connected transactions

The Company entered into the following continuing connected
transactions with the connected persons as defined in the Listing
Rules, and transactions have been conducted in accordance with
the agreed terms. Details of the continuing connected transactions
conducted during the Reporting Period are set out as below:

Name of Transaction
agreement, date  party of the
and existing term  Group

Nature of transaction

Counterparty and description Pricing basis

EELE
AARAEAR

ARER5; BERZUE RAHERRR EEER

Br EXXCFTIEEESN - B Z=2020F 12 A 31
B BFUTMBEEMALRARRR
%~ RN RESPHEEREES L
EIEHIEXVEE2 3D BAMAR AH
BRERSTAR -

BEARTARZHNER

BAFERAMFEEIN - AAF - REA
AERAFHME AR - HEERRR
F 2~ A RT S L BE - A AR T
EXIRSITBRABRHBESBHBEA
(EER LR BEETARBEARAHK
HEAEMREEE (& REH L AEER)
B REN AR B AR R ST E X
AE A EEE R T A MEFH S
HIRER o

BREXS
REEEXS

AR EMRANERNBEEALDIL
TIFERER B - WK R
RR 5 - BEPABEBEIZNHNTIE
AT

Annual cap, actual
transaction amount
EELR
EBRA%E

1 The Sales Framework  The Company  CGNPC-URC  The sale of natural The price per pound of natural uranium shall be  HK$1,960,000,000/
Agreement entered (Controlling uranium to CGNPC- determined by arm’s length negotiation between the HK$424,913,000
on 14 June 2019, Shareholder of URC Group by the Group and relevant members of CGNPC-URC Group on
with a term from 1 the Company)  Group. normal commercial terms, with reference to the arithmetic
January 2020 to 31 average prices of the long-term price indicators published
December 2022 by UxC and TradeTech in the second month prior to the

delivery month, subject to a floor price and a ceiling price.

1 (BEERGZIR A2H TEGIEE AEELEXRNTT RANSBEREERERKR2ZUCKTradeTechi  1960,000000%7,/

201956 R 14R ] RUADAE RERHFEREE.  QNADAE_BANRAERERNEMTOE TE  4249130008T
¥ AR 2020 RER) AsBED R MR RERER R LA AL PERR

F1R1822020% BE - BREREBRIEE -

12A31R
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Name of
agreement, date
and existing term
EE2E
AHREEHR

2 The Financial
Senvices Framework
Agreement entered
on 14 June 2019,
with a term from 1
January 2020 to 31
December 2022

Transaction
party of the
Group

AEERSH

The Company

Counterparty

BERAHA

CGN Finance
and CGNPC
Huasheng
(subsidiaries
of the ultimate
Controlling
Shareholder of
the Company)

Nature of transaction
and description

RANERER

The Group shall set
up and maintain RMB
and foreign currency
deposit accounts with
CGN Finance and place
deposit. The Group
shall also authorise the
Group’s accounts at
third party commercial
banks outside the
PRC to be linked as a
participant account to
a cash pooling master
settlement account
maintained by CGNPC
Huasheng, which allows
auto-transfer of cash
balance in the Group's
participating accounts to
the cash pooling master
account. The sums
transferred to the cash
pooling master account
constitute money
deposited by the Group
with CGNPC Huasheng

CGN Finance and
CGNPC Huasheng may
provide settliement and
similar services to the
Group from time to time.

Pricing basis

EEER

Deposit services: The interest payable by CGN Finance to
the Group shall not be lower than () the interest rates for
the same type and term of depostt offered by China’s big
four commercial banks to the Group and (i) the interest
rates for the same type and term of deposit provided by
OGN Finance to the other PRC subsidiaries of the CGN
Group. The interest payable by CGNPC Huasheng to the
Group shall be equal to or higher than (i) the interest rate
for similar type of deposit offered by CGNPC Huasheng to
other members of the CGN Group; and (i the interest rate
for similar type of deposit as quoted by other independent
commercial banks in Hong Kong (such as Industrial and
Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited and Bank of
China (Hong Kong) Limited) from time to time.

Settlement services: The fees charged by CGN Finance for
the provision of settlement services shall be in accordance
with the fees standards prescribed by the People’s Bank
of China or China Banking and Insurance Regulatory
Commission in respect of such services. If no such fees
standard is available, the service fees shall be determined
on normal commercial terms and not higher than (i) the
fees charged by China's Big-Four Commercial Banks in
the PRC for the same type of financial services; and (il the
fees charged by CGN Finance for the provision of similar
type of financial services to the other PRC subsidiaries
within the CGN Group. The fees charged by CGNPC
Huasheng shall be () equal to or lower than the settlement
and similar services fees charged by CGNPC Huasheng to
other members of the CGN Group in settlement services
arrangements; and (i) equal to or lower than the settlement
and similar services fees charged by other commercial
banks in Hong Kong (such as Industrial and Commercial
Bank of China (Asia) Limited and Bank of China (Hong
Kong) Limited) from time to time for settlement and similar
services provided.

hEZEEAR AR

Annual cap, actual
transaction amount
EELR
EBRAeE

Deposit cap:
US$500,000,000

Highest daily deposit:
US$159,203,000

Settlement service
cap: US$300,000

No seftlement service
fee has been charged.
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Name of Transaction
agreement, date  party of the
and existing term  Group

Nature of transaction
Counterparty and description

Annual cap, actual

Pricing basis transaction amount
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RANERER

From time to time, CGN
Finance and CGNPC
Huasheng may grant
loans and other facilities
to the Group, including
but not limited to loan
facilities, credit limits,
notes commitments and
discounted bills.

ARERTERABR
TRIEARBRINE
FREP LR - A%
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EEER

Loans and other facilities: CGN Finance and CGNPC
Huasheng may grant loans and other facilties, including
but not limited to loan financing, credit line, bill acceptance,
and note discounting services, to the Group from time
to time subject to compliance with the applicable laws
and regulatory requirements. The terms and conditions
of such deposits shall be determined after arm's length
negotiations between () the Group and (i) CGN Finance
or CGNPC Huasheng, as the case may be, including
the amount to be deposited, term of the deposit, the
applicable interest rate, interest payment method and time
of payment, etc, which shall be determined upon each
deposits.

RERR : PRAGTERNNAEE MERTER (1)
BERABXRTHRASRERAAREREONE : &
QrBEHBH AR R ERE BT At E
HBARRRNFZ - P ERERRNARE LHERS
RARR() P REERRRNEA AR RS EE T £
RERRREHE ; &Uﬁ%ﬁwhiﬁﬁﬁﬂ@wﬂ
BTERT (@ ARAR R ERT(EE) ARAA)
ERIER B A ME «

GERG : P ERABREESRENERARRRAA
RETAPARTRREEERZ R EHARREM LT
HfR? Eﬁ%ﬁ MERRRERR  AIRBERAL—
REXRRNEE - EARR()FERARZRTHRE
%ﬁ%%ﬁméﬁ e S s
EUEBnAt T ENBARRKDRNER - PELER
%Wﬂmgﬁﬂﬁﬁiﬁﬁm¢E%ﬁ@@¢%ﬁ%§ﬁ
TEMKE LARIRDS ﬁ%%%%ﬂZ%ﬁi&@é
BRAZERT A TARTEH ARAARTE
818 BRAR) AR SEREUREZR -

ERRAMRE | REREGHRTRIEEI NS
ERARRERAENRRET - RARERLERRER
BE  BRETRNENREA GREER  RRARRR
BEARH  ASERREMBEZAEREL ARG
REE  BTERR \1PERABRETHESR RN

RATEBAROEFNE : R REIBREDRRE
ﬁ% HIFIR B B T AL Ak B ARSI «

EELR
ERR5 2R

N/A

B LR
500,000,000%7C

EREATH

159,203,000 -

HERBELR
300, OOO%E

BARBYEEE R

%o

NER



Directors’ Report

EEERE

Name of Transaction
agreement, date  party of the
and existing term  Group
iE 8
RERAEHR

AEERSH

3 Tenancy Agreement  Beijing Sino-
entered on 9 Kazakh
May 2019, with
a term from 1
January 2019 to 31
December 2021

3 BEGER2019F SR DA
5A9REIY  BX
220191 A1H
220215128318

Counterparty

BERAHA

GGNPC-URC
(Controlling
Shareholder of
the Company)

PRERAHEY
B(ADAE
BHR)

Nature of transaction
and description

RANERER

Beijing Sino-Kazakh
leases 29/F, Block A,
Shi'ao International
Center, 101 Shaoyaoyu
North Lane, Chaoyang
District, Beijing to
CGNPC-URC. The total
gross area of leased
property is 1,035.14
sq.m..

TR IR MBAIR IR
mABERAEELE101
St RERR LA
BNRELALTER
BEER -HERER
AELEH,085.14F 5

Annual cap, actual

Pricing basis transaction amount

EELR
EEEH EBRAeE
The annual rent of RMB3,000,000 (tax inclusive) as RMB3,000,000/
stipulated in the Tenancy Agreement, which in turn RMB3,000,000
was determined after taking into account: (i) the then
market rentals and management fegs payable for similar
properties; and (i) the demand and supply of similar
properties on the market,
REGERENEERLAETARY (A1) - A8 3000000TARE/
BehER)EINEERTHRLRERS  RiEN 3,000,000 ARE
MENTE LSRR -
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Annual review of continuing connected transactions

The INEDs of the Company have reviewed and confirmed the
continuing connected transactions set out above are:

1. in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
2. on normal commercial terms or better; and
S entered into in accordance with the relevant agreement

governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in
the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

The external auditor of the Company has also reviewed these
continuing connected transactions and confirmed to the Board that
these transactions:

1. have been approved by the Board;

2. have been entered into in accordance with the relevant
agreement governing the transactions;

S are in accordance with the pricing policies of the Group (if
the transactions involve provision of goods or services by the
Group); and

4, have not exceeded the relevant annual caps disclosed in

previous announcements.

The Board acknowledged the receipt of the auditors’ confirmation
letter dated 31 March 2021 which confirms the matters as required
by Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

Subsisting connected transaction entered in previous year
Sale and purchase agreement of Husab uranium concentrates

CGN Global, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into
the sale and purchase agreement of Husab uranium concentrates
with Swakop, a fellow subsidiary of Controlling Shareholder of
the Company, on 14 June 2019, pursuant to which CGN Global
shall buy and Swakop shall sell 1.55 million lbs of Husab Uranium
Concentrates, which shall be delivered in batches over a period of
seven years from 2019 in accordance with the stipulated delivery
schedule.

CGN Mining Company Limited Annual Report 2020
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NOTIFIABLE TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Reporting Period, except for above announced continuing
connected transactions, the Company has not carried out other
notifiable transactions and connected transactions that needed to be
disclosed.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group entered into certain transactions with “related parties” as
defined under the applicable accounting standards. A summary of the
related party transactions entered into by the Group during Reporting
Period is contained in note 35 to consolidated financial statements.

Save for (i) purchases of natural uranium resources from Semizbay-U
and (i) dividend income received from Semizbay-U, which do not
constitute connected transaction of the Company, all the other
related party transactions constitute connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions of the Company, among which
all such transactions are fully exempted connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions, as the case may be, save for (i)
sales of natural uranium resources to China Uranium Development
(a subsidiary of CGNPC-URQ), (i) interest income from CGNPC
Huasheng, (iii) Interest income from CGN Finance; (iv) rental income
from CGNPC-URC, and (v) purchases of natural uranium resources
from Swakop.

The disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules have been complied in respect of the non-fully exempted
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions under
the announcements of the Company dated 9 May 2019, 14 May
2019 and 14 June 2019 and the circular of the Company dated 9
September 2019.

,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, ’
FTHRERZRBAERS
B B ERRERER S - AATK

BERETRENRIRFERBENFER
2o

BB LR S

AEEEREBESEANERNBIK 5T
VETRS - AEERBREHAETHE
577 R S BE AR S M IS A M LSS

COIREIPNGIE =S NS k=0 A (D EA I PN
A1 &9 A B IR ARG AN A R BRIE AR
SO - B EMABR R S A A B
BRERFRFERERS  EP2IHA
PHRENBERZIIBFEBRERS (R
BRME) » HO)mPEHEER (P EZ
MERRHOWNBEAR) BERRMER
(i #e R BB AZ EE B BB AL (i) i
BEAZ B AU BB LB ¢ (v)He R A% i
¥BBEREOBSWA : RVv)AETRIAF]
FEB RAHEIRBRID o

NARBEIA2019F5 A9 ~ 2019657
148 %2019F6 A 14BN AE AR R H
HA2019F 9 AOHMBKF - Bt ARE
ZHACHNEER HNIFEBER FHET
T ETRAFEAASHRERTE -

HEZEXARAR —T-_ZFFH 89 1M



I 90

Directors’ Report

gEEHE

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of purchases and sales attributable to the Group’s
major suppliers and customers for the Reporting Period are as
follows:

Purchases Sales
— the largest supplier: 12%
— five largest suppliers: 51%

— the largest customer: 15%
— five largest customers: 56%

China Uranium Development, the controlling shareholder, is the
largest customer of the Group for the Reporting Period. Mr. An
Junjing, an ED and the chief executive officer of the Company, Mr.
Chen Deshao, an ED and the chief financial officer of the Company,
Mr. Yu Zhiping, a NED and chairman of the Company, Mr. Sun
Xu, a NED, Mr. Yin Xiong, a NED, were the directors and/or the
senior management of CGNPC-URC, the holding Company of
China Uranium Development, at different times during 2020. Save
as disclosed above, none of the Directors, their associates or any
Shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more
than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had an interest in the above
major suppliers or customers of the Group.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

During the Reporting Period, the Company (as service receiver)
and CGNPC-URC entered into “Shared Administrative Services
Agreement” for providing shared administrative services to the
Company by CGNPC-URC.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE WITH
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS OR ITS
SUBSIDIARIES

Save as disclosed in this report, there were no contracts of
significance or material contracts on provision of services between
the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the Company’s Controlling
Shareholders or any of its subsidiaries during the Reporting Period.

CGN Mining Company Limited Annual Report 2020
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OTHERS

Environmental Protection

The Company, as a green energy affiliate, pays high attention to
environmental protection. We vigorously promotes environmental
protection by promoting green, energy saving and environmental
protection concept, such as advocating the green office, encouraging
the replacement of paper document with electronic document, the use
of double-sided printing and eco-friendly appliances, etc. At the same
time, the Company also organizes irregular tree planting activities for
employees and promote the use of public transportation or walking
instead of driving by publicity activities, etc.

Relationship with Suppliers and Customers

During the period under review, the Company maintained a good
relationship with its suppliers and customers.

Social Participation

The Company actively participates in social charity, encourages and
organizes employees to participate in the “Love” activities such as
helping and visiting people in need.

Equal Opportunity and Diversity

The Company respects and treats every employee the same, and
promotes equal opportunity and policy of diversification regardless of
age, sex or marital status.

Compliance with laws and regulations

As of 31 December 2020 and thereafter and up to the date of this
report, to the knowledge of the Directors, the Group complied in all
material aspects with applicable laws, rules and regulations that have
a significant impact on the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the Reporting Period, none of the Directors or their respective
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had an interest in a
business which competes or likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly with the business of the Group and any other conflicts of
interest which any such person has or may have with the Group.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

During the Reporting Period, the Company has not entered into any
equity-linked agreement.

DONATIONS

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not make charitable
donations.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available and to the best
knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s issued
shares has been held by the public throughout the Reporting Period
and thereafter up to the date of this announcement, in compliance
with the requirements under the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2020 have been audited by BDO Limited who will retire
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

Given SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited had been serving as the
auditors of the Company for over ten years, the Audit Committee
considered that a new accounting firm should be engaged as the
auditors of the Company as a good corporate governance practice.
As a result, SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited did not stand for re-
appointment upon retirement as the auditors of the Company at the
conclusion of the annual general meeting of the Company held on 18
June 2020 and BDO Limited has been appointed as the auditors of
the Company in succession of SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited at the
annual general meeting of the Company held on 18 June 2020.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

No special matters need to be brought to the attention of
Shareholders after the reporting day.

By Order of the Board
Yu Zhiping

Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2021

CGN Mining Company Limited Annual Report 2020
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Enterprise Environmental, Social and Governance Report

TERR -HERERBRE

ABOUT THIS REPORT

This environmental, social and governance report (the “Report”)
discloses the practices and performance of the Group in
environmental, social and governance issues in the past year. The
Report is in compliance with the “comply or explain” provisions of the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG
Reporting Guide”) and contains all recommended disclosures in the
Guide.

REPORTING SCOPE

This Report covers the Group’s main operating sites including the UK
office and the Hong Kong office, and Semizbay-U in Kazakhstan, in
which the Company holds a 49% equity interest, as well as the two
mines under its management, Semizbay Mine and Irkol Mine (the
“Mines”). Although Semizbay-U is not a subsidiary of the Company
and its Mines are not directly operated by the Group, staff of the
Group have been sent to participate in its management and control.
In view of its significant impact on the Company’s operation and ESG
performance, it is included in the scope of this report.

The reporting period is from 1 January to 31 December 2020, the
same as the financial period of the annual report.

REPORTING PRINCIPLES

The Report follows the ESG Reporting Guide and applies the
following principles:

Materiality: In order to identify and assess material issues affecting
stakeholders, we conduct materiality assessment surveys through
a series of communication activities with stakeholders to determine
factors that have a material impact on the sustainable development of
the Group.

Quantitative: The Group makes records and estimates of quantitative
data and compares them with past performance data where feasible.
To ensure the accuracy of environmental KPIs, the Group has
commissioned an external consultant to conduct carbon assessment,
and adopted relevant national and international standards including
the guidelines issued by the National Development and Reform
Commission, ISO 14064-1, and Greenhouse Gas Protocol. The
quantitative information on social KPIs in the Report comes from the
statistical records of relevant departments of the Group.
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Balance: The information and cases herein are mainly sourced
from the Group’s statistical reports, relevant documents and
communications for 2020. The Group undertakes that there are no
misrepresentations and misleading statements in the Report, and
accept responsibility for the authenticity, accuracy and completeness
of the content herein. The information about the Mines herein is
sourced from local operators, and the Group has made truthful
disclosures based on the documents and information provided by
them.

Consistency: We follow the Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange for reporting.
Where there are any changes in the future that may affect the
comparison with previous reports, the Group will add notes to the
corresponding content of the report.

FEEDBACK

We welcome comments from stakeholders on our environmental,
social and governance measures and performance.
Please send us your suggestions or opinions via email at
ir.cgnmc@cgnpc.com.cn

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE STATEMENT OF THE BOARD

The Group has been committed to becoming a world-class nuclear
fuel supplier that provides safe, economical and reliable nuclear
fuel products and services for nuclear power plants. The Group
strives to create a more prosperous and sustainable society, and
hopes to bring long-term benefits to the society while pursuing good
business performance and sustained growth. The Board takes full
responsibility for the sustainable development of the Group and
leads the Group to fulfil its social responsibility. We also perform
sustainability risk management and maintain communication with
stakeholders to ensure that our development meets the expectations
of stakeholders. The Board is in overall charge of developing the
Group’s environmental, social and governance strategies and reports,
as well as monitoring and managing ESG-related risks. The Report
has also been confirmed and approved by the Board.

CGN Mining Company Limited Annual Report 2020
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In order for the Group to fulfil its vision of corporate social
responsibility, we have developed a set of core values of corporate

» o«

social responsibility, including “undertaking responsibility”, “rigorous

» o«

and practical”, “innovation”, “customer-oriented” and “creating value”.

Undertaking Responsibility

We believe that building a sustainable future for the earth leads to the
responsible growth of our business. Accordingly, the Board takes
ultimate responsibility for sustainable development of the Group. The
Board is tasked with formulating policies and strategies, and ensuring
environmental, social and governance risks are integrated into the
Group’s risk management mechanisms and long-term business
plans. the Company has established a sound comprehensive risk
management system to effectively identify, track and control risks
with reference to the 1ISO31000:2009 standard “Risk Management-
Principles and Guidelines” and the requirements of the Code on
Corporate Governance Practices on risk management. We strictly
implement the Comprehensive Risk Management Measures, and
have set up separate risk management procedures for comprehensive
risk management. The Board, the management, the risk management
department and business departments perform their respective duties
for risk management to ensure that the Group’s risk management
system is running efficiently. We have established a risk management
and internal control system.

Rigorous and practical

At the operational level, our business units and departments keep
track of our operational performance and ensure compliance
with all applicable laws and regulations. We also engage external
professional consultants to comprehensively review the soundness
and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and market
value management systems. By conducting special audits, risk
management assessment and internal control evaluation, and
regularly providing management recommendations to the Board, the
audit department effectively prevents and monitors relevant risks that
exist in the operations and management of the Group, played the
positive role of internal audit in risk prevention and control and internal
control, and ensured the operational compliance of the Group.
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Innovation

We constantly look for ways to improve our business, and introduce
innovative environmental management projects to reduce pollution
and save natural resources. A large wastewater recycling system has
been built to save annual industrial water consumption of the Mines
by 10%. In addition, the Mines have installed solar heat exchangers
for indoor heating and built photovoltaic power stations to meet their
daily lighting needs with solar energy, saving approximately 5% of
electricity consumption. These measures reduce carbon emissions
and energy consumption.

Customer oriented

We strive to deliver products and services that attain the highest
levels of safety and quality. The Group has formulated strict quality
and safety policies providing clear basis for all its operations, so as to
enhance the quality and efficiency of work.

Creating value

In the context of deepening reform of the industry, the Group is
restructuring its employee training programmes. It is crucial for us
to ensure that our employees can develop and improve their skills
in their career. In addition to our employees, we also care about
community development. In the past year, the Group contributed
to community development in different fields through cultural and
educational support and other activities.

Looking forward, the Group will continue to improve its internal control
system, incorporate the requirements for strengthening internal
control into the management procedure documents, and strengthen
supervision over the implementation of various measures of the
Group to prevent internal control risks. The Group is studying how to
establish a sound long-term incentive and restraint mechanism to link
the growth of employees with the development of the Group, so as to
encourage employees to make maximum contribution to the Group,
stimulate the vitality of the Group as a whole, and promote its high-
quality development.

CGN Mining Company Limited Annual Report 2020
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STAKEHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT AND
MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

The Group understands that listening to stakeholders’ opinions and
effectively and continuously responding to and addressing their
concerns are indispensable for its business plan and development
and the fulfilment of its corporate social responsibility. As such, we
endeavour to get a deep understanding of the concerns of different
stakeholders, and build a relationship of mutual trust and mutual
benefit with them to promote sustainable development.

The Group endeavours to adopt the opinions of stakeholders
(including shareholders, customers, employees, suppliers, regulators
and the public) through constructive communication and protect
their rights and interests, so as to determine the Group’s long-term
development direction and maintain close relations with stakeholders.
The Group regularly disclose its operating performance and project
progress on the Group’s website (www.cgnmc.com) and the
information disclosure website designated by the Stock Exchange
(HKEXnews: www.hkexnews.hk). In addition, when receiving inquiries
from investors, the Group will promptly get in touch with them
and invite them to visit the Group or attend teleconferences where
the Group will answer their questions to help them understand its
operating information. Meanwhile, the Group holds roadshows in
various forms such as results presentations to introduce the latest
information of the Group from time to time and invites investor
representatives, potential investors and analysts to attend the
roadshows.
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The Group communicates with stakeholders in the following ways:

Major stakeholders

ERFHHE

AEEESHENBETAMT

Communication methods

BEARX

Investors

BREH

Customers

P

Employees

il
H

\
A

Suppliers

At

After internal communication, we identified the following aspects as
the key areas having significant impact on the Group’s sustainable

development:

Environmental

RERE

Maintain close, transparent and efficient communication with
shareholders through regular investor meetings, annual general
meetings, emails, investor relations hotline and investor mailbox and
announcements.

MBTHREESSZ  RIREFAG BB  REZEUERRERKE
EEMRAEELRN  BRHERIERT BRARSRESR -
Establish a department and delicated person to deal with needs of
customer and give timely response to problems raised.
REFIBPFIRBEAHOTFF R REFHEIRNOBES T RE -
Develop measures for employment and employee benefits, and
strengthen employees’ awareness of occupational safety and health
through training.

HEEBNRE TRAGIE  BREIINARAE THREL 2 RERZE
B o

Carry out open and transparent procurement through emails,
meetings, review and evaluation process to achieve mutual benefit
and win-win results with suppliers.

FRED - T BZRETHRRE - ERAFSHANREECE - Eit
JEBE R H R

KaRNEDERE - BAIEAEATHIER
REARNEENRHERRAEEATENS
m :

e Pollution Control
VEE Sl

e Making Good Use of Resources
ZRER

e Promoting Green Operations

iR 2E
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Equal Employment e  Supply Chain Management
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Occupational Health and Safety Quiality Products
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Training and Development Corporate Governance
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Protection of Rights and Interests Giving Back to Society
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A.

Environmental

1.

Emissions

The Group is committed to environmental protection
and sustainable development in a drive to fulfil its
social responsibility as a corporate citizen. To achieve
a better green life, we have formulated a series of
measures to reduce environmental impact, control
exhaust and greenhouse gas emissions and discharge
to water and land, reduce the generation of hazardous
and non-hazardous waste, so as to honour our
continued commitment to environmental protection.

For emission and waste management, the Group aims
to fully comply with the regulatory requirements and
strictly abide by all applicable environmental laws and
regulations, such as the Environmental Protection
Law of the People’s Republic of China. During the
Reporting Period, the Group had no violation of any
relevant regulations.
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cHME  HEREASEE 0 =
The Group undertakes to reduce the impact of its SEABRLEBEEY
business operations on neighbouring areas. Due to il B2 - BRE
our business characteristics, none of our offices has B BMETHEE
a significant amount of exhaust emissions. However, BRANEY S BERNNE
we require all offices and the Mines to strictly abide RN BREMERK
by local regulations on exhaust emissions. The Mines IS BRIEENENE A
have each obtained an exhaust emission permit issued & R BERLEYE B o TRI5 IR
by Kazakhstan’s environmental protection authority, 2 U MA B 7o BT BUR IR
and regularly conduct exhaust emission tests to ensure R B0 PP 88 B9 B SR BE AR
that the exhaust emissions do not exceed the emission A M E BRMEATREE RBE
limits stipulated by relevant laws and regulations. The BAROR] - DATER BE RBE R
air pollutants emitted by the Group mainly come from = TNEBEABAERER
fuel consumption during operations and by vehicles. It REHERUER - SEHEN
is crucial to implement emission control measures to LERBEMEEKRA
reduce environmental impact and protect the health EEREPRERELEZ
of employees. We gradually upgrade machinery PR B RE o B HEBE BOE I
and transportation equipment to replace diesel and B OB R IR R & R
gasoline with natural gas. This move can lower the EEEREEHEE - B
consumption of diesel and gasoline and reduce the VB 25 F AR A I I B 3%
emissions of sulphur dioxide and other exhaust gases & BARARR R S0h 3k
and carbon dioxide caused by the combustion of FUBRIEREL R EE R
diesel and gasoline. During the Reporting Period, SR ERE 2 8 0 TR
the gasoline-fuelled administrative vehicles at the RBURL A B R e 40| & R0E
headquarters of the Mines were converted to run on T8 —a{tMENER
natural gas. B R =S bR BERR - &
HE MR - RIS AR
BRI H R EE R A
The annual emissions of gas fuel at the Mines and BRI REMRE R EHEHF
vehicles are as follows: BEREENT -
Pollutants Air pollutant emissions
SEHRY BREEAHENE
Nitrogen Oxides (NOXx) kg 4,087.69
AEELY(NOX) T
Sulphur Dioxide (SOx) kg 4.46
WAk 1(SOx) T
Particulate Matter (PM) kg 309.08
FEHL(PM) TR
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pEEE  HEREREE .

It is an indisputable fact that global warming is
getting worse and worse. To solve such problems
as environmental pollution and greenhouse effect,
the world is focusing on developing clean energy.
The Group and the Mines are also involved in this
effort by mining natural uranium to provide a key fuel
for the nuclear energy industry. Yet, in the course of
operations, we inevitably generate some greenhouse
gas emissions. As a responsible enterprise, we
have formulated a series of regulations and rules in
accordance with relevant local laws and regulations to
reduce emissions.

To reduce emissions, the Group has adopted and
implemented a series of measures:

o We provide, and encourage employees to use,
video and telephone conference systems to
reduce the frequency of business travel and
the greenhouse gas emissions caused by
transportation;

o We have developed a regional procurement
policy to give preference to local suppliers, so as
to reduce energy consumption and greenhouse
gas emissions resulting from additional
transportation; and

° We give priority to the use of eco-friendly
equipment, such as choosing variable
frequency air conditioning, using refrigerants
with less damage to the ozone layer, and
replacing gas stoves with induction cookers.

WHELAEHREEZEDT
FNEE  RERRES
ARBRESERERE =
RIEBREZERZFER -
MASERES T2 HE
BB AR XA M
R REREERREHEZR
WAL - AMAEEERIESD
I 4 R 4t S 3 TS 2R — TE Y
BERBHN  ERAEEA
EhE  HfEREE
S MEREEER -
ET —RIMERGIAHRA -
SARAHEDA o

SHER OB R - K
KRB B — R R
21

. BT Y SEE
THEREBERER
SHAR - AR
Bk E R AR
RBEHSIZNR
ERBEH

. BT T B R I
REBOBR - &7
G NS 2
m o PAR D R EE S
B & %1 38 12 1 2E A0
B BE TROB 7 MOR =
REEAVBE ¢ &

. BERREARERD
B plm: e
S R R A
RIEE LA
A% R B EE
B BB R
TR

FREBEARAT —T-TF4E 101 NN



Enterprise Environmental, Social and Governance Report

TREBR A EREBRS

The greenhouse gas emissions of the Group are as

follows :

Greenhouse gas
emission category

BERBEHFBER

SEHREREBHREN

Hong Kong Offices

Greenhouse gas emissions
in total
A == & B

BRERBHME
Direct emissions (Scope 1)

BRI (EBE )

Energy-related indirect
emissions (Scope 2)

BERME BN (BE =)

Note:

factors

Scope 1 includes emissions from stationary combustion of
diesel and emissions from direct combustion of diesel from

mobile sources; and

Scope 2 includes indirect energy emissions from purchased

power.

Solid waste disposal

We have introduced several waste emission or
discharge reduction and control measures to
reasonably reduce the amount of waste generated
in the production process and ensure effective
management of temporary waste storage. All
offices and Mines are closely tracking of laws and
regulations and other requirements published by local
governments as well as actual conditions, and actively
and scientifically sort, collect, and store waste within

the Group.

I 102 CGN Mining Company Limited Annual Report 2020

The calculations were based on the Reporting Guidance on
Environmental KPIs issued by the Stock Exchange, 2006
IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories,
IPCC Fifth Assessment Report, and latest grid emission

EEREBPAE
Tonnes of carbon dioxide 18.93 18,414.20
equivalent
AWE_EtiRE=
Tonnes of carbon dioxide 0 2,435.02
equivalent
AE—E/tiRE S
Tonnes of carbon dioxide 18.93 15,979.17
equivalent
AE—a/tixE S
ML - RFE YRR PR
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EBEREAT
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The solid waste generated in UK and Hong Kong
offices mainly consists of three types: non-recyclable
domestic waste, recyclable domestic waste (cartons,
papers, waste metal, waste plastic bags, glass, etc.),
and hazardous waste (waste batteries, waste toner
cartridges, waste ink cartridges and other toxic and
hazardous waste). Recyclable wastes will be reused
as much as possible in day-to-day office operations,
or disposed by waste recycling stations. Hazardous
wastes will be stored separately and passed to
external agencies or returned to the manufacturer(s)
for disposal, and shall not be discarded randomly
in order to prevent re-contamination. Non-reusable
domestic wastes produced from the Hong Kong
office’s operation are under centralised management
by property management personnel of the office
building, and will be transported to a waste transfer
station for classification, and then transported to the
site designated by the municipal sanitation department
for disposal. Those produced from United Kingdom’s
office operation will be delivered to waste collection
station of the office building by cleaning workers and
then arranged for collection and treatment by the
municipal government.

Due to our business characteristics, none of our offices
generates a significant amount of hazardous waste.
Nevertheless, we actively promote the Mines to, in
strict accordance with local environmental laws and
regulations, transfer the hazardous waste generated
in the production process, such as lead-containing
accumulators and batteries, waste oil, and waste
chemical reagents, to qualified agencies for recycling
and disposal. In addition, in order to reduce the
generation of waste, the Mines also collect, classify,
and arrange recycling of non-hazardous waste such
as plastic glass and metal to encourage recycling.
For example, the Mines collect iron-containing solid
waste and put it in leaching solution pools to help
extract more natural uranium, thus reducing waste and
increasing output; and engage qualified processing
companies to recover, process and recycle hazardous
waste such as waste oil and drilling fluid.
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The amounts of hazardous and non-hazardous waste
generated by the Group are as follows :

Waste category

SENEEREZTERED
ELEWT

Unit Mines in Kazakhstan

BRI A

Hazardous waste
BEERY
Non-hazardous waste
BEREZY

2. Use of Resources

Climate change is a huge and complex challenge
we are facing nowadays. The Company deeply
understands that all companies have the responsibility
to protect the environment. Due to our business
characteristics, our offices do not need to use any
packaging materials in the course of operations. The
transportation and packaging of nuclear materials in
the Mines are carried out according to international
safety standards and the highest specifications, so as
to prevent any leakage and ensure public safety.

We advocate the use of energy-saving, efficient and
environmentally-friendly construction equipment,
machinery and office appliances recommended by the
state and the industry, and give preference to such
equipment with an aim to gradually improve energy
efficiency. Meanwhile, we keep ourselves updated on
the latest environmental news to optimise the existing
services, so as to reduce environmental pollution.
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A egmads | 3L o T SR A

TERE H8RkEREE ®
During the year, the Group implemented the FA - KEIE??PATE’\J
following energy-saving measures to control power B RESE BB LAYEHIFE S
consumption:

Energy-saving measures

EiRERE I

The Mines: e Conduct electricity consumption management in the

&% mine areas, and turn off lighting in warehouses and
dormitories when no one is there; power consumption
shall not exceed the average at full-load production;

. ﬂﬁ%l:ﬁﬁﬁéﬂ:ﬁﬁ;ﬁ’;:ﬁ B f&?ﬁ%fﬂf}\H 2 #F

fREA - AETHAZAREENTHRAE

e Set production sohedule for continuous production
and make reasonable production plans for the Mines
to prevent uneven power consumption and minimise
wastage of power arising from machine idling;

s BEERNEELEERE REEFSE ABLYLEE
FTE MEAETY  BRMSETEMERTUEN

e Review power consumption on a regular basis, and
assess and inspect those departments and workshops
with abnormal power consumption to ensure
reasonable power consumption;

o EHFMAER ﬁ* EE TP ERETMMR
& BRAESE

e prohibits the use of incandescent lamps in the Mines,
and installs and uses energy-saving LED lighting
systems to replace the original lightings;

o ML IEFRABRE @ AR AE A& e AILEDRREA
EEBRRARARE

e Forindoor heating, solar heat exchangers have been
installed to replace traditional fossil fuels through heat
exchange principles, thus reducing carbon emissions
and energy consumption; and

. N NUT E%‘%&?ﬁaﬁﬁ’jiw B - M ARRHRRIE
HM&LA% TACREHR Mt EEE - DUR D iR EE R B IR
/ﬁ%% 7 &

e Photovoltaic power stations have been built to meet
the daily lighting needs of the Mine, which is expected
to save 5% of power consumption.

o BETHATY KAKXGRHEERBESIEHETER
B3 - FERTRIEFES%HIAEEE ©
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TREBR dERER/BRE

Energy-saving measures

BRREHE I

UK Office and Hong Kong Office:
ERRAEREBRAE :
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Turn off the air conditioning and lighting equipment
immediately after leaving the office/conference room
and other rooms. Put up a “Save Energy” label at the
exit of each room as a reminder;
ERMAE,/SREEFRRACATER  B#EEZE
AN BREARR A o WAEF L 8L ETEA)BEIR IR R IA
TERRR o

Turn off excessive lighting in places that are very bright.
Keep the indoor temperature at 25T;
FEHARBBEM T - ERRBSNRARE - RIF=
MREE25T

Wear light clothes in hot months to minimise the need
for air conditioning;
ERRMNAHOFERENRE  FEREYHE
Sk s

Turn off computers and unnecessary lighting during

1l

O]

b

non-working hours or when leaving the workplace to
reduce power consumption;

FEIEP NS T ERE A TIERRE - BT T Y%
ZHREARE - LURDHEEE

Activate the lock or sleep mode of computer through
the “power management” function when needed;
RERER - EHEBIEREERINEEEKEAFIL
FHRERER

Turn off unnecessary servers at night, Saturday
afternoon and public holidays; and

ERE - BT FANAREKE - BEXELTEOF
Aras + &

Use energy-saving lighting fixtures, such as LED
lighting, to achieve higher energy efficiency.
EEEAGENRAREA - K _EE(LED) - LAE

ERSRLRME ©
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TERR - HERERBE

The total energy consumption of the Group is as

follows:

Energy type
BERERN

Total energy consumption

BREIRIEE

Total energy consumption
intensity

BREREEEE

Direct energy consumption

HERRES

Direct energy consumption
intensity

EREREERE

Indirect energy consumption

MR EE

Indirect energy consumption
intensity

RZEREETE

thousand kWh
FHEF EL ks
thousand kWh/person

FEFEEA
thousand kWh

T F FL B
thousand kWh/person

FEFEE A
thousand kWh

FET LS
thousand kWh/person

FRFREE A

Note:  The unit of energy data is converted into kWh based on the

lower heat value;

Direct energy consumption represents diesel consumption;

and

Indirect energy consumption represents power consumption.

Hong Kong Offices
HEREBRAE

SERAAFERELT -

UK and Mines in

Kazakhstan

W E R HTE RS

21.54 31,886.81

1.13 1,678.25

N/A 9,059.42
i@ A

N/A 476.81
TiE A

21.54 22,827.39

1.13 1,201.44

Mk RRESERERER

HRTRE :

HEERER R

8K

=3

hEZEEAR AR

MEERFEERENR
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The water used in all of the offices of the Group is
mainly sourced from municipal pipelines. Although the
operating offices of the Group do not have difficulty
in sourcing water in their daily operations, we still
persistently reduce the water resources used in
business operations and instruct the operating offices
and the Mines to strictly control the discharge and
treatment of sewage and strengthen the management
of water resources, with a view of “saving water and
using it wisely”. All of our operating sites and the Mines
implement a variety of water management measures,
including:

° Promote the concept of water conservation to
employees, and put up the “Save Water” label
in appropriate places to remind employees to
reduce water use in daily operations and turn
off the faucet immediately after using it, so as
to reduce unnecessary waste and achieve the
purpose of water conservation;

o Regularly inspect water use areas in the
Mines sites, strengthen the daily maintenance
management of water equipment, and regularly
maintain water supply facilities such as water
pipes and hoses to reduce hidden leakage and
prevent water waste caused by facility damage;
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A large sewage recycling system was built
where sewage generated in production will be
transported to a biological purification station
for purification and disinfection, and then be
reused in garden irrigation, equipment cleaning
and production. The system can save 10% of
industrial water for the Mines each year;

Optimize work procedures and introduce
advanced alternative materials and equipment,
and calculate the amount of wastewater
generated each year and estimate future
wastewater generation;

The domestic wastewater of the hydrometallurgy
workshop is transferred to the septic tank
after chlorination, transported to a biological
purification pool through plastic pipeline for
purification, and then reused; and

Arrange reasonable use of water based on
production plan, and conduct assessment
of water consumption on a regular basis to
develop more effective water-conservation
plans and measures, thereby reducing
unnecessary waste.

The total water consumption of the Mines is as follows:

BT REEE R
KBEBAZRLE
AR E A REEK
SHANEYMEL
U EOFEEEF R
BEREAMLER
AR - B
HREERKIRES
o WERAUE
ESEFHE10%
B TZEAK

Bt TIERR R
BRI B AN
HARE  ARS
4 1 8 K M) 2 B
B 5 AR K A
B TTR

K6 B T B AR R
KEARXEHE
M BEKEBRE
REXB EYEL
MEITEL - AR
BIRFA : &

REEMSIAER
BE R K B E HIRE
AXE @ LEIEE
BREEIKT &R
RO B
BEHPRE °

TS RFKEMT

Mines in Kazakhstan

S B e T B B A5
Water consumption m? 104,544.00
FEKE AV PN
Water consumption intensity mé/person 5,502.32
FRERE SRS A
Note:  The water consumed in the HK and UK offices is immaterial 5 B 05 B 3 =5 B O FR 7K

% - BElRYMEEEIM
Rt REMERSEDN
FKEFEHE ©

and is provided by the property management and there is no
record for the water consumption of both offices.
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Environment and natural resources

The Group actively integrates environmental protection
responsibility into its daily operations. We will continue
to examine feasible strategies and measures for energy
conservation and look for more opportunities for
energy conservation and carbon reduction. The Group
also encourages its subsidiaries and the Mines to
comply with the relevant state’s green economy policy
to reduce the consumption of the environment and
natural resources.

The success of environmental management relies
on the support and cooperation of employees. As
such, the Group and the Mines provide environmental
protection education to employees, encourage them
to practise energy conservation and environmental
protection in every aspect of work and life, and
advocate the conservation of water, electricity, paper
and office supplies. Employees are also organised
to take environmental protection training courses
and examinations on a regular basis to enhance
their awareness of environmental protection.
We also encourage employees to participate in
environmental protection activities organized by
various organizations from time to time to enhance
employees’ understanding of environmental protection
and environmental management. Moreover, we inform
employees of energy savings through environmental
protection signs displayed at prominent location of the
operating sites, such as well sites, hydrometallurgy
workshops, office area and computers.

In order to undertake its responsibility as a corporate
citizen, the Group promotes green operations and
works on all aspects of its operations to reduce
environmental damage. Our operating offices
and the Mines have a safety and environmental
management department to take charge of inspecting
and supervising the environmental protection and
management of the Mines.
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HE

In terms of conservation, it is strictly forbidden to hunt
and kill animals in the Mines and the surrounding areas,
and vehicles of the Mines and external contractors are
prohibited from entering the vegetation area outside
the Mines.

Without the permission of the government, the
Mines shall not destroy or transplant plant species
protected by the state; the explored mining areas
will be reclaimed with surface vegetation to restore
the original ecological environment and reduce the
damage caused to the environment. In addition, as
to the procurement of materials, we give preference
to materials that have a relatively low impact on the
environment. For example, the Mines use casing
pipes made of non-toxic polyethylene and polyvinyl
chloride for well completion to prevent pollution of the
underground environment.

We have put in place green office measures for office
operations, including: attaching a power saving sign to
each power control device; setting the air conditioning
system to keep the office room temperature at 25°C;
building an auxiliary office automation (OA) system to
reduce the use of paper for application submission;
and implementing paperless office by using email
communication at work as much as possible to
reduce paper consumption. We also conduct internal
communication from time to time to strengthen the
implementation of these measures. Moreover, as
for purchasing stationery items and equipment, it
is the Group’s on-going task to encourage green
procurement strategies. For instance, prioritizing to the
use of refrigerators and other electrical appliances with
energy efficiency labels, using various environmentally
friendly materials such as reusable ink cartridges,
recycled papers and second-handed furniture, so as to
avoid consumption of excessive resources.
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Climate Change

The Group has always been concerned about climate
change issues. For this reason, the Group strives to
take the best measures to reduce greenhouse gas
emissions from business operations and combat
climate change. In order to cope with unexpected
extreme weather such as severe cold or typhoon, the
Mines have formulated emergency response plans for
extreme and severe weather. For example, the Mines
provide heating for employees in the northern mining
area where it is often very cold in winter; equip dressing
rooms with sauna to help outdoor workers quickly
recover their body temperature; and set up observation
stations in the mining areas to provide necessary
support for outdoor workers. In case of severe
weather such as typhoon, rainstorm and extreme heat,
managers need to mobilise staff and take preventive
measures, and schedule employees’ commuting to
and from work in accordance with relevant regulations,
so as to ensure the safety of employees. The Group
also takes advice from local government departments
and develops relevant protective measures to avoid
physical damage as much as possible.
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B.

Social

Employment

Employees are the most valuable asset of the Group.
We protect the rights and interests of employees,
care for their health and safety, improve their working
conditions, and explore better career development
opportunities for them. As an employer that advocates
equal opportunities and cares about employees,
the Group and the Mines uphold the principles of
“fairness, openness, and employee-position matching”
for recruitment management. According to such
principles, we only focus on whether each applicant’s
capabilities and qualifications fit the requirements of
the relevant position during recruitment. The Group
respects employees’ personal freedom, protects their
personal privacy, establishes a diverse culture, and has
zero tolerance for any discrimination against employees
based on race, colour, age, gender, sexual orientation,
ethnicity, pregnancy, belief or marital status.

The Group and the Mines have always entered into
employment contracts with employees in accordance
with employment laws of the regions in which we
operate, specifying the rights and obligations between
the Group and employees, so as to create the stable
and sustainable employment. We have established
specific measures for dismissal and compensation.
If an employee seriously misbehaves in the course
of work and causes damage to the interests of the
Group, the Group and the Mines may terminate his/her
employment contract in accordance with the relevant
employment laws and request compensation from
him/her according to law.

=&

BEEREEXREEMNE
E o RIFRERE W EF
MM BEEREMNR
2 REETEGRE X
REERREHNEXHE
BEe - FA—ERER
EFELRBELEINE
- ARERBESHEAL
BEEEFEFHAIAL
AR ARTER] RBER
8 RBZRA - BAE
BEEIRRARHREE
WEAENEERLSES
BALFTER K - AEE
EE8THMEAEH &2
YEREXIE - BRTREA
BEG - Fie - MRl
W@ - Bk BK - E
Z - FREBERRRNE
T BB B AR
B -EEEINEAR
B - ReEE TEARLR

AR B K WES — B AR
5B E R (B 1R A f]
BERFERELH - AR
g B 2 MM HEE
% BEEBEMBRE
REZRNERER - &
IR AR BB KR BR (B
HE - FREETIFBRE
BEBEREREZTEENT
m KRERESE A
55 A E AP MR
ETRIEERELD - R
TMROE DI 2 K AE H A 1

RE1E -

FREBEARAT —T-TF4%E 113 N



The Group adhere to the management philosophy of
“setting post-specific salaries and adjusting salaries for
job changes”, and have developed a comprehensive
annual salary review mechanism. According to its
annual total salary budget, the Company formulates
a salary adjustment plan as appropriate based on the
benchmarking against similar positions in the market
and the performance appraisal grades of employees
for the previous year to provide employees with fair
and competitive compensation packages.

We have a set of management policies for promotion
and transfer of employees. The transfer or promotion
of an employee’s position is suggested based on
business needs, and an appraisal will be conducted on
the performance of such employee. The appraisal result
will be reviewed by the human resources department
and approved by the chief executive officer. Career
progression of an employee is determined based
on the performance in its results and works and the
qualification of individual. We encourage employee
development and give priority to internal selection for
hiring talents under the same conditions.

Providing employees with generous benefits can help
a company attract and retain talents. As such, the
Group provides employees with medical insurance,
maternity leave for women and paternity leave for men;
the Mines offer holiday allowances and maternity leave
subsidies to care about the lives of employees, and
provide employees with maternity leave of up to three
years and one month of paid leave in accordance with
local labour laws.
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The Group understands that the cohesion of
employees is a key driving force for corporate
development, and good communication channels
with employees serve as a cornerstone of the Group’s
operations. As such, the Group welcomes and
values employees’ opinion. Employees can express
their suggestions to the Group at any time through
suggestion box, email, telephone, and social media.

We always value the physical and mental health of
employees and support them to enjoy living a full
life in their spare time. The Group has set up a 24-
hour psychological counselling hotline service for
employees and issued them Happy-feeling cards.
The Company also provides anti-stress training
to stimulate employees’ awareness of stress
management and expand their physical and mental
resources, so as to reduce the impact of stress on
themselves and the Company and help them manage
stress more effectively. In addition, the Group’s
employee handbook stipulates that employees are not
encouraged to work overtime in order to ensure that
they have enough rest time.

The Group strictly abides by relevant laws and
regulations on remuneration and dismissal, recruitment
and promotion, working hours, holidays, equal
opportunities, diversity, anti-discrimination and other
benefits and welfare, such as the Labour Law of the
People’s Republic of China, the Labour Contract Law
of the People’s Republic of China, and the Social
Insurance Law of the People’s Republic of China;
the Employment Ordinance and the Employees’
Compensation Ordinance in Hong Kong; and the Equal
Opportunities Employment Policy, the Equality Act
2010 in the United Kingdoms. There was no violation
during the Reporting Period.
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EBRTEERE D E
BAZIT

The number of employees of the Group by
category is as follows:

UK and

Hong Kong Offices Mines in Kazakhstan

e S MR RS

o O

O N =+ N O O

o

Category

By gender &R E 5
Male Esla

Female Z

By employment type RERERE S
Full-time o

Part-time RO
Apprentices and interns BREMEE4
Contracthete ! B HyE

By age group BFERER B 5
Under 25 255 A TN

2510 34 25Z345%

35 to 44 35F445%

45 to 54 45ZF545%

55 to 64 55E645%

65 or above 65583k A

By region Bt EE 5

The PRC &

Hong Kong BB

Others Efth

Note 1: Contract employees are only presented in the data
classified by employment type, and are not included in
the data classified by other categories.
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CEBE HEREA®RE

The employee turnover rate of the Group by category is
as follows:

SEETARERNE DR
BRAKLLERMT

Category Hong Kong Offices Mines in Kazakhstan
HEREBRAE e BE e B H %5

Pk

By gender RERES
Male St
Female egis

By age group RERERE D
Under 25 25 AT
25 to 34 25F345%
35to 44 35F445%
45 to 54 ABEB4RR,
55 to 64 55ZE645%
65 or above 65p% 8k A
By region %t E 85
The PRC H

Hong Kong B
Others HAth

2. Health and Safety

The Group and the Mines always put the safety of
employees first. Accordingly, we have established a
safety management system to ensure that employees
can work in a safe working environment at all times.
In order to implement the safety production policy of
“safety first, prevention prioritized, and comprehensive
governance”, improve the Group’s ability to cope
with risks and prevent accidents, protect employees
from occupational hazards during production and
operations, and prevent occupational safety accidents
and occupational diseases, the Group has developed
management systems for safety management,
accident prevention, emergency rescue, and
occupational health of employees.

8% 5%
0% 12%
0% 2%
17% 14%
0% 5%
0% 3%
0% 3%
0%
0% 0%
14% 6%
0% 6%
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In order to improve its safety management, the Mines
have set up a safety department to take charge of
the safety affairs in the Mines. The safety department
conducts safety inspections on the work sites on a
weekly basis to review the Group’s occupational health
and safety performances, reports the existing risks
and proposes relevant rectification measures, and
supervises and tracks the progress of the rectification
measures to further reduce the accident rate. There
are one occupational health and safety specialist and
two first-aiders to take care of the safety matters in UK
office. Moreover, we conduct safety risks assessment
on a yearly basis, and take immediate rectification
actions for the problems appearing to minimize the
safety risk of possible problems.

The Group recognizes that safety risk assessment of
the production sites can effectively prevent accidents.
As such, the Mines will conduct analysis and risk
assessment of the working environment to identify the
processes and areas with risks, and take appropriate
corrective and preventive measures for operations that
fail to comply with the internal occupational health and
safety regulations. Based on the safety risk assessment
results, the Mines have developed a number of specific
safety measures, such as: provide sufficient personal
protective equipment, like safety belts for aerial work,
anti-dust and anti-harmful gas masks and acid-
proof overalls, and require that employees must wear
these equipment when entering a workplace; arrange
for motor vehicle safety inspectors to inspect the
driving conditions of mineral vehicles and the health
conditions of drivers in order to ensure the safe driving
of vehicles; and test the operational status of relevant
equipment and mineral vehicles on a regular basis. We
are dedicated to promoting safety culture to ensure
the occupational safety and health of employees.
The Mines require all employees to receive safety
training and pass a safety examination before taking
up a job. In addition, the Mines also arrange a safety
examination every two years so that employees can
review and update their safety knowledge.
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The Mines are very concerned about the health
of employees. Each year, the Group provides
comprehensive physical examinations for employees,
and invite medical experts to give health lectures to
increase the health knowledge of employees. We
are also concerned about employees’ mental health.
The Group and the Mines organized psychological
awareness workshops for employees on a regular
basis, in order to improve their social skills, emotion
management skills and productivity. Meanwhile, as
aforesaid we specifically purchased mental health
consulting services that offered full mental support to
employees with individual counselling over the phone.

The Group strictly abides by relevant laws and
regulations on the provision of a safe working
environment and protection of employees from
occupational hazards, such as the Law of the People’s
Republic of China on the Prevention and Control of
Occupational Diseases. There was no violation during
the period.

Development and Training

To maintain the Group’s competitiveness in the world
of rapid development of technology, it is important
that we keep our skills and knowledge up-to-date.
Therefore, the Group heavily invests resources in
the training and continuous education of employees
and establishes an on-the-job training system.
We encourage and promote the vocational and
professional development of employees. Each year, we
develop annual personal training plans for employees.
Every employee will be arranged to take a series of
job skills training courses every year based on his/
her annual training plan. The subjects of the courses
are closely related to the actual work of the employee,
which can help quickly improve his/her job skill in both
theory and practice and thus continuously enhance
his/her vocational and professional capabilities.
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In order to speed up the adaptation of new employees
to the working environment and their integration into
the Group’s culture, new employees will receive short-
term induction training after joining the Group to learn
about the Group’s history, mission, corporate culture,
and system and policy requirements. The Group
will assign an induction mentor to each employee to
help them to start their work smoothly as soon as
possible. The Mines provide various training courses
on professional skills and language skills for employees
to equip themselves for work. The courses cover
engineering design, instrumentation and software
applications, and English and Kazakh learning. Since
2017, the Mine have carried out winter and summer
camp learning programs every year for employees to
acquire knowledge regarding lean production through
a relaxed team learning model, thereby enhancing
the professional management skills of employees and
improve the operating efficiency of the Group.

The Group is well aware that it is extremely important
to provide opportunities for the younger generation
to give full play to their strengths and develop their
careers. In order to broaden the horizons of young
personnel, the Mines encourage them to receive
continuing education and sign further study contracts
with them to fund their study and retain their jobs.
The Group matches its development needs with the
career development goals of employees, and guides
employees to realise their value and dreams in life by
accumulating knowledge and upgrading skills, so that
they can grow together with the Group.
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The Group’s percentage of employees trained by
category and the average hours of training completed
per employee are as follows:

UK and Hong Kong Offices
RERBRPLE
Average
training
hours of
employees

Percentage
of employees
trained (%)
&l
EEWH
BAH(%)
By gender &R &S

Male St 68%
Female Tt 32%

By employee type RESERES
Senior management BREEE 5%
Middle management HRERE 1%
Supervisor g 26%
General employee —&KET 58%

4. Labour Standards

The Group has been committed to protecting its
employees’ rights and interests and creating a fair
working environment for them. Therefore, the Group
strictly prohibits the recruitment of child labour and
illegal labour and the use of any forms of forced
labour. The Group strictly complies with local laws
in relation to employment, including the Labour
Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Labour
Contract Law of People’s Republic of China, the Social
Insurance Law of the People’s Republic of China in
the PRC; the Employment Ordinance and Employees’
Compensation Ordinance in Hong Kong and the Equal
Opportunities Employment Policy, the Equality Act
2010 in the UK. During the Reporting Period, there
was no case of prosecution for violation of laws and
regulations relating to the prevention of child labour or
forced labour.

in each
category
(hours)
FEHIETH
T35
R (M)

70.00
80.00

70.00
0.00
73.33
0.00

SEEZETERENESHE
JEEBS L REBEESR
7R X A8 15 R 2
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Mines in Kazakhstan

R AR
Average
training
hours of
employees
Percentage in each
of employees category
trained (%) (hours)
I ZERHEIN
EEM T35
BAt(%)  BENE)

92% 22.84

8% 22.04

3% 43,00
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8% 21.35
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The Group’s employee handbook stipulates that
employees are not encouraged to work overtime in
order to guarantee that they have enough rest time. In
addition, the Group has established the Measures for
Employment and Labour Management of the Group,
which clearly state that the requirements of national
and local labour laws and regulations must be met.
Before hiring any applicant, the Group will thoroughly
check all kinds of documents and files related to the
applicant’s age, and take effective measures to verify
his/her age, so as to ensure that the applicant reaches
the legal working age. The employment contract of
the Group states the rights and responsibilities of
both parties to protect employees’ legitimate rights
and interests in accordance with the requirements
of local laws and regulations. The Group ensures
that all employees work on a voluntary basis and
prohibits any form of indentured servitude, bonded
labour, corporal punishment, imprisonment or threat
of violence. In addition, we allow employees to
exercise their freedom of association by participating
in trade unions and collective bargaining, and to report
any suspected misconduct or abuse through the
Group’s whistleblowing mechanism. The Mines also
abide by the provisions of Kazakhstan’s labour law
concerning the prohibition of forced labour, including
the prohibition of servitude, corporal punishment or
threat of violence against employees, and appropriately
arrange their working hours and workload.

The Group strictly complies with relevant laws and
regulations on the prevention of child labour or forced
labour, such as the Labour Law of the People’s
Republic of China. There was no violation during the
Reporting Period.
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Supply Chain Management

The steady development of the Group’s business is
dependent on the reliable support of its suppliers.
Supplier is one of the major stakeholders who
contributes to business value recreation, with tight
bonding with the Group. The Group is also fully
committed to building a good partnership with our
suppliers. To promote closer relations and cooperation
with suppliers, the Group has created the flexible
procurement standards in order to cater different
needs in our supply chain.

The Group is proud to provide excellent products
and services to our customers. Working closely with
a wide range of suppliers is key to our success. The
Group established a sound supplier selection process
to ensure potential suppliers and subcontractors
engaging in fair competition and having equal
opportunity. In addition, all materials and service
contracts of the Mines shall be publicised and go
through a tender process on the tender website of the
National Welfare Fund Samruk-Kazyna of Kazakhstan.
Prospective suppliers shall provide all necessary
qualification documents on the website for review to
ensure that the process is open, fair and impartial. The
Mines also set up a bidding committee composed of
employees or management from various departments
to conducts final review and approval of tendering and
bidding.
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The Group’s purchasing department conducts quality
inspections of suppliers’ products from time to time
to ensure the stable and sufficient supply of materials
and goods at the agreed quality, time and price and
other terms of service. The Mines have also established
strict criteria for selection and performance assessment
of suppliers, covering the advance level of suppliers’
equipment and the reliability of their technical
capabilities. The assessment criteria also cover
environmental and safety issues, including assessing
the energy consumption of suppliers’ equipment, the
impact of their production process on the environment,
the extent to which the consumption of raw materials is
reduced, and the safety of their equipment.

As a responsible corporate citizen, in addition to
seriously taking two major issues of environmental
protection and social responsibility, the Group and the
Mines encourage suppliers and service contractors to
join hands with us to help mitigating environmental and
social impacts that induced by business operations.
The Group urges them to promote environmental
protection and social responsibilities in all aspects. We
require our suppliers and contractors to comply with
the Group’s policies on environmental protection and
occupational health and safety and strict corporate

governance standards.
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We have formulated Supplier Qualification Assessment
Questionnaire, and require suppliers to complete a
self-assessment on environmental and social risks,
in order to reduce environmental and social risks
throughout our value chain. Furthermore, the Group
has established stringent criteria for supplier selection
and performance assessment. The criteria include
supplier’s equipment, reliability of their technical skills,
environmental protection and the safety scope. Energy
consumption of supplier’'s equipment, environmental
impact of the production process and the level of
reduction in raw material consumption are also
considered. Moreover, equipment safety is also one of
the criteria.

When purchasing materials and equipment, the Group
will comprehensively consider their environmental
performance. For example, when purchasing machines
and lighting systems, we will give priority to more
energy-efficient appliances on the basis of meeting the
technical parameters, with a view to integrating the
Group’s environmental vision into all aspects of the
supply chain.

The number of major suppliers of the Group by region is
as follows:
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Product Liability

The Group strictly abides by the relevant laws and
regulations and industry quality standards to improve
its quality management standards, protect the
basic rights and interests of customers, and provide
responsible products and services to customers, so as
to achieve the “quality, environment and safety” goals
of 100% customer satisfaction, zero complaints and
zero accidents.

The Mines have obtained ISO 9001 Quality
Management System certification to guarantee that
the entire mining process is carried out in accordance
with the international standards. This reflects the
Group’s commitment to operating its business with the
highest quality standards. The management policies
and quality standards under the quality management
system framework have been fully promulgated and
implemented across the Group.

In order to ensure the quality and reliability of the
products provided, the Group will conduct sample
analysis before delivery according to the customer’s
product standards. In addition, the Mines strictly
stipulate that during the storage and transportation
of products, all uranium containers must be sealed
to the maximum extent possible to avoid leaking of
radioactive materials and damage to the biosphere.
In the course of transportation, it is required that
the hazardous nature of uranium products must be
clearly marked on the transportation vehicles for safety
warning.

I 126 CGN Mining Company Limited Annual Report 2020

Enterprise Environmental, Social and Governance Report
TERE - HERERRSE

EmEE

SEERBETAEBNAE
ERMITENEEFRE
NiRmE 8B HEKE - &
BEEFPEANEZ  REF
RHEBEEWNE MR
B BREHENATP
MEE  BRF - BEH

VRERRLZ2EE

#E B ESI1SO 9001 & =
EERBRNRE  REE
EREBERERRZELE
LT WEERTAEENU
BB ERELEEK
MEHE - BEEERERIE
BTHNEEBRRMEZER
AL BRMMNEE

8-

AEERERERNER
BEAE  ERREFH
JE B EE an 1R B 1E XA A
TTHE DTSR bbb -
B35 B R R E EE m 7 1K
FOE®ET - FTA RS
MRV BRARKRE
BVE B DA S ST
e - HEYBEEKRR
TeoMEEBBRES - A
7 SE B B L A B TR R
HMEmMMBEEMMELZ 2

=5 -



TREBR A EREBRS

Enterprise Environmental, Social and Governance Report

The Group always focuses on customer satisfaction
and we always apply it at each point of production.
We are keen to raise the performance level of various
aspects of the business. Moreover, as for complaints
about quality issues, the Group will do its utmost to
make improvements and resolve the issues concerned
while analysing the causes to improve its performance
in this regard.

The Mines have formulated a policy to prohibit
all employees from disclosing information about
customers who purchase natural uranium, and
require employees to sign a confidentiality agreement
to prevent the leakage of information. Confidential
documents including customer’s personal information
shall be strictly managed and kept by a dedicated
department. Employees are not allowed to access
these documents without permission. In addition,
the Group takes customer information security
seriously. We strictly implement an information
security management system, raise all employees’
awareness of information security, constantly improve
the information security measures, and encrypt and
manage sensitive data to protect the interests of
relevant parties.

We always attach great importance to and protect
intellectual property. To create an environment for
a fair competition, the Group has been completely
following the standards and practices of the rights. The
Group has established sound rules and regulations
on intellectual property protection. We also organise
education and training on intellectual property for
employees to raise their awareness of intellectual
property protection and establish the concepts of
innovation, integrity and intellectual property protection.
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The Group promotes the adoption of sound promotion
and marketing practices, and any advertisement shall
not make a description, claim or explanation that is
inconsistent with the facts. We will also formulate
our sales and promotional documents in accordance
with the relevant laws and codes of practice to
ensure that our promotional materials and advertising
content are true, fair and reasonable, free from any
misleading statements, so as to protect the interests of
consumers. Given the specificity of product usage and
quality measurement standards, the Mines’ product
publicity is basically consistent with the real information
on the product concerned without any exaggeration
or misrepresentation. The Group strictly abides by the
laws and regulations on product health and safety,
advertising, labelling, remedies and protection of
intellectual property rights, and complies with the laws
and regulations related to privacy issues, such as the
Advertising Law of the People’s Republic of China.
There was no violation during the period.
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Anti-Corruption

The Group has a strict anti-corruption policy
which requires all employees to professionally and
stringently comply with the Group’s policies on
conflicts of interest, code of conduct for business
activities, and prevention of bribery and corruption.
By creating a good corporate atmosphere and
guiding and standardising the daily work behaviour
of employees, we aim to maintain proper operations
and management, prevent fraudulent activities that
harm the interests of the Group, and improve work
efficiency and effectiveness. The Group has developed
an internal control system to manage anti-fraud
investigation and publicity and employees’ conflicts
of interest. We strive to build a corporate culture
of integrity and fairness by upholding the principles
of honesty, fairness and transparency, undertaking
responsibility, and having zero tolerance to corruption
and fraud. We regularly organise anti-corruption
training to enhance employees’ awareness of business
integrity.
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In order to build a corporate culture of integrity
and prevent corruption, the Mines have formulated
anticorruption and anti-fraud policies which clearly
defines that all violations of financial regulatory
measures including money laundering, illegal provision
of material rewards to individuals and enterprises,
illegal receipt of material rewards from individuals are
illegal acts of corruption. Specific preventive measures
have also been developed to prevent corruption. The
Mines organise open tendering and bidding in strict
accordance with the procurement rules set by the
National Welfare Fund Samruk-Kazyna of Kazakhstan
to ensure the fairness and compliance of the relevant
procedures. The procurement rules also stipulate
that the tender notice and related information shall be
published to material suppliers or service contractors
on the designated media. Furthermore, the Group’s
internal service procurement shall go through a
rigorous preapproval process, and a tiered approval
system has been set up for bids and contracts with
different amounts to ensure that the procurement
procedures are closely monitored.

The Group strictly abides by the laws and regulations
on the prevention of bribery, extortion, fraud and
money laundering, such as the Anti-Unfair Competition
Law of the People’s Republic of China. There was no
violation during the Reporting Period.
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Community Investment

The Group respects the diverse cultures and existing
traditions of various regions, takes the expectations
and opinions of community groups very seriously, and
undertakes to respond to the opinions of community
members in due course. In addition, the Group
will support projects that benefit the needs of the
community where feasible, and collaborate with groups
with a common vision to win and maintain mutual
trust with all stakeholders, with a view to continuously
contributing to the long-term development of the
community.

The Sites also actively participate in various
educational, cultural and recreational activities,
including donating books to schools established by
local governments. During the New Year, the Mines
organise their employees to visit neighbouring primary
schools and provide students with New Year gifts
and school supplies, and provide funding for the daily
operating expenses of the local stadium. In addition,
the Mines have donated urgently needed epidemic
prevention supplies including breathing machine and
mask for the community hospital and residents.
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Index of Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide of the Stock Exchange

Environmental

BIR

BRX(RE - HERER/BE
1E51) &3l

Section

=z s

E B

Aspect A1
FHEA1
KPIA.1.1
FEIEA1

KPIA.1.2

ERA2

KPIA.1.3

FEIEAA.3

KPIA.1.4

1EIZA1.4

KPIA.1.5

FEIEAA5

KPIA.1.6

HEIZAA.6

Aspect A.2

HHA.2

KPI'A.2.1

FEIEA.2.1

KPIA.2.2

FHIZA2.2

Emissions
PEmy

Types of emissions and the respective emissions data
PR AE $E AR R PR IR

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas
emissions (in tonnes) and where appropriate, intensity (e.g.
per unit Applicable volume, per facility).

B (EEN) RepREZ (BE2)REREME AMERTE) &
(nER) ZmE (WABEEEN - BIERBETE) -

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).

FEAXGEREEYEE UEAE) R(ER) BE (ASES
B - FIEREAE) °

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).

FEABEZEEYEE UEE) R (ER) ZE WASEE
By - BIERBEE)

Description of the emission targets set and the steps taken to
achieve them.

RPAET LV HENE B IR RRERE L B IR EREE P 5 -

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are
handled, and description of the waste reduction targets set
and the steps taken to achieve them.

RMRIE R E NEEREEYN L - RAEMPTEI ZHREE B 13
NRERE L B IRATERIA) R

Use of Resources

BIREEF

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g.
electricity, gas or ail) in total (kWh in ’000s) and intensity (e.g.
per unit of production volume, per facility).

RENESNEE R SEEERNE - fon) BFEE AT
EFRETE) RBE ASESEN - §BEXEE) °

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).

BFKERBE (WAGESEN - BHERKWTE) °
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Al

A1 No significant air
emissions in all offices

A B REHEE KA EER
HERK

Al

A1 No significant hazardous
waste generation in all
offices

AMEPRREHBRERNEE
REEYEE

A1 No significant non-
hazardous waste
generation in all offices

AMBRREHEERNES
RERYAEE

Al

Al

A2

A2
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TRRE - HERER

Environmental

BIR

®E

Section

=z 4o

E B

KPI'A.2.3

HEIEA2.3

KPIA.2.4

EIRA2.4
KPIA.2.5
HEIRA2.5
Aspect A.3

JTEA.3
KPI' A.3.1

FEIEA.3.1
Aspect A.4

FHHEA4
KPI A.4.1

FEIEA.41

Description of the energy use efficiency targets set and the steps

taken to achieve them.

R PR SRR IR A RS B IR AR IE R3S L B IR PRI 2
B o

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that
is fit for purpose, and description of the water use efficiency
targets set and the steps taken to achieve them.

FAREGER AR LRI BRI ERE - ARFTEI I8V AK W B
BEREDE L B RATEIRE P8R

Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes)
and, if applicable, with reference to per unit produced.

BN MATABEMEIRRE (UUREETE) &k (ER) 8 £ EBAL
hE o

The Environment and Natural Resources

RIERARAER

Description of the significant impacts of activities on the
environment and natural resources and the actions taken to
manage them.

M RBRDHRRENRRERNEATERCRNEE R
TEMITE ©

Climate Change

RIREE

Description of the significant climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the
actions taken to manage them.

MABRERAIEGHETAEETENERREHEBEE - &
EH1TE -

A2

A2

A3

During the Reporting Period,
there was no accident that
had a significant impact
on the environment and
natural resources.

REHNRBHRERRA
BIRNEBBATENER o

A4

A4
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PEEE HEREREE s

Section
E=:0]

Aspect B.1 Employment B1

JEB.1 (=5

KPI B.1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full- B

or part-time), age group and geographical region.
FE1EB.A.1 IR EERL (2RISR - Fhednl KR E 5 aE
Bag o

KPIB.1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical B1

region.

FEIEB.1.2 BRI - FiAR KRB DEEERKLE o

Aspect B.2 Health and Safety B2

7 HEB.2 fEEREZ S

KPI B.2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of ~ There has been no case of

the past three years including the reporting year. death due to work in the
past three years including
the Reporting Period.
151EB.2.1 BE=F (BRERFE)SFEAITHNHABKLLE - BREBEEANEBE=ZFK
BERITHEMS -

KPI B.2.2 Lost days due to work injury. During the Reporting Period,
there were no lost days
due to work injury.

FE1ZB.2.2 ETEERIIEES - HREBHAWREERETS
BRIERSE -

KPI B.2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures B2

adopted, how they are implemented and monitored.
151$B.2.3 R PTER AN BB R R B 2 2100 - ARBBRTRERS
VA °

Aspect B.3 Development and Training B3

7 HEB.3 R RIET

KPI B.3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee B3

category (e.g. senior management, middle management).
151%B.3.1 RURREERNERERERE  RREERE) DX IIE
BEDL -

KPI B.3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender B3

and employee category.

#512B.3.2 RURIREERRED - B2EES TN TR -
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pEEE  HEREREE .

Section
=4
Aspect B.4 Labour Standards B4
J7EB.4 AT AR
KPI B.4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to B4
avoid child and forced labour.
FE1EB.4.1 s IR B f e e AR R E T RRHIZBT -
KPI B.4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when There was no violation during
discovered. the Reporting Period.
$E1EB.4.2 R IR B RIGNRER B BB PRI 28K - HREHARFERBER
Aspect B.5 Supply Chain Management B5
7 HEB.5 g E R
KPI B.5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. B5
FE12B.5.1 i RE| D HEREAE -
KPIB.5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number  B5

of suppliers where the practices are being implemented, how
they are implemented and monitored.

1E1EB.5.2 R AR B HERNED - mERTEBEENNHERH
B ARMEERTRERTE -
KPIB.5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social B5

risks along the supply chain, and how they are implemented
and monitored.

f81%2B.5.3 A AR R E S IR IRE R g RRAES - AR
MR T REESR A ©
KPI B.5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally B5

preferable products and services when selecting suppliers,
and how they are implemented and monitored.

1512B.5.4 R B R R (£ 2 ERIRE m KRB HEHI - LAKAE
BT RERT S °
Aspect B.6 Product Responsibility B6
J7EB.6 EmEE
KPI B.6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls ~ No products were subject
for safety and health reasons. to recalls for safety and
health reasons during the
Reporting Period.
$51%B.6.1 EENEEXEMEHT AR BERIEAMALKN A S HREHARBERA L 2 HE
L e R RRIE B /A EI o
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PEEE HEREREE s

Section
=4
KPI B.6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received No products were subject to
and how they are dealt with. recalls due to quality issues
during the Reporting
Period.
151%B.6.2 BB E o MR HIREF B B AR EE 7K - HEHAI ARG EmE RE
i ZE B Y ZE mEV B ©
KPI B.6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting B6
intellectual property rights.
1512B.6.3 it ER A T RPN B EE M R B B -
KPI B.6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures. B6
E1EB.6.4 g SRTBRERERBKIER
KPI B.6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, B6
how they are implemented and monitored.
151%B.6.5 B BE ERMRE RFLEBBOR - ARMEERITRERTE -
Aspect B.7 Anti-corruption B7
FEB.7 RES
KPI B.7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices There were no corruption
brought against the issuer or its employees during the cases during the Reporting
Reporting Period and the outcomes of the cases. Period.
E1EB.7 A RSN BT AR EEREVESENESHARGN WMERAARBETFAR
B H RFDER - o
KPIB.7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing B7
procedures, how they are implemented and monitored.
1EIZB.7.2 HEa P EatE b R BRI, - ARBEARITRER G ©
KPIB.7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and  B7
staff.
$51ZB.7.3 ftmES K E TRENRE)SEI -
Aspect B.8 Community Investment B8
7 HEB.8 HEKE
KPI B.8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental B8
concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport).
$51%B.8.1 EIEREE(HE  RREEE  SIH K BF Xt -8
B
KPI B.8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. B8
$512B.8.2 EEISRMBAERNeENRERE) -
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B ST MBI GRAE .

Tel : +852 2218 8288
Fax: +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

25% Floor Wing On Centre
111 Connaught Road Central
Hong Kong

IBDO

EEE - +852 2218 8288
{&H : +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

TO THE MEMBERS OF CGN MINING COMPANY LIMITED
(FRZERARDF)

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of CGN Mining
Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 144 to 278, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2020, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2020, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAS”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the “Auditor’'s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA'’s “Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”)
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

HERATHEEP 11158
kL2548

BHEEREERRAT
2ERR
(RESHSLMK LS BRAF])

=R

HIE B ZE N E144E278H 2P EIX
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(GBARIEEE]) 2R KME « %5
RE TR ERBIER2020F12 A31HE
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BUREOARE

OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2019 were audited by another auditor who expressed
an unmodified opinion on those statements on 26 March 2020.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT ON THE
INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

Refer to note 20 to the consolidated financial statements and the
accounting policies in notes 4(c) and 4(p).

How the matter was addressed in our

The key audit matter audit

The Group has 16.74% interest in an  Our procedures were designed to review the

associate, Fission Uranium Corp. whichisa  management’s assessment of the indicators

listed company in Canada. As at 31 December  of impairment and understand and assess the

2020, the interest in an associate held by the  reasonableness of the methods and assumptions

Group is approximately HK$553,570,000. used in the valuation model to estimate the
recoverable amount of the associate.

We have discussed and assessed the indicators
of possible impairment with the management
and the component auditor and, where such
indicators were identified, assessed the
management’s impairment testing.

During the year ended 31 December 2020,
the associate has incurred oss in operation.
Following a review of the business, the
outlook for the industry and the market
conditions, as the uranium price and the
Canadian dollar were in fluctuation, there is
arisk of impairment in respect of the interest
in an associate; management has carried
out the impairment assessment on the
interest in an associate.

We have assessed the valuation methodology
and compared significant inputs to third party
sources. We have also understood and assessed
the key assumptions and critical judgement used
by the management based on our knowledge of
the business and industry.

We considered this a key audit matter
because this involves a significant degree
of management judgement in respect of the
valuation methods and assumptions for the
estimation of the recoverable amount of the
interest in the associate.
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BB R &S

IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT ON THE
INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE

Refer to note 19 to the consolidated financial statements and the
accounting policies in notes 4(d) and 4(p).

The key audit matter

The Group has 49% interest in a joint
venture, Semizbay-U Limited Liability
Partnership. As at 31 December
2020, the interest in a joint venture
held by the Group is approximately
HK$264,956,000.

Following a review of the business, the
outlook for the industry and the market
conditions, as the uranium price and
Kazakhstani Tenge were in fluctuation,
there is a risk of impairment in respect
of the interest in a joint venture;
management has carried out the
impairment assessment on the interest
in ajoint venture.

We considered this a key audit matter
because this involves a significant
degree of management judgement in
respect of the valuation methods and
assumptions for the estimation of the
recoverable amount of the interest in
the joint venture.

How the matter was addressed in our
audit

Our procedures were designed to review
the management’s assessment of the
indicators of impairment and understand
and assess the reasonableness of the
methods and assumptions used in the
valuation model to estimate the recoverable
amount of the joint venture.

We have discussed and assessed the
indicators of possible impairment with the
management and the component auditors
and, where such indicators were identified,
assessed the management’s impairment
testing.

We have assessed the valuation
methodology and compared significant
inputs to third party sources. We have
also understood and assessed the key
assumptions and critical judgement
used by the management based on our
knowledge of the business and industry.
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BYREHRE

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Company’s
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA and
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the directors in
discharging their responsibility in this regard.
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ByBBEESE 0000

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with the terms of our engagement, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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BYREHRE

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.
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B ST MBI GRAE .

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine WEEEBMASIED - BPOREMLE
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the HHEAPRGEEUBRERONEBEZRAS
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are Z . AmMEKBEREZSEE - KT ZE
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our B ERBEZEEIE  BRIEERIIRA
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure TRAHFAREEZESE  JEGERER
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we RIERT - BEASEREENEMREF T
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report AEEEERNEARREBREELEN

because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably NEMES + AIARITRE DRSS 588
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such ZEIE °

communication.

BDO Limited BBV ERRETMEEMERAT
Certified Public Accountants HEBF AT

Ng Wai Man HER

Practising Certificate no. PO5309 HREERHR - P05309

Hong Kong, 31 March 2021 &£/ 202143H31H
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

REeEsEkAEMEZEKRER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

2020 2019
2020 £ 20194
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx T
Revenue S 7 2,862,226 2,076,688
Cost of sales SHER A (2,659,460) (1,932,783)
Gross profit EF 202,766 143,905
Other operating income H A WA 8 9,496 20,497
Selling and distribution expenses SHE R DHAX (10,453) (7,573)
Administrative expenses TE R (37,593) (37,251)
Changes in fair value of investment KEMEAREE
properties 18 855 272
Share of results of a joint venture Efh—HEaeEhEREE 70,844 64,872
Share of results of an associate FE(G —FEIEsE & A RIS AR (15,060) 11,916
Finance costs BB 9 (40,889) (20,466)
Profit before taxation MRE DR R 179,966 176,172
Income tax expenses PSS 10 (24,749) (16,163)
Profit for the year attributable to ARATHEE AEML
owners of the Company FREF 11 155,217 160,009
Earnings per share AT 13
— Basic — &K HK2.35 cents  HK2.42 cents
235781l 242741l
— Diluted —#5a HK2.35 cents  HK2.42 cents
2.35781l 242741
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

SARBREMIEEEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

2020 2019
2020 20194
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FEx FAET
Profit for the year R R 155,217 160,009
Other comprehensive (expenses)/ Hib2m (B%) s
income:
Items that may be subsequently Ao EF 7 E 2 B
reclassified to profit or loss: HIHE -
Exchange differences on translation HE B R ISRk
of financial statements of subsidiaries EEZERER 5,430 (1,662)
Exchange differences on translation BE—[HEEtEMBRE
of financial statements of a joint venture EACEHER (26,929) (3,313)
Exchange differences on translation HME — S R R Bk
of financial statements of an associate EACERER 10,197 20,046
(11,302) 15,071
Items that will not be reclassified REHT A EF 7 2R
subsequently to profit or loss: H)IEH
Gain on revaluation of property S EEL R Gy - 5,412
Income tax relating to items that will notbe ~ BRAEEE IS EHHEER
reclassified subsequently HIPTIS L - (1,353)
- 4,059
Other comprehensive (expenses)/income AEEHMEE X)), Ut
for the year (11,302) 19,130
Total comprehensive income for the year AEEEHEW=BEE 143,915 179,139
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

GAMBHRRE e

As at 31 December 2020 /22020512 A31H

2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FEx FAT
Non-current assets FEREBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - R MR 16 622 160
Right-of-use assets FEREEE 17(a) 1,977 3,836
Investment properties WEWH 18 52,623 48,595
Interest in a joint venture R—EEEhE R 19 264,956 237,775
Interest in an associate R—EBE T 2w 20 553,570 553,522
Rental deposits HEZe - 387
873,748 844,275
Current assets MENEE
Inventories ' 21 1,767,335 1,441,980
Trade and other receivables JFEE LA B 3R % L Ath FE L
TIE 22 363,176 126,706
Amount due from an intermediate JE U — A R R AR 2 A
holding company RIE 23 2,323 3,875
Amount due from a fellow subsidiary JEW —E R RHTB AT
IR 24 19 =
Income tax recoverable A UL [ BT ASAR X 6,678 1,737
Bank balances and cash RITEENR S 25 1,174,508 676,793
3,314,039 2,251,091
Total assets EERE 4,187,787 3,095,366
Current liabilities REAE
Trade and other payables JE S BR 5K B ELAth FE < 5K
18 26 158,289 36,382
Loans from a fellow subsidiary RE—HRRNBAF]
ZEX 27 370,693 422,559
Bank borrowings RITER 28 666,704 =
Lease liabilities HE&E 17(b) 704 1,703
Amount due to an intermediate holding  fE{ — R~ FEHENE A 7]
company A 23 874 8,373
Amount due to a joint venture JEN—MEaEhERE 29 - 5,513
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries ENRRNBARFIE 24 1,135 1,421
Income tax payable ANISIEET TR 15,848 9,555
1,214,247 485,506
Net current assets REBEERE 2,099,792 1,765,585
Total assets less current liabilities ~ BEEREHNRHEE 2,973,540 2,609,860
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

n'l_\ézﬁjj i%;lﬁ 5R ’13—% """"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""

As at 31 December 2020 /22020512 A31H

2020 2019
20204 20194F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET BT
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Loans from a fellow subsidiary RE—ERRHBAR]
ZER 27 533,596 644,494
Bank borrowings RITER 28 387,754 =
Lease liabilities HEBE 17(b) 1,162 2,021
Deferred tax liabilities ELERIBEE 31 23,968 19,104
946,480 665,619
Net assets EEFE 2,027,060 1,944,241
Capital and reserves EARR #E
Share capital [N 30 66,007 66,007
Reserves & 1,961,053 1,878,234
Total equity ERAE 2,027,060 1,944,241
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors KEEEHE RIRET)E
An Junjing ZE ¥ Chen Deshao PREAR
Director 2% Director 2%
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
FaERgHE e o

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

FATERARGRE

Properties  Exchange Share
Share Share revaluation translation  options  Reserve  Retained Other
capital  premium  reserve  reserve reserve fund  eamings reserve

kft LS EX RBER i fi# Efe
k& BE  EfRfR it i 53 Al il it
HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKSO00  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS$000
7 7B v/ A v/ A v/ S v/ N v/ A v 7 A v 7 A v 71

(Note a) (Note b)

(3ka) (Hizkb)
At1 January 2020 H200E1A1A 66,007 1,681,112 4059 (599,144) 154 21563 886,50  (121,789) 1,044,241
Proft for the year Epgi - - - - - - 155217 - 155217
Other comprehensive incomeflexpenses)  ERE2ENE/ ()
forthe year:
Exchange ciferences on iangaion LN
offnancil statements of subsidiares EE/EREE - - - 5,430 - - - - 5430
Exchange difierences on frangaion BE-RRetzufng
offancial tatements of a joint venfure Ef7EREE - - - (699) - - - - (2699
Exchange diferences on ransaton R VNI
offnancil statements of an associe EEZEREER - - - e - - - - e
Total comprehenshie ncomeffexpense) o EARENE/ () 6%
the year - - - (1309 - - 155217 - AR5
Dividend recognised as cisiouton (Note 12~ 2B AR S (H3k12) - - - - - - (66007) - (66007
Share of oher reserve of an associate JElb- E‘ \EfEE - - - - - - - 4911 4911
At 31 December 2020 H200E12831R 66,007 1,681,112 4059 (610446) 154 2583 975460 (116878 2,027,060
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

hEERBER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

Share
captal

i

HKS 000

T

Share
premium

E

HKS 000
Thn

Properties
revaluation
16561V

HKS 000
T

Equy att

Capital
fesene

HKS 000
T

Bxchange
frangiation
T6Seve
Ej
il
HKS'000

Share
options
Tesenve
e

Ha
HK$ 000
Thn

ibutable to owners of the Company

Resene
fund
i
i

HK$ 000

%

Retained Other
gamings  resenve
k& i
EH H:
HKS000  HK$000
Thr  TEn

Total

HKS000
AT

At1 January 2019 0101 A1R 66,007 1,681,112 - B2 (61429 164 27583 759263 (18741) 1804418
Proft for the year Epigil = = = = = = - 160,009 - 160,009
Other comprenensive ncomellerpenses) — FRERZENE/ (FR)

forthe year:
(ah on revaluaton ofproperty VEEN - - B4 - - - - - - 54
Income tax relaing o fems thatvil otbe ~ EEAATEENABAAE

reclassfied subsequently TRBAEER - -1 - - - - - -1
Exchange diferences on angeton HENBAREESR

offnancil statements of subsidiares ET/ERZE - - - - (16 - - - - (166
Exchange diferences on transaton E-RaetiiER

offinancialstatements of ajoin venture EEZ[%%%E - - - - B3 - - - - B3y
Exchange diferences on tiangaion HE-MREDAERR

of fnancial statements of an associee ErENER - - - - N0 - - - - N0
Tota compenersiencome fortheyer  FARANELE 5 - 40 - 10 - - 160009 - 1913
Merger reservs rising rom common LREHAKELIAKER

control combination - - - (3269) - - - - (8070 (66,33
Divdend recogrised as cisrbution (Note 12) ~ EEAEZRER & (H3E12) - - - - - - - (33009 - 3300y
Share of other resenve o an associate El-FRELANEbEE - - - - - - - - Y/ 2
At 31 December 2019 RA019E12A318 66,007 1,681,112 4069 - (599,144) 54 27588 886250 (121789 1,044,241
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H It FE

Notes:

Subsidiaries in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) have appropriated
10% of the profit to reserve fund. The reserve fund is required to be retained in
the accounts of the subsidiaries for specific purposes.

The other reserve represents (i) the difference between the consideration
of United States dollars (“USD”) 133,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,030,899,000) and the aggregate paid-in capital of 1t 5 HR IS i & RIE &
BRRAF] (for identification purpose, in English, Beijing Sino-Kazakh Uranium
Resources Investment Company Limited, referred to as “Beijing Sino-Kazakh”)
of Renminbi 823,770,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$944,534,000)
acquired under business combinations under common control, (i) the difference
between the consideration of USD8,553,800 (equivalent to approximately
HK$66,335,000) and the aggregate paid-in capital of CGN Global Uranium
Limited (the “CGN Global”) of USD3,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$23,265,000) acquired under business combinations under common control
and (jii) share of other reserve of an associate.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

2020 2019
2020 2019
HK$000 HK$'000
TEx AT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES RG]
Profit before taxation BRI AT A 179,966 176,172
Adjustments for: FAT SR ELAR -
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment n% - BERRENE 63 772
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 1,859 1,732
(Reversal of impairment)/impairment loss HE BERE),/REBE
in respect of inventories (1,768) 1,768
Changes in fair value of investment properties REMENER (855) (272)
Interest income FIEKA (9,106) (19,965)
Interest expenses on loan from immediate REERERAFER
holding company ZHIBFR 107 =
Interest expense on loans from a fellow subsidiary RE—HRZMBARERZFERT 35,806 20,352
Interest expenses on bank borrowings BITIESFIBFY 4,782 =
Interest expense on lease liabiltties HEAEHERHY 104 114
Share of results from a joint venture EE—HaEtERE (70,844) (64,872)
Share of reslts from an associate Elh—RE N rEE 15,060 (11,916)
Operating cash flow before movements in working capital ~ 2@& ¢ EBFILLELRE 155,264 103,885
Increase in inventories FEE (323,587) (740,448)
Increase in trade and other receivables FEIKER SR T L A PRI
10 (236,485) (55,950)
Decrease in amount due from an intermediate JEN — R AR A R IR R
holding company 1,552 1,500
Increase in amount due from a fellow subsidiary MR — R R B 1 R SRS A (19) =
Increase in trade and other payables FERTBRSN R AL AT SR A 118,867 5,627
(Decrease)/increase in amount due to FE—RRRERARZE
an intermediate holding company (R /18 m (7,499) 2,241
Decrease in amount due to a joint venture R —f N”JE%TAI,E}JEM\ (5,513) =
Decrease in amounts due to fellow subsidiaries R ZHB AR (286) (247)
Cash used in operations QEfmARe (297,706) (683,392)
Hong Kong profits tax paid BAESERET (10,628) -
People’s Republic of China Enterprise Income Tax paid B EARLRNECEAMEH (760) (1,766)
The United Kingdom Corporation Tax paid BRERER (5,995) (1,571)
Net cash used in operating activities RETBHHARELTE (315,089) (686,729)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
SERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

2020 2019
2020% plle
HK$000 HK$'000
TEx AT

INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BENE  BEREE (524) 82)
Interest income received BIERH M 9,508 25,305
Dividend received from a joint venture WEB—-HAEtERE 16,734 14,490
Acquisition of a subsidiary under common control R LR E R B AR - (66,335)
Net cash generated from/(used in) investing activities REEEFE /(TR BEFE 25,718 (26,622)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES HEEH
Dividend paid BRRE (66,007) (33,009)
Interest paid on loans from immediate holding company RREERERARERENHE (107) =
Interest paid on loans from a fellow subsidiary ARE—FRZHBARNERERTFIE (36,100) (20,073)
Interest paid on bank borrowings RRTEFERTIE (1,538) -
Advance of loans from immediate holding company REEZERDAERZR 349,686 -
Repayment of loans to immediate holding company BEEZIRDARNER (349,686) =
Advance of loans from a fellow subsidiary RE—HRZNBARERZH 259,795 850,686
Repayment of loans to a fellow subsidiary BE—RHBRRIER (422,559) (527,561)
Advance of bank borrowings BITETEBT 1,054,458 =
Repayment of lease liabilities EEREARE (1,962) (1,958)
Net cash generated from financing activities RETBRSEETE 785,980 268,091
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND ReRALESEEAEM/

CASH EQUIVALENTS (R2) 38 496,609 (445,260)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FURERAELZEER

BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 676,793 1,123,056
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes NEEXESH, 52 1,106 (1,00)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END EXRERRLZEER

OF THE YEAR 1,174,508 676,793
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GENERAL

CGN Mining Company Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability. The shares of the Company are listed
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). Its parent company is FFEHEZEER D
Al (China Uranium Development Company Limited) (“China
Uranium Development”), a company incorporated in Hong
Kong and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Ff E#x 23 E B R
A |] (CGNPC Uranium Resources Co. Ltd.) (“CGNPC-URC”),
which is in turn a subsidiary of R ElE#ZEE AR A A (China
General Nuclear Power Corporation) (“‘CGNPC”). CGNPC is
the ultimate parent company of the Company. Both CGNPC-
URC and CGNPC are state-owned enterprises established in
the PRC.

The address of the registered office and principal place of
business of the Company are disclosed in the “Corporate
Information” section to the Annual Report.

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to the “Group”) are trading of natural
uranium, property investment and other investments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2.

REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(a) Adoption of new or amended HKFRSs

The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants has issued a number of new or amended
HKFRSs that are first effective for the current
accounting period of the Group:

o Amendments to HKFRS 3, Definition of a

Business

° Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8,
Definition of Material

° Amendments to HKAS 39, HKFRS 7 and
HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

Amendments to HKFRS 3, Definition of a Business

The amendments clarify the definition of a business
and introduce an optional concentration test that
permits a simplified assessment of whether an
acquired set of activities and assets is not a business.
The election to apply the concentration test is made
for each transaction. The concentration test is met if
substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets
acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable
asset or group of similar identifiable assets. If the
concentration test is met, the set of activities and assets
is determined not to be a business. If the concentration
test is failed, the acquired set of activities and assets is
further assessed based on the elements of a business.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIR MR

2.

""""  J
For the year ended 31 December 2020 &, Z22020F12 A31 H L FE
ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2. BRMEBBKEHREER
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) ([ERMBREED])
(Continueq) €=
(a)  Adoption of new or amended HKFRSs (Continued) (@) FHAFTRRIET BB

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8, Definition of
Material

The amendments provide a new definition of material
that states “information is material if omitting,
misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be
expected to influence decisions that the primary users
of general purpose financial statements make on the
basis of those financial statements, which provide
financial information about a specific reporting entity.”
The amendments also clarify that materiality depends
on the nature or magnitude of information, either
individually or in combination with other information,
in the context of the financial statements taken as a
whole.

Amendments to HKAS 39, HKFRS 7 and HKFRS 9,
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

The amendments modify specific hedge accounting
requirements to allow hedge accounting to continue for
affected hedges during the period of uncertainty before
the hedged items or hedging instruments affected by
the current interest rate benchmarks are amended as a
result of the on-going interest rate benchmark reform.

The adoption of these new and amended HKFRSs in
the current year has had no material impact on the
Group’s financial performance and position for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set
out in these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2.

REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(Continued)

(b) New or amended HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective

The following new or amended HKFRSs, potentially
relevant to the Group’s consolidated financial

statements, have been issued, but are not yet effective
and have not been early adopted by the Group. The
Group’s current intention is to apply these changes on

the date they become effective.

Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and HK Interpretation 5 (2020),
Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification

by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause®

Amendments to HKAS 16, Proceeds before Intended

Use®

Amendments to HKAS 37, Onerous Contracts — Cost

of Fulfiling a Contract®

Amendments to HKFRS 3, Reference to the
Conceptual Framework*

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28, Sale or
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

(b) New or amended HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 39, HKFRS 4, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 16, Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform — Phase 22

Amendments to HKFRS 16, Covid-19 Related Rent
Concession'

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018 — 2020°

U Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June

2020.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2021.

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2022.

& Effective for business combinations for which the date of

acquisition is on or after the beginning of the first annual
period beginning on or after 1 January 2022.

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023.
® The amendments shall be applied prospectively to the sale or

contribution of assets occurring in annual periods beginning
on or after a date to be determined.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

2.

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

(b)

New or amended HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and HK Interpretation 5 (2020),
Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification
by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause

The amendments clarify that the classification of
liabilities as current or non-current is based on rights
that are in existence at the end of the reporting period,
specify that classification is unaffected by expectations
about whether an entity will exercise its right to defer
settlement of a liability and explain that rights are in
existence if covenants are complied with at the end of
the reporting period. The amendments also introduce a
definition of ‘settlement’ to make clear that settlement
refers to the transfer to the counterparty of cash, equity
instruments, other assets or services.

HK Int 5 (2020) was revised as a consequence of the
Amendments to HKAS 1 issued in August 2020. The
revision to HK Int 5 (2020) updates the wordings in the
interpretation to align with the Amendments to HKAS
1 with no change in conclusion and do not change the
existing requirements.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that
the application of the amendments and revision in the
future will have an impact on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

2.

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

(b)

New or amended HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 16, Proceeds before Intended
Use

The amendments prohibit deducting from the cost
of an item of property, plant and equipment any
proceeds from selling items produced while bringing
that asset to the location and condition necessary for
it to be capable of operating in the manner intended
by management. Instead, the proceeds from selling
such items, and the cost of producing those items, is
recognised in profit or loss.

The directors of the Company are currently assessing
the impact that the application of the amendments will
have on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 37, Onerous Contracts — Cost
of Fulfilling a Contract

The amendments specify that the ‘cost of fulfilling’ a
contract comprises the ‘costs that relate directly to the
contract’. Costs that relate directly to a contract can
either be incremental costs of fulfilling that contract
(e.g. direct labour and materials) or an allocation of
other costs that relate directly to fulfilling contracts (e.g.
the allocation of the depreciation charge for an item
of property, plant and equipment used in fulfilling the
contract).

The directors of the Company are currently assessing
the impact that the application of the amendments will
have on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

2.

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

(b)

New or amended HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 3, Reference to the
Conceptual Framework

The amendments update HKFRS 3 so that it refers
to the revised Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting 2018 instead of the version issued in 2010.
The amendments add to HKFRS 3 a requirement
that, for obligations within the scope of HKAS 37, an
acquirer applies HKAS 37 to determine whether at the
acquisition date a present obligation exists as a result
of past events. For a levy that would be within the
scope of HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 Levies, the acquirer applies
HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 to determine whether the obligating
event that gives rise to a liability to pay the levy has
occurred by the acquisition date. The amendments
also add an explicit statement that an acquirer does
not recognise contingent assets acquired in a business
combination.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that
the application of the amendments in the future will
have an impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIR MR

2.

"""" o
For the year ended 31 December 2020 &, Z22020F12 A31 H L FE
ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2. RPNBEBUBREER
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) ([EFEMHHREZERL])
(Continueq) €=
(b)  New or amended HKFRSs that have been issued (b) CHEMBENRERZHFT

but are not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28, Sale or
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments clarify with situations where there is
a sale or contribution of assets between an investor
and its associate or joint venture. When the transaction
with an associate or joint venture that is accounted for
using the equity method, any gains or losses resulting
from the loss of control of a subsidiary that does not
contain a business are recognised in the profit or loss
only to the extent of the unrelated investors’ interests
in that associate or joint venture. Similarly, any gains
or losses resulting from the remeasurement of retained
interest in any former subsidiary (that has become an
associate or a joint venture) to fair value are recognised
in the profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated
investors’ interests in the new associate or joint
venture.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of these amendments may have an impact
on the Group’s consolidated financial statements in
future periods should such transactions arise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

2.

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

(b)

New or amended HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 39, HKFRS 4, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 16, Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform — Phase 2

The amendments address issues that might affect
financial reporting when a company replaces the old
interest rate benchmark with an alternative benchmark
rate as a result of the interest rate benchmark reform
(the “Reform”). The amendments complement those
issued in November 2019 and relate to (a) changes
to contractual cash flows in which an entity will not
have to derecognise or adjust the carrying amount
of financial instruments for changes required by the
Reform, but will instead update the effective interest
rate to reflect the change to the alternative benchmark
rate; (b) hedge accounting in which an entity will
not have to discontinue its hedge accounting solely
because it makes changes required by the Reform, if
the hedge meets other hedge accounting criteria; and
(c) disclosures in which an entity will be required to
disclose information about new risks arising from the
Reform and how it manages the transition to alternative
pbenchmark rates.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that
the application of the amendments in the future will
have an impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIR MR

2.

"""" o
For the year ended 31 December 2020 &, Z22020F12 A31 H L FE
ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2. RPNBEBUBREER
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) ([EFEMHHREZERL])
(Continueq) €=
(b)  New or amended HKFRSs that have been issued (b) CHEMBENRERZHFT

but are not yet effective (Continued)

Amendment to HKFRS 16, Covid-19 Related Rent
Concessions

HKFRS 16 was amended to provide a practical
expedient to lessees in accounting for rent concessions
arising as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic, by
including an additional practical expedient in HKFRS
16 that permits entities to elect not to account for rent
concessions as modifications. The practical expedient
applies only to rent concessions occurring as a direct
consequence of Covid-19 pandemic and only if all of
the following criteria are satisfied:

(@) the change in lease payments results in revised
consideration for the lease that is substantially
the same as, or less than, the consideration for
the lease immediately preceding the change;

(b) the reduction in lease payments affects only
payments originally due on or before 30 June
2021; and

(c) there is no substantive change to other terms
and conditions of the lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2.

REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(Continued)

(b) New or amended HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective (Continued)

Amendment to HKFRS 16, Covid-19 Related Rent
Concessions (Continued)

Rent concessions that satisfy these criteria may

be accounted for in accordance with this practical

expedient, which means the lessee does not need

to assess whether the rent concession meets the

definition of lease modification. Lessees shall apply

other requirements of HKFRS 16 in accounting for the

rent concession.

Accounting for rent concessions as lease modifications

would have resulted in the Group remeasuring the

lease liability to reflect the revised consideration using

a revised discount rate, with the effect of the change

in the lease liability recorded against the right-of-use

asset. By applying the practical expedient, the Group is

not required to determine a revised discount rate and
the effect of the change in the lease liability is reflected
in profit or loss in the period in which the event or

condition that triggers the rent concession occurs.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that

the application of the amendments and revision in the

future will have an impact on the Group’s consolidated

financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

2.

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

(b)

New or amended HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective (Continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018 — 2020

The annual improvements amends a number of
standards, including:

o HKFRS 1, First-time Adoption of Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, which permit
a subsidiary that applies paragraph D16(a) of
HKFRS 1 to measure cumulative translation
differences using the amounts reported by its
parent, based on the parent’s date of transition
to HKFRSs.

° HKFRS 9, Financial Instruments, which clarify
the fees included in the ‘10 per cent’ test in
paragraph B3.3.6 of HKFRS 9 in assessing
whether to derecognise a financial liability,
explaining that only fees paid or received
between the entity and the lender, including
fees paid or received by either the entity or the
lender on other’s behalf are included.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RARBHMENE ¢

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2. BRANEBIBEHREZER

REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) ([EFEMHHREZERL])
(Continueq) €=
(b)  New or amended HKFRSs that have been issued (b) CHEMBENRERZHFT
but are not yet effective (Continued) REETE B HREE
Al (&)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018 — 2020 BB IR & 2ER20184F

(Continued) F2020%F 2 FFRE (B)

. HKFRS 16, Leases, which amend lllustrative . ARV B wELR
Example 13 to remove the illustration of #1659 - HE - B
reimbursement of leasehold improvements =1 £ 13IEE 5 E M
by the lessor in order to resolve any potential BrEA M AEEM
confusion regarding the treatment of lease EREMNHH - E
incentives that might arise because of how i &% R A 7% B
lease incentives are illustrated in that example. HEEBENHAR

=i 7] BE EE AE A 1T

MEBAEEESER
BREEIRE

o HKAS 41, Agriculture, which remove the . B ERE 41
requirement to exclude taxation cash flows 9 B - fikRE

when measuring the fair value of a biological P8 FR 3R (B B T &t

asset using a present value technique. EEMEENRR

1B 1B 35 B U 3R

EMBELZENK -

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that AAREEZTEFTARER
the application of the amendments in the future will ZEBI T HAS BT
have an impact on the Group’s consolidated financial & BT 3R E KA A
statements. o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a)

(b)

(c)

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “HKFRSs”)
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited.

Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost basis except for
investment properties that are measured at fair values
as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Functional and presentation currencies

The functional currency of the Company is USD. As
the Company is listed in Hong Kong, the directors of
the Company consider that it is appropriate to present
the consolidated financial statements in Hong Kong
dollars (‘HK$”).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the
financial statements of the Group. Inter-company
transactions and balances between group companies
together with unrealised profits are eliminated in full
in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of impairment on the
asset transferred, in which case the loss is recognised
in profit or loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed
of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income from the dates
of acquisition or up to the dates of disposal, as
appropriate. Where necessary, adjustments are made
to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies into line with those used by other
members of the Group.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the
gain or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference
between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration received and the fair value of any
retained interest and (i) the previous carrying amount
of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the
subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. Amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for on the
same basis as would be required if the relevant assets
or liabilities were disposed of.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(b)

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company
is able to exercise control. The Company controls
an investee if all three of the following elements are
present: (i) power over the investee, (i) exposure, or
rights, to variable returns from the investee, and (iii)
the ability to use its power to affect those variable
returns. Control is reassessed whenever facts and
circumstances indicate that there may be a change in
any of these elements of control.

De-facto control exists in situations where the
Company has the practical ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee without holding the majority
of the voting rights. In determining whether de-facto
control exists, the Company considers all relevant facts
and circumstances, including:

o the size of the Company’s voting rights relative
to both the size and dispersion of other parties
who hold voting rights;

° substantive potential voting rights held by the
Company and other parties who hold voting

rights;
° other contractual arrangements; and
° historic patterns in voting attendance.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
interests in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment loss, if any. The results of subsidiaries
are accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividend received and receivable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(c)

Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor
a joint arrangement. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee but is not control or joint
control over those policies.

Associates are accounted for using the equity method
whereby they are initially recognised at cost and
thereafter, their carrying amount are adjusted for
the Group’s share of the post-acquisition change
in the associates’ net assets except that losses in
excess of the Group’s interest in the associate are not
recognised unless there is an obligation to make good
those losses.

Profits and losses arising on transactions between the
Group and its associates are recognised only to the
extent of unrelated investors’ interests in the associate.
The investor’s share in the associate’s profits and
losses resulting from these transactions are eliminated
against the carrying value of the associate. Where
unrealised losses provide evidence of impairment of
the asset transferred, they are recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

Any premium paid for an associate above the fair value
of the Group’s share of the identifiable assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities acquired is capitalised and
included in the carrying amount of the associate.
Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost
of investment, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss. Where there is objective
evidence that the investment in an associate has been
impaired, the carrying amount of the investment is
tested for impairment in the same way as other non-
financial assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(c)

Associates (Continued)

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method
from the date when the investment ceases to be an
associate. When the Group retains an interest in the
former associate and the retained interest is a financial
asset, the Group measures the retained interest at
fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as
its fair value on initial recognition in accordance with
HKFRS 9. The difference between the carrying amount
of the associate at the date the equity method was
discontinued, and the fair value of any retained interest
and any proceeds from disposing a part interest in the
associate is included in the determination of the gain
or loss on disposal of the associate. In addition, all
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that associate are recognised on
the same basis as would be required if that associate
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an
associate but the Group continues to use the equity
method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the
proportion of the gain or loss that had previously been
recognised in other comprehensive income relating to
that reduction in ownership interest it that gain or loss
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of
the related assets or liabilities.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
interest in an associate is carried at cost less
impairment losses, if any. The results of an associate
are accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividends received and receivable during the year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d)

Joint arrangements

The Group is a party to a joint arrangement where
there is a contractual arrangement that confers joint
control over the relevant activities of the arrangement
to the Group and at least one other party. Joint control
is assessed under the same principles as control over
subsidiaries.

The Group classifies its interest in joint arrangements as
joint venture where the Group has rights to only the net
assets of the joint arrangement.

In assessing the classification of interest in joint
arrangements, the Group considers:

° the structure of the joint arrangement;

° the legal form of joint arrangements structured
through a separate vehicle;

° the contractual terms of the joint arrangement
agreement; and

° any other facts and circumstances (including
any other contractual arrangements).

The Group accounts for its interest in a joint venture in
the same manner as interest in an associate (i.e. using
the equity method - see note 4(c)).

The Company’s interest in a joint venture is stated at
cost less impairment losses, if any. Results of a joint
venture are accounted for by the Company on the
basis of dividends received and receivable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(e)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses.

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes its
purchase price and the costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are
recognised as an expense in profit or loss during the
financial period in which they are incurred.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated so
as to write off their cost or valuation net of expected
residual value over their estimated useful lives on a
straight-line basis. The useful lives, residual value and
depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at the end of each reporting period. The
useful lives are as follows:

Over the shorter of the
term of the lease or

Buildings

40 years

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the
term of the lease or
5 years

Furniture, fixtures and 10% to 27%

equipment
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(e)

U]

Property, plant and equipment (Continueq)

An asset is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount if its carrying amount is higher than the asset’s
estimated recoverable amount.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property,
plant and equipment is the difference between the
net sale proceeds and its carrying amount, and is
recognised in profit or loss on disposal.

Investment properties

Investment property is property held either to earn
rentals or for capital appreciation or for both, but
not held for sale in the ordinary course of business,
use in the production or supply of goods or services
or for administrative purposes. Investment property
is measured at cost on initial recognition and
subsequently at fair value with any change therein
recognised in profit or loss.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal
or when the investment property is permanently
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits
are expected from the disposal. Any gain or loss arising
on derecognition of the property, calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset is included in profit or loss
in the period in which the property is derecognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(9)

Government grant

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them and that the grants
will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which
the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically,
government grants whose primary condition is that
the Group should purchase, construct or otherwise
acquire non-current assets (including property, plant
and equipment) are recognised as deferred income in
the statement of financial position and transferred to
profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis over
the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial
support to the Group with no future related costs
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which
they become receivable and are recognised as other
revenue, rather than reducing the related expense.

The benefit of a government loan at a below-market
rate of interest is treated as a government grant,
measured as the difference between proceeds
received and the fair value of the loan based on
prevailing market interest rates.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h)

Leases
The Group as a lessee

All leases are required to be capitalised in the
statement of financial position as right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities, but accounting policy choices
exist for an entity to choose not to capitalise (i) leases
which are short-term leases and/or (i) leases for which
the underlying asset is of low-value. The Group has
elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities for low-value assets and leases for which at
the commencement date have a lease term of less
than 12 months. The lease payments associated with
those leases have been expensed on straight-line
basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset is initially recognised at cost and
would comprise:

(i) the amount of the initial measurement of the
lease liability (see below for the accounting
policy to account for lease liability);

(i any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

(iii) any initial direct costs incurred by the lessee;
and

(iv) an estimate of costs to be incurred by the
lessee in dismantling and removing the
underlying asset to the condition required by
the terms and conditions of the lease, unless
those costs are incurred to produce inventories.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h)

Leases (Continued)
Right-of-use asset (Continued)

The Group measures the right-of-use assets
applying a cost model. Under the cost model, the
Group measures the right-to-use at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liability.

Lease liability

The lease liability is recognised at the present value
of the lease payments that are not paid at the date of
commencement of the lease. The lease payments are
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if
that rate can be readily determined. If that rate cannot
be readily determined, the Group uses the lessee’s
incremental borrowing rate.

The following payments for the right-to-use the
underlying asset during the lease term that are not
paid at the commencement date of the lease are
considered to be lease payments:

(i) fixed lease payments less any lease incentives
receivable;
(i) variable lease payments that depend on an

index or a rate, initially measured using the
index or rate as at commencement date;

(iii) amounts expected to be payable by the lessee
under residual value guarantees;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(h) Leases (Continued)
Lease liability (Continued)

(iv) exercise price of a purchase option, if the
lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that
option; and

(v) payments of penalties for terminating the lease,
if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising
an option to terminate the lease.

Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group
measures the lease liability by:

(i) increasing the carrying amount to reflect
interest on the lease liability;
(ii) reducing the carrying amount to reflect the

lease payments made; and

(iii) remeasuring the carrying amount to reflect any
reassessment or lease modification, or to reflect
revised in-substance fixed lease payments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h)

Leases (Continued)
Lease liability (Continued)

When the Group revises its estimate of the term of
any lease (because, for example, it re-assesses the
probability of a lessee extension or termination option
being exercised), it adjusts the carrying amount of the
lease liability to reflect the payments to make over the
revised term, which are discounted using a revised
discount rate. The carrying value of lease liabilities is
similarly revised when the variable element of future
lease payments dependent on a rate or index is
revised, except the discount rate remains unchanged.
In both cases, an equivalent adjustment is made to the
carrying value of the right-of-use asset, with the revised
carrying amount being amortised over the remaining
(revised) lease term. If the carrying amount of the right-
of-use asset is adjusted to zero, any further reduction is
recognised in profit or loss.

The Group as a lessor

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the leased assets to the
lessee. All other leases are classified as operating
leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised
in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term
of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised as an expense on the straight-line basis
over the lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RARBHMENE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h) Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessor (Continued)

Any changes in the scope of the consideration for
a lease that was not part of the original terms and
conditions of the lease are accounted for as lease
modifications. The Group accounts for a modification
to an operating lease as a new lease from the effective
date of the modification, recognising the remaining
lease payments as income on a either a straight-line
basis or another systematic basis over the remaining
lease term.

(i) Financial instruments
() Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable
without a significant financing component)
is initially measured at fair value plus, for an
item not at fair value through profit or loss,
transaction costs that are directly attributable to
its acquisition or issue. Trade receivable without
a significant financing component is initially
measured at the transaction price.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on the trade date, that is,
the date that the Group commits to purchase
or sell the asset.

Regular way purchases or sales are purchases
or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the period generally established
by regulation or convention in the marketplace.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(i)

Financial instruments (Continued)

()

Financial assets (Continued)

Debt instruments

The Company classifies all of its debt
instruments at amortised cost:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest are measured at
amortised cost. Financial assets at amortised
cost are subsequently measured using the
effective interest method. Interest income,
foreign exchange gains and losses and
impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any
gain on derecognition is recognised in profit or
loss.

Equity instruments

On initial recognition of an equity investment
that is not held for trading, the Group could
irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in the investment’s fair value in
other comprehensive income. This election is
made on an investment-by-investment basis.
Equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income are measured at fair
value. Dividend income are recognised in profit
or loss unless the dividend income clearly
represents a recovery of part of the cost of the
investments. Other net gains and losses are
recognised in other comprehensive income
and are not reclassified to profit or loss. All
other equity instruments are classified as fair
value through profit or loss, whereby changes
in fair value, dividends and interest income are
recognised in profit or loss.

4.

TESHEEK#E

@

EMIAGE)

()

hEXEE AR DA

TREEGE)
BEHIA

ARABKEMBRE
BT AR EBHKA

NKF -
pax -l

BSHAR A W AU
BEKBESREM
RBZEEMRS
MEERXNAR
EFE - AZEE
- %78 NN
BE-SRMEERSE
PAE BRI 20K 122
HAAFE - F.E
WA~ I e
BB SR ER R
RER o EMAR L
FER e a8 s
RRER °

s

R VR R FE
EEB ZBRAKE
B AEE A AR
A B (2 32 12 A H
2 W= F 27
&&éZ&E@ﬁ
BEE - ZRETY
ﬁ&ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁo
EARERTAEAM
2HE W&z RAEK
BRANEETE o
fg B4 AR 18 =
RER  BRIERE
W A B B 2% R Uk =
HAELEKRAK - K
g == KBS 18 F KR
FE@iEWEﬁ
ﬂu ’ HTAi*ﬁ

EEEm e TEE
HERATEAESER
&“AEJAE
w WRAARESR
B BIRR B RFE
WA IBZSRERR o

S

—z-TF5% 181 M



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. FEETHEXR®
(Continued)
(i) Financial instruments (Continued) (i) SRIA#E)
(i) Impairment loss on financial assets (i) TREEZ RIEEE
The Group recognises loss allowances for 7N 5 B ph IR SE K
expected credit loss (“ECLs”) on financial assets AEtEZERMEE
measured at amortised cost including rental (BiEHERZS &
deposits, trade and other receivables, amounts e BR 5% B B th g Lk
due from an intermediate holding company and FIE - ER—EA
bank balances. ECLs are measured on either of MER A R RIE R
the following bases: RITHETT) 2 TEHA{E
EEE([BHEE
B ) R B

- BHEEER
BIATHFR —IHE

S

o 12-months ECLs: these are ECLs that o 1218 A 78 51
result from possible default events within FEEB:
the 12 months after the reporting date; BRIk ER
and Hi1& 1218 A

N E 2
EELHSZMH
B 2 T8 H
EEEBE
&

. Lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that . > HITEHI{E
result from all possible default events EEE A
over the expected life of a financial RemIT A
instrument. The maximum period FEETFHR
considered when estimating ECLs is the Fr B Al e 2
maximum contractual period over which HEGHEE
the Group is exposed to credit risk. ZHEHEE

B8 o N E
EHEER
E 18R Z R
Z &R B
RASEME
HIEER R
ZERAEH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(i)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of
credit losses. Credit losses are measured as
the difference between all contractual cash
flows that are due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive. The shortfall is then
discounted at an approximation to the assets’
original effective interest rate.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECLs for
trade receivables. The ECLs on these financial
assets are estimated on an individual basis for
customer with significant balances, estimated
based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific
to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current as well
as the forecast direction of conditions at the
reporting date, including time value of money
where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group
measures the loss allowance equal to 12-month
ECLs, unless when there has a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
the Group recognises lifetime ECLs. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECLs should be
recognised is based on significant increase in
the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(i)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

When determining whether the credit risk of
a financial asset has increased significantly
since initial recognition and when estimating
ECLs, the Group considers reasonable and
supportable information that is relevant and
available without undue cost or effort. This
includes both quantitative and qualitative
information analysis, based on the Group’s
historical experience and informed credit
assessment and including forward-looking
information.

The Group presumes that the credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than
30 days past due, unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group considers that default has occurred
when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate
that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIR MR

4.

"""" ®
For the year ended 31 December 2020 &, Z22020F12 A31 H L FE
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. FEETHEXR®
(Continued)
(i) Financial instruments (Continued) (i) SRIAGE)
(il Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued) (i) TEEE . REE
1B ()

The Group considers a financial asset to be
credit-impaired when:

° significant financial difficulty of the
debtor;
° a breach of contract, such as a default

or being more than 90 days past due;

° the restructuring of a loan or advance
by the Group on terms that the Group
would not consider otherwise;

o it is probable that the debtor will
enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

o the disappearance of an active market
for a security because of financial
difficulties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(i)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

The Group recognises an impairment gain or
loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments
with a corresponding adjustment to their
carrying amount through a loss allowance
account.

The Group writes off a financial asset when
there is information indicating that the debtor
is in severe financial difficulty and there is no
realistic prospect of recovery. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. Any recoveries made are
recognised in profit or loss.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial
assets is calculated based on the amortised
cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount less loss
allowance) of the financial asset. For non credit-
impaired financial assets, interest income is
calculated based on the gross carrying amount.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(i)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

(iv)

v)

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. The related interest expense is
recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the liabilities are derecognised as well as
through the amortisation process.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial
asset or financial liability and of allocating
interest income or interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts or payments through the
expected life of the financial asset or liability, or
where appropriate, a shorter period.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Group are
recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct
issue costs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

= A =
comwEENE 00 o
For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. FEEHBR@
(Continued)
(i) Financial instruments (Continued) (i) SRIAGE)
(vi) Derecognition i) AIFRERR
The Group derecognises a financial asset when EHCREESH
the contractual rights to the future cash flows ZARKBEME LN
in relation to the financial asset expire or when R B W - &
the financial asset has been transferred and the TREEDEE
transfer meets the criteria for derecognition in BRZREEIZBES

accordance with HKFRS 9.

SR EEAN LI
aRIEERFRE
B AREESKILE

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the TRBEREEASE
obligation specified in the relevant contract is AAFTA 2 EEMR
discharged, cancelled or expires. Br - 5T 8H 3k fE m B
AR IEHERR ©
Where the Group issues its own equity NAL B RHEHE
instruments to a creditor to settle a financial 7 @l B E G
liability in whole or in part as a result of MEBAZITRY

renegotiating the terms of that liability, the
equity instruments issued are the consideration
paid and are recognised initially and measured
at their fair value on the date the financial liability
or part thereof is extinguished. If the fair value
of the equity instruments issued cannot be

Z sk T EDAE R
E2EHEMOoAE
PreiT o s T A
BT HRE - T53%
ZEEAE AR
DIREHEERZ

reliably measured, the equity instruments are N BENRER R
measured to reflect the fair value of the financial FTE o WATEITHE
liability extinguished. The difference between mLTAZARERE

the carrying amount of the financial liability or
part thereof extinguished and the consideration
paid is recognised in profit or loss for the year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

1)

(k)

Inventories

Inventories are initially recognised at cost, and
subsequently at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost comprises all costs of purchase, costs of
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition. Cost
is calculated using the weighted average method. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary
to make the sale.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration
to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange
for those goods or services, excluding those amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes
value added taxes or other sales taxes and is after
deduction of any trade discounts.

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws
that apply to the contract, control of the goods or
service may be transferred over time or at a point in
time. Control of the goods or service is transferred over
time if the Group’s performance:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(k) Revenue recognition (Continueq)

o provides all of the benefits received and
consumed simultaneously by the customer;

o creates or enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

° does not create an asset with an alternative use
to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to
date.

If control of the goods or services transfers over time,
revenue is recognised over the period of the contract
by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise,
revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the goods or service.

(1) Sales of natural uranium

Customers obtain control of the natural uranium
when the goods are delivered to and have
been accepted. Revenue is thus recognised
upon when the customers accepted the
natural uranium. There is generally only one
performance obligation.

(i) Rental income

Rental income from operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the term of the relevant lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIR MR

4.

"""" o
For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. FEETHEXR®
(Continued)
(k)  Revenue recognition (Continued) (k) WARERE)

(i) Management fee income (i) EHEEIPA
Management fee income is recognised when EBEBWATING
services are provided. f#t ik 75 B T LA RE

(i) Interest income ) FEHA
Interest income from a financial asset is fisl & 4% 75 A1) 75 A A
recognised when it is probable that the M ARE BRI
economic benefits will flow to the Group and A& BEREHA] SEAT
the amount of income can be measured 2 AKeRRAS
reliably. Interest income is accrued on a time BEERN B WA o
basis, by reference to the principal outstanding FEUWA Ty 2R K
and at the effective interest rate applicable, EEXeRERE
which is the rate that exactly discounts the BH R - IR EE
estimated future cash receipts through the K25 BEARE
expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s iR & ETE T
net carrying amount on initial recognition. FH - KR RR

FTURELER & B R AL
REZBEERYZ
RZEEFE -

V) Dividend income V)  BREUA
Dividend income is recognised when the right % B WA B B 3L U
to receive the dividend is established. B AR £ B #E T 65 7

Contract liabilities BB E

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation

to transfer services to a customer for which the

Group has received consideration (or an amount of

consideration is due) from the customer.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

U

Income taxes

Income taxes for the year comprise current tax and
deferred tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from ordinary
activities adjusted for items that are non-assessable or
disallowable for income tax purposes and is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of reporting period. The amount of
current tax payable or receivable is the best estimate
of the tax amount expected to be paid or received that
reflects any uncertainty related to income tax.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
corresponding amounts used for tax purposes. Except
for goodwill not deductible for tax purposes and
initial recognition of assets and liabilities that are not
part of the business combination which affect neither
accounting nor taxable profits, taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures where the Group is able
to control the reversal of the temporary difference and
it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future, deferred tax liabilities
are recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences can be utilised,
provided that the deductible temporary differences
are not arises from initial recognition of assets and
liabilities in a transaction other than in a business
combination that affects neither taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. Deferred tax is measured at the tax
rates appropriate to the expected manner in which the
carrying amount of the asset or liability is realised or
settled and that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of reporting period, and reflects any
uncertainty related to income taxes.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

U

Income taxes (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income tax levied by the same taxation authority and
the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and
liabilities on a net basis.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the assets to be
recovered.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except
when they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income in which case the taxes are
also recognised in other comprehensive income or
when they relate to items recognised directly in equity
in which case the taxes are also recognised directly in
equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(m)

Foreign currencies

Transactions entered into by the group entities in
currencies other than the currency of the primary
economic environment in which it/they operate(s)
(the “functional currency”) are recorded at the
rates ruling when the transactions occur. Foreign
currency monetary assets and liabilities are translated
at the rates ruling at the end of reporting period.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the translation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise. Exchange differences arising on the
retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value
are included in profit or loss for the period except for
differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary
items in respect of which gains and losses are
recognised in other comprehensive income, in which
case, the exchange differences are also recognised in
other comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(m)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

On consolidation, income and expense items of
foreign operations are translated into the presentation
currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) at the
average exchange rates for the year, unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in which
case, the rates approximating to those ruling when
the transactions took place are used. All assets and
liabilities of foreign operations are translated at the
rate ruling at the end of reporting period. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity as
foreign exchange reserve (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate). Exchange differences
recognised in profit or loss of group entities’ separate
financial statements on the translation of long-term
monetary items forming part of the Group’s net
investment in the foreign operation concerned are
reclassified to other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity as foreign exchange reserve.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable
assets acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign
operation on or after 1 January 2005 are treated as
assets and liabilities of that foreign operation and
translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end
of reporting period. Exchange differences arising are
recognised in the foreign exchange reserve.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mﬂéﬁﬂi%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁif o

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. FEETHEXR®
(Continued)
(n)  Employee benefits n) EEEF
(i) Short term employee benefits () fTHE S 5 1

Short term employee benefits are employee MHEE RN ZE
benefits (other than termination benefits) that ErtEEERET
are expected to be settled wholly before twelve 1 B8 AR 75 /Y F 5
months after the end of the annual reporting HHRE+TZEA
period in which the employees render the 2RI EEEN 2

(i)

(i)

related service. Short term employee benefits
are recognised in the year when the employees
render the related service.

Defined contribution retirement plans

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit
scheme and the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (defined contribution plans) are
recognised as an expense when employees
have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised on the
earlier of when the Group can no longer
withdraw the offer of those benefits and when
the Group recognises restructuring costs
involving the payment of termination benefits.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(o)

Share-based payments

Share options were granted to employees under 2010
Share Option Scheme (Note 32).

The fair value of services received determined by
reference to the fair value of share options granted at
the grant date is recognised as an expense in full at
the grant date when the share options granted vest
immediately, with a corresponding increase in equity
(share options reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises
its estimates of the number of options that are
expected to ultimately vest. The impact of the revision
of the original estimates during the vesting period,
if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the
cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with
a corresponding adjustment to share options reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in share options reserve will
be transferred to share premium. When the share
options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still
not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will continue to be
held in share options reserve.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

()]

Impairment of assets (other than financial assets)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of the following assets
to determine whether there is any indication that
those assets have suffered an impairment loss or an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists
or may have decreased:

° property, plant and equipment;

o interests in an associate and a joint venture

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of the fair
value less costs of disposal and value in use) of an
asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount,
the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised
as an expense immediately, unless the relevant asset
is carried at a revalued amount under another HKFRS,
in which case the impairment loss is treated as a
revaluation decrease under that HKFRS.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, to the
extent that the increased carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately, unless
the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount
under another HKFRS, in which case the reversal of
the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase
under that HKFRS.

Il 198 CGN Mining Company Limited Annual Rep6rt 2020

4.

TESHEEK#E

(p)

EE (ERMEERMD) RE
REREHR  AEBER
AMATEEZREE A
ETRSAEATRETR
ZEEESXREBEX
B AR 2 R EEE R
BB FE KA B HOR
s>

£

. ME - BE IR

1
. RELEARIRAE %
P ER

EXEEE 2 YE 8 (B
LA Fo (B R & AR AN 248
REEZESEAE) G
BEREREER  AEE
ZEEBEDARZETR
[B] & 58 o J3 18 &5 18 BN B 7
REMALZ  HHBEER
B —BAVBERSER
REMMBHRBIBRI - £
PLIERT ¢ BB ERIE
ZBEB RS ERFER
TEE R ©

fin o (B B 18 RO BE 12 [0 3% -
ZEEZERHEN#ASE
HEgs5 At 2 Al E £
BoMZENZEEDET
ABAZEERNBEFE
7 4 TE SRR (B B 1B B TR T
ZHRMEE - REBERE
AR IBEER - R
@ﬁ%ﬁf%—é%%%
R R B (A5 BR A
%9h'E¢HaﬂT?'@@
BB B 18 IR IR 52 B S B 7S
o 2E Bl AR 1F E (h g
e



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

()]

(a)

(1)

Impairment of assets (other than financial assets)
(Continued)

Value-in-use is based on the estimated future
cash flows expected to be derived from the asset,
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset or cash generating unit.

Capitalisation of borrowing costs

Borrowing costs attributable directly to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets which
require a substantial period of time to be ready for
their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part
of the cost of those assets. Income earned on
temporary investments of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on those assets is deducted from
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which
they are incurred.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, which it is probable will result in an outflow of
economic benefits that can be reliably estimated.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
the existence of which will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(s)

()

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances
and short-term deposits that are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in their fair value, and are
used by the Group in the management of its short-
term commitments. For the purpose of the statement
of cash flows, bank overdrafts that are repayable on
demand and that form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management are included in cash and cash
equivalents.

Related parties

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s
family is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the
Company;

(i) has significant influence over the
Company; or

(iii) is a member of key management

personnel of the Company or the
Company’s parent.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(t) Related parties (Continued)

(b)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions apply:

(i)

(i)

V)

The entity and the Company are
members of the same group (which
means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or an
associate or joint venture of a member
of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the
same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third
entity and the other entity is an associate
of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of the employees
of the Group or an entity related to the
Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(t) Related parties (Continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions apply: (Continued)

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(vii)  The entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Company or to the Company’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are
those family members who may be expected
to influence, or be influenced by, that person
in their dealings with the entity and include (i)
that person’s children and spouse or domestic
partner; (i) children of that person’s spouse or
domestic partner; and (iii) dependents of that
person or that person’s spouse or domestic
partner.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the
directors are required to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered to
be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

(a) Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

(1) Deferred taxation on investrment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax
liabilities from investment properties that were
measured using the fair value model, the
directors of the Company reviewed the Group’s
investment property portfolios and concluded
that the Group’s investment properties in the
PRC were held under a business model whose
objective is to consume substantively all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment
property over time, rather than through
sale. Therefore, in measuring the Group’s
deferred taxation on investment properties,
the directors of the Company determined that
the presumption that the carrying amounts of
investment properties measured using the fair
value model recovered entirely through sale
was rebutted.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS 5. FEEHERMATTH

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION BERZZFERER®
UNCERTAINTY (Continuea)
(a) Critical judgements in applying accounting (@) RETBEFERZEE
policies (Continued) H (&)
(i) Deferred taxation on investment properties () KEYZFELRE
(Continued) (&
As a result, the Group continues to recognise lﬂi ’ ?5% g
deferred tax liabilities on change in fair value 1z %Z e
of investment properties on the basis that the B2 8 (8 A & a
HMEBRRERIRED

(i)

entire carrying amounts of the properties will be
recovered through use.

Significant influence over associate

As per note 20 to the consolidated financial
statements, the directors of the Company
considered Fission Uranium Corp. (“Fission”), in
which the Group has 16.74% (2019: 19.88%)
equity interest, is an associate of the Group as
the Group has significant influence over Fission
by virtue of its contractual right to appoint two
out of eight directors to the board of directors
of Fission.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

saREEEME e

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS 5. TESGTHHERMAE A

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION BHEZZEFERR®
UNCERTAINTY (Continuea)
(b)  Key sources of estimation uncertainty (b) MAEFFTHARZEZEER
R
(i) Impairment of trade and other receivables (i JEYIR R A M fE

and amount due from an intermediate holding
company

The impairment provisions for trade and
other receivables and amount due from an
intermediate holding company are based on
assumptions about ECLs. The Group uses
judgement in making these assumptions
and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, bases on the number of days that
an individual receivable is outstanding as well as
the Group’s historical experience and forward-
looking information at the end of the reporting
period. Changes in these assumptions and
estimates could materially affect the result
of the assessment and it may be necessary
to make additional impairment charge to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income. At 31 December
2020 and 2019, no loss allowance recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continuea)

(b)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(i)

Impairment of inventories

The management of the Group reviews an
market value at the end of each reporting
period and makes provision for the inventories.
The Group makes provision for impairment of
inventories based on the assessment of the
net realisable value. The net realisable value for
inventories was determined with reference to
the recent market prices of similar items within
the same industry. As at 31 December 2020,
the carrying amount of inventories of the Group
was approximately HK$1,767,335,000 (2019:
HK$1,441,980,000). During the year ended
31 December 2020, a reversal of impairment
of inventories of approximately HK$1,768,000
(2019: provision of impairment of inventories of
approximately HK$1,768,000) was recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continuea)

(b)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(i)

Fair value of investment properties

At the end of the reporting period, investment
properties are stated at fair value based on
the valuation performed by independent
professional valuer. In determining the fair
value, the valuers have based on a method of
valuation which involves certain estimates of
market conditions.

In relying on the valuation report, the directors
of the Company have exercised their judgement
and are satisfied that the assumptions used in
the valuation have reflected the current market
conditions. Changes to these assumptions
would result in changes in the fair values of the
Group’s investment properties being recognised
in profit or loss. The carrying amount of
investment properties measured at fair value
at 31 December 2020 was approximately
HK$52,623,000 (2019: HK$48,595,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continuea)

(b)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

()

Impairment loss on investment in a joint venture

At the end of the reporting period, the Company
reviews the carrying amounts of investment in a
joint venture to determine whether there is any
indication that the investment has suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the investment is
estimated in order to determine the extent of
the impairment loss, if any. The determination
of recoverable amount of investment in a joint
venture involves estimates as to: (1) future
revenue based on forecasted uranium prices;
(2) actual production volume of uranium mines
held by the joint venture; (3) exchange rate
between Tenge, the currency of the Republic
of Kazakhstan (“Kazakhstan”), and USD;
(4) the discount rate to be applied to such
revenue and costs for the purpose of deriving
a recoverable amount. If the recoverable
amount of the investment is estimated to be
less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the investment is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss. The
carrying amount of investment in a joint venture
is approximately HK$264,956,000 (2019:
HK$237,775,000) as at 31 December 2020. No
impairment is recognised for current and prior
years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continuea)

(b)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(v) Impairment loss on investment in an associate

At the end of the reporting period, the
Company reviews the carrying amounts of
investment in an associate to determine
whether there is any indication that the
investment has suffered an impairment loss.
If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the investment is estimated in order
to determine the extent of the impairment
loss, if any. The determination of recoverable
amount of investment in an associate involves
estimates as to: (1) the estimated future cash
flows expected to arise and a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value;
(2) the resources of uranium; (3) expected
market price and (4) exchange rate between
Canadian dollar (“CAD”), the currency of
Canada, and USD, for the purpose of deriving
a recoverable amount. If the recoverable
amount of the investment is estimated to be
less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the investment is reduced to its
recoverable amount. For the year ended 31
December 2020, a reversal of impairment
loss of approximately HK$59,423,000 (2019:
HK$18,267,000) was recognised in profit or
loss and included in share of results of an
associate. The carrying amount of investment in
an associate is approximately HK$553,570,000
(2019: HK$553,522,000) as at 31 December
2020.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continuea)

(b)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(i)

Fair value measurement and valuation
processes

Some of the Group’s investment properties are
measured at fair value for financial reporting
purposes. The directors of the Company are
responsible for determining the appropriate
valuation techniques and inputs for fair value
measurements. Details are set out in note 18.

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a
liability, the Group uses market-observable
data to the extent it is available. Where Level
1 inputs are not available, the Group engages
independent professional qualified valuers
to perform the valuation. The directors of
the Company work closely with the qualified
external valuers to establish the appropriate
valuation techniques and inputs to the model.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continuea)

(b)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(vii)

Income taxes

As at 31 December 2020, the Group has not
recognised the tax losses of approximately
HK$30,101,000 (2019: HK$27,747,000) due
to the unpredictability of future profit streams.
During the years ended 31 December 2020
and 2019, no tax loss was expired. These
losses relate to subsidiaries that have a history
of tax losses and the Group has not accounted
for the relevant deferred tax. The realisability
of the deferred tax asset mainly depends on
whether sufficient profits or taxable temporary
differences will be available in the future.

The directors of the Company determine the
deferred taxation assets based on the enacted
or substantially enacted tax rates and the best
knowledge of profit projections of the Group
for coming years during which the deferred
taxation assets are expected to be utilised.
The directors of the Company review the
assumptions and profit projections by the end
of the reporting period.
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BT (2019 F

hERIERAR AR

27,747,0007%87L) * R
B & oK B 788 7K 2R
AR o REE
20204 2019412
HAB1RIEFE - #
ERIAEED R -

R BERTEER
HIFf B A RIRESE -

RNEEN KA 18
HIEAERIEARR © iR
ERIREER AT B
MEZERTARRZE
BB BHm S ER
ol B s = & A] it B
)Eﬁ o

ARBEFEREMR
o KB EEHE M
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the chief executive officer (“CEQ”),
being the chief operating decision maker, for the purposes of
resource allocation and assessment of segment performance
focuses on types of goods or services delivered or provided.
Operating segments identified by the chief operating decision
maker are the same as the reportable segments of the Group.

Accordingly, the Group’s reportable and operating segments
are as follows:

a) natural uranium trading segment engages in trading of
natural uranium;

b) property investment segment engages in leasing; and
) other investments segment engages in investment in a

joint venture and an associate.

No operating segments have been aggregated to form the
above reportable segments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continuec)

Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results
by reportable and operating segments:

For the year ended 31 December 2020

,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, .
DEEE &)
PEPE R
REBZAHERLLHBL5)
BT S ST

HZE20205F12831H L EE

Natural

uranium Property Other
trading investment investments Total
AAME S MERE HivigE #st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TAET FiEx TAET FTiEx
Revenue S 2,859,214 3,012 - 2,862,226
Segment profit 720 | 141,133 828 55,784 197,745
Other operating income E g A 9,496
Finance costs BhERK AN (153)
Central administration costs FRIR TR AN (27,122)
Profit before taxation B A& A 179,966

For the year ended 31 December 2019

HZE2019512A31HIEFE

Natural
uranium
trading
RAWE S
HK$'000

Property
investment
MERE
HK$'000

Other
investments
HiiRE
HK$'000

HK$'000

TET

TET TET

TET

Revenue B 2,073,449 3,239 — 2,076,688
Segment profit SRz gl 104,416 2,490 76,788 183,694
Other operating income E AR A 20,497
Finance costs BB (92)
Central administration costs FR SR AT AR AR (27,927)
Profit before taxation BR 75 A4 A 176,172
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RARBHMENE ¢

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. THER®
Segment revenue and results (Continued) DEPEEERERE (E
The accounting policies of the operating segments are the KD ER 2 = ETIBUR B FE4 AT ik
same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 4. REBZ SFTBERAER - 2305 F
Segment profit represents the profit earned by each segment BB DR REUEF - WARDALE
without allocation of other operating income, certain finance MR A~ T RE A AN ]
costs and central administrative costs. This is the measure TR o W T E RS I R
reported to the CEO, being the chief operation decision maker FHERBEFERTE (AIE2EER
for the purposes of resource allocation and performance RE)VREZFTE ©
assessment.
Segment assets and liabilities PHEERER
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities LA 25 A& Ea] 3 K& &5 Ep
by reportable and operating segments: ZEENBEIN
Segment assets DEEE
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FiBT
Natural uranium trading RAHE S 2,121,722 1,565,737
Property investment MR E 54,969 52,492
Other investments B & 818,526 791,297
2,995,217 2,409,526
Unallocated corporate assets AOBRBIEE 1,192,570 685,840
Total assets BEME 4,187,787 3,095,366
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BAMBRMBMEE °

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION continuea) 6. EER
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) PEHEEREE(E)
Segment liabilities HEFE R
2019
20194
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET T
Natural uranium trading RAHE 5 2,112,380 1,103,004
Property investment VIR E 1,430 3,536
Other investments Hhig&E - -
2,113,810 1,106,540
Unallocated corporate liabilities RO AREE 46,917 44,585
Total liabilities BERE 2,160,727 1,151,125
For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and MERSEEERDHEZHEEE
allocating resources between segments: RME :
. all assets are allocated to operating segments other . BRIRTTEFRRE —Mﬁl
than bank balances and cash, income tax recoverable Bl P 15 B RA RAE R
and other assets for corporate use (including rental ﬁZEfﬂéE(@%ﬁﬁ%&
deposits, certain property, plant and equipment, right- & EBTYE BEER
of-use assets and other receivables). B EREEENAREAMm

FEWGRIR) SN - FREEEY

DERELLEDH

. all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other . BRIEN —BFRREZERA
than amounts due to an intermediate holding company SAEES Eﬁ EER/NECTE @I = IR }1?
and fellow subsidiaries, income tax payable, deferred NETBHR - EEFHEA
tax liabilities and other liabilities for corporate use BUARIERARI ARG 2 EAb
(including certain other payables and lease liabilities). BE(BFEE THMENK

HEERBEEREBE) I AER

BN EREDE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. 7oHER®
Other segment information Hith > E &R
2020 20205

Natural

uranium Property Other

trading

RAHES
HK$'000

investment
HK$'000

investments
HitgE
HK$'000

Unallocated
i)
HK$'000

Total
o
HK$'000

FiEn TR TR TR TR

Amounts included in the measure of (B HERHH BEER
BB/ GEA) 2508 :

segment profit or loss or segment
assets after charging/(crediting):

Addition to non-current assets (Note a)  AE IR &R (Hiita) 524 - - - 524
Depreciation of property, nE - BEREENE

plant and equipment 44 1 - 18 63
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 436 - - 1,423 1,859
Interest expenses on loans RE—HRZHBAR

from a fellow subsidiary BRZFIB T 35,806 - - - 35,896
Interest expenses on lease liabilities REREFST 58 - - 46 104
Reversal of provision for inventories FERERD (1,768) - - - (1,768)
Changes in fair value of investment RENEARER

properties - (855) - - (855)
Share of results of a joint venture Bl —MAELEEE - - (70,844) - (70,844)
Share of results of an associate (Note b)  [E(E—ERE A 71 24%E

(Fitstn) = - 15,060 - 15,060

Amounts regularly provided to ERRERHTERME

the CEO but not included in the BAEERDPEES

measure of segment profitor loss 2 EEEZFE :

or segment assets:
Income tax expenses FERTIL - - - 24,749 24,749
Interest income FIEMA - - - (9,106) (9,106)
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e VIR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

6.

2019

Amounts included in the measure of

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continuec)

Other segment information (Continued)

TROBERAIDEER

Natural
uranium

trading

HK$'000
A7

6.

Property
investment
HK$'000
TH

DEER @)
HiHEER (4

20195

Other
investments
Athix &
HK$'000
THr

Unallocated
APE
HK$'000
TAT

Total
@t

HK$'000

B

segment profit or loss or segment ~ SHB/(GFA) 2FE

assets after charging/(crediting):
Addition to non-current assets (Note a) ~ AEJERE &R (Hiita) 2,207 = = 14 2,241
Depreciation of property, WE - BELERENE

plant and equipment 132 55 - 585 172
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 181 - - 1,551 1,782
Interest expenses on loans RE—HRZHBAR

from a fellow subsidiary BRZFIB T 20,352 - - - 20,352
Interest expenses on lease liabilties REREFST 22 = = e} 114
Provision for inventories ek 1,768 = = = 1,768
Changes in fair value of LI EYNINELE)

investment properties = (272) = = 272)
Share of resuits of a joint venture Bl-HAEtEEE = = (64,872) = (64,872)
Share of results of an associate (Note b)  [E(E—ERE A 71 24%E

(BzFb) - - (11916) - (11,916)

Amounts regularly provided to ERMERERTERY

the CEO but not included in the B FEERD HEH

measure of segment profit or YA PEETEZFE

loss or segment assets:
Income tax expenses R - - - 16,163 16,163
Interest income MEKA - - - (19,965) (19,965)

Note b:

assets.

the share of results of an associate.

Note a: Non-current assets excluded financial instruments and deferred tax

A reversal of impairment loss of interest in an associate of
approximately HK$59,423,000 (2019: HK$18,267,000) is included in

fiia: JERMBEETEESRTAREL
BRAE -

MizEb : MR &R R Z SR EE R
01 4959,423,000/%5 7T (20194 :
18,267,000/ 7T) B 51| A FE{H —
B R RIEEF o

hERIERAR AR

—ETFFR
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RARBHMENE ¢

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. IHER®

Geographical information 3 35 & R

The Group’s operations are located in the Hong Kong REBEMEBAURFREARIEAM
Special Administrative Region of the Peoples’s Republic of BB AR RITTERE ([ BB EFRITTIR
China (“HKSAR?), the PRC, Kazakhstan, Canada and United 1) - FE - REERETER - NEX
Kingdom (“UK?). KEE] o

Information about the Group’s revenue from external BEAEBERBINIR R E SRR
customers is presented based on the location of the R ERLERBCE T ES o
operations. Information about the Group’s non-current assets BAREBEIERSEENELER
is presented based on the geographical location of the assets. BEEMERHEZES o

Revenue from external
customers Non-current assets
REMBEFHNEXRE FRBEE
2020 2019 2020 2019

2020F  2019%F 2020F  2019%
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
TR TR FTHERT TR

Europe (other than UK) BN (EBIER SN 989,836 281,982 - =
us = 678,732 749,877 - =
PRC H 427,925 380,492 52,645 48,616
Canada mex 265,495 146,657 553,570 553,522
Kazakhstan M pE e HTiE 221,020 196,591 264,956 237,775
UK E 205,942 206,860 1,948 2,062
HKSAR BEARRRATTH R 71,803 93,255 629 2,300
Mauritius FEEBKE 1,473 = - =
Japan HA - 20,974 = =

2,862,226 2,076,688 873,748 844,275

Note:  Non-current assets excluded financial instruments and deferred tax MizE: FERBDEETEESRIAREL
assets. HIBEEE -
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MEMISWMARME

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continuec)

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of the corresponding years
contributing over 10% of the total sales of the Group is as

follows:

DEER @)
BRIERFYER

ATHEIRERBEFREAGASE
B HE RRRBIR10%N TS 2 &3

Customer A' BER
Customer B! 2R
Customer C' ZFEA
Customer D! =R

i Revenue from natural uranium trading segment
2 The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total
revenue of the Group

7. REVENUE

Revenue represents amount received and receivable from sale
of natural uranium, net of returns, discounts allowed and sales
related taxes, and rental income (net of direct outgoings: nil)
during the year. Revenue recognised during the year are as
follows:

B
2020 2019
20205 20194
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHEIT
424,913 377,253
N/A2 220,640
TiE A2
400,445 N/A2
TER?
291,715 N/A?
B2
i RERRME S D2 %5
2 MRS LAY R RB AN EEAREE
BB 10%
=E 20

EXRBIRFAIBREE - AFFTN
KRR HET R AR R 2 EW K
FEY IR - ARBEE WA (KR
B ) - RAFERERBZE
EEWT

2020 2019

20204 20194

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET BT

Sale of goods HEE M 2,859,214 2,073,449
Rental income (net of direct LU GOBRE A « )

outgoings: nil) 3,012 3,239

2,862,226 2,076,688

The revenue from sales of goods were recognised at a point
in time and under HKFRS 15.

REHEEMHEXEBRERTEH
B EERIFEA5EN K — R R
=7 o

[T
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RARBHMENE ¢

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

8. OTHER OPERATING INCOME 8. HM&EEWA
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET FBT
Interest income IS ON 9,106 19,965
Government grants BT B & 216 =
Others Hfth 174 532
9,496 20,497
9. FINANCE COSTS 9. MWEMRAK
2020 2019
20205 20194
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FiBT
Interest expenses on loans from a RE—HRRMBARERZ
fellow subsidiary FEZH 35,896 20,352
Interest expenses on bank borrowings  $R1T1E Z A B 5% H 4,782 =
Interest expenses on loan from REEBEERARERZFIE
immediate holding company X 107 -
Interest expenses on lease liabilites ~ FAE&EH B3 H 104 114
40,889 20,466
10. INCOME TAX EXPENSES 10. A& H
2020 2019
2020 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FET
Hong Kong profits tax BEBNED
— current year —AREFE 6,977 12,341
— (over)/under provision in prior years ~ —iB{EFEEME (HBRE) /T2 (80) 118
6,897 12,459
UK Corporation tax RE 2R
— current year —REE 14,406 3,178
21,303 15,637
Deferred tax BAERIR 3,446 526
24,749 16,163
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

10.

INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued)

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed
The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No.7) Bill 2017 (“the Bill")
which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The
Bill was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and was gazetted
on the following day. Under the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime, the first HK$2 million of profits of qualifying corporation
will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will
be taxed at 16.5%. For the years ended 31 December 2020
and 2019, the profits of all Group entities in Hong Kong are
not selected by the management for the two-tiered profits
tax rates regime and continue to be taxed at the flat rate of
16.5%.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax
rate of the PRC subsidiary is 25% for both years.

For the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, the PRC
subsidiary did not have any assessable income.

The subsidiaries operating in the UK are subject to Corporation
Tax Act of UK and the tax rate of the UK subsidiary is 19% for
both years.

Pursuant to the Tax Code (Revised Edition) implemented
since January 2018 in the Kazakhstan (the “New Tax Code
of Kazakhstan”), dividends paid by subsurface users to
foreign shareholders without permanent establishments in
Kazakhstan (the “Foreign Shareholders”) will be exempted
from the Kazakhstani withholding tax if (i) as of the date when
the dividends are paid, such Foreign Shareholder has owned
shares (interest) in the company for more than three years,
and (i) within 12 months prior to the dividend payment date,
subsurface users undertake further processing (after primary
processing) of at least prescribed rate of the total extracted
minerals, by its own production facilities in Kazakhstan or
owned by its affiliated resident entity in Kazakhstan.

10.

REHZE @

R2018F3A21H » BAEMEAZHE
2017 (ER]) (BB75%) 1501
BR(ZERD 58I AZRANEBH
RHIE - HRMN2018F3 F28H %%
ERAERE  WHRERATIE - &R
ZRNEGEHBXRGE - 8RR
MNE—BSETaMNNFEHEA
8.25% - iR — B BB TTHYE HHY
ST R B 516.5% ° & 220204
201912 A31HILFE A%
BB BHTA AR R
B E B BUZ R — R F SRR R H
ST - Wi EEIRIR16.5%R) 2]
— TR o

BIERBEMEMERE([DEFRE
Tk REEWIED - PREHER
AR MEFE 2 TR 525% °

HZE2020F 2019512 A31H 1
FESEE » F BB AR BT
FERBLR A o

R EE 7 B A R BEEER
PEEEEL - REMBRRRW
EFE 2K HB19% ©

BIEE2018F1 AR EHRIGIER
Hr3B A BES T he A % (e R HL
D) - HTER N EE R EE AR
BRER ([EHMNRER ) B E AR Ia
FHTAH T EREAEARRE -
AN GBETERAGH - & (R
BB - A2 A - RINRERF
B T EREREARRD ()
FRBSE - R()EMRE - AL
ZBRIM12EAR -t TNERER
SENEEFTFRE AT DR R Ll
MIBEERETINT FMNIE%) -
TR EE Gh 18 00 T AR TS /Y 4E A B8 L
RWBERANARA - BAAEEE
Bk R BN Ez i T AREAE
ABEEBENEREE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

10.

INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued)

The Group has held shareholding in the joint venture for more
than three years and all extracted minerals of the joint venture
are further processed in its own production facilities, the
dividends received by the Group from the joint venture are not
subject to the Kazakhstani withholding tax in accordance with
the provisions of the New Tax Code of Kazakhstan.

Pursuant to the EIT Law, the earnings distributed from the
joint venture to the PRC subsidiary is subject to a tax rate
difference between the tax rate under EIT Law and the tax rate
under the New Tax Code of Kazakhstan.

As at the end of the reporting period, the accumulated
unrecognisable taxation for undistributable profits of the joint
venture is HK$34,327,000 (2019: HK$26,440,000).

Pursuant to the laws and regulations of the Cayman Islands,
the Group is not subject to any income tax in the Cayman
Islands for the both years.

The income tax expenses for the year can be reconciled to the
profit before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income as follow:

10.

g8t @

AEERARLEENEDBEB=
FHEECENEAMRREE
BDEEABEESERETRINTE
B Al AEERBEAEEEN
DELAHRIRIG B BOEMRE - T
BRRIE R AR TRIEFAISN ©

RIBFEDEMRETE - LRTE
MNE AT ZEREREMNENZ
PR ER B BURE N 2 HE 2
FEER -

AECEBERESHANTA
2R & B R 5T 0] i R R IE
/34,327,000 7% (20194 :
26,440,000587¢) °

RIBASHES ZERRER A%
B 70 WA 8 F [ /B ANl = B
SRS -

FAMSHRX I EES 18R
th 2> T 2 2 7% BR 50 A 4 1) 60 BR ZZ
T

2020 2019

20205 20196

HK$’000 HK$'000

THER AT

Profit before taxation BrA AR A 179,966 176,172
Tax calculated at rates applicable to profits in the 1278 BT % Bl A & 5 B 7w 7l

respective tax jurisdiction concerned ZBEGE 2 HIE 37,550 35,077

Tax effect of share of results of a joint venture  Efh—RIAECEXE 2 ik E (17,711) (16,218)

Tax effect of share of results of an associate [EE—HME N R EE L HBTE 2,485 (1,966)

Tax effect of expenses not deductible PAHBZ B B E

for tax purpose 1,116 1,383

Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose  RAI A 7 T4 £ (2,698) (2,189)
Deferred tax on undistributed earnings of —HEECERDEBFMEL

ajoint venture HIA 3,388 (54)

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AERHBEE L VBT 2 589 12

(Over)/under provision in prior years BAFE (BERE) / BETR (80) 118

Others EAth 110 -

Income tax expenses for the year ARE B SRS 24,749 16,163

Details of deferred taxation are set out in note 31.
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e VIR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

11.

12.

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Profit for the year has been arrived at

11.

AEZENEME, GA)

RE A

2020
20205

HK$°000
Fib%

2019
20194
HK$'000
FAT

after charging/(crediting): T BIBBED :
Auditors’ remuneration ZEREN S 1,285 1,652
Carrying amount of inventories sold EHEFERAE 2,666,741 1,931,015
(Reversal of impairment)/impairment FE BEERE),RESE

loss in respect of inventories (1,768) 1,768
Cost of inventories recognised as an BRABHI KT AHEE

expense and included in cost of sales AR FE R AR 2,664,973 1,932,783
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BEKEETE

equipment 63 772
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAEEENE 1,859 1,732
Short-term lease expenses REHESA 981 976
Staff costs (including directors’ BTN (BEEEHE)

emoluments) (Note 14) (M¥5E14) 13,918 13,413
Share of income tax expense of BiE—MEeEEMEHI N

a joint venture 19,661 15,620
Net exchange loss/(gain) FERIEL S (KE) 2,823 (464)

DIVIDENDS

12.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, a final dividend of

HK1 cent (2019: HKO.5 cents) per share in respect of the year

ended 31 December 2019 has been declared and paid.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a final dividend

of HKO.5 cents per ordinary share (2019: HK1 cent) in respect

of the year ended 31 December 2020 has been proposed

by the board of directors of the Company and is subject

to approval by the shareholders in the forthcoming annual

general meeting.

Hﬁz%:\

REZE2020F12A31HIEFE -
BEEMAIREFHZE2019412 A31
BIEFENSRRER 1B

(2019%F : 0.5541) -

PRERLERE - AAREEER
HIRBE E2020%F12 8318 1E5
B2 RAEME B &8%0.5%1l (2019

F B - ZERIRR
BERA BN ARBIRBEREH

A o

% B AL
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RARBHMENE ¢

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE 13. BREF
The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share RARER ANEMERERREE
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the B THIETHEETE

following data:

2020 2019
20205 20194

HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TAT

Earnings 25
Eamings for the year attributable to the owners IR st E B EARZF] 2~
of the Company for the purpose of calculating <A B1HE A A IR G R E T

basic earnings per share 155,217 160,009
Number of shares REE
Weighted average number of ordinary ARG EERERERN
shares for the purpose of calculating AR IR
basic earnings per share 6,600,682,645 6,600,682,645
The diluted earnings per share is equal to the basic earnings R EEE A EL G ENE 2
per share as there were no dilutive potential ordinary shares BB - MEREERNER
during both years. BRERRZF -

14. STAFF COSTS (INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ 14. EIRA (BEEEM$)

EMOLUMENTS)
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET AT
Salaries, allowances, Fre - EEL - HEF RIEAT
other benefits and bonus 13,275 12,669
Retirement benefit schemes RIREFIGT IR
contribution 643 744

13,918 13,413
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

14.

STAFF COSTS (INCLUDING DIRECTORS’
EMOLUMENTS) (Continued)

The subsidiaries in Hong Kong operate defined contribution
schemes (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance which
are available to qualified employees. The assets of the
schemes are held separately from those of the subsidiaries
in independently administered funds. Monthly contributions
made by the subsidiaries are calculated based on certain
percentages of the applicable payroll costs or fixed sums as
stipulated under the relevant requirements, as appropriate.
The employees are required to contribute 5% of their monthly
salaries or up to a maximum of HK$1,500 and they can
choose to make additional contributions. The employees are
entitled to 100% of the employer’s Mandatory Contributions
upon their retirement at the age of 65, death or total
incapacity.

Pursuant to the regulations of the relevant authorities in
the PRC and UK, the subsidiaries of the Company in those
countries participate in respective government retirement
benefit schemes (the “Schemes”) whereby the subsidiaries are
required to contribute to the Schemes to fund the retirement
benefits of the eligible employees. Contributions made to the
Schemes are calculated based on certain percentages of the
applicable payroll costs as stipulated under the requirements
in the PRC and UK. The relevant authorities of the PRC and
UK are responsible for the entire pension obligations payable
to the retired employees. The only obligation of the Group
with respect to the Schemes is to pay the ongoing required
contributions under the Schemes.

The retirement benefit schemes contribution represent gross
contributions by the Group to the Schemes operated by
the relevant authorities of the PRC and UK and the defined
contribution schemes operated in Hong Kong.

The total cost charged to profit or loss of HK$643,000 (2019:
HK$744,000) represents contributions payable to these
schemes by the Group in respect of the current accounting
period.

Details of the Company’s share options granted to the
employees of the Group are set out in note 32.

14.

ETRA (BREEHS)

(&

BEAMBARAEEKEERES
BRHIEATE T EHEBIHEEITE R H
KETEl([afEStEll) - ZEarE
ZEERNBARZEENBILE
BESANDFRE - MBARZE
R IRR A R EFTEIBA AR
R A2 ET B 2L EE R
BARERABAME)E - EBA
BRHEAH 25%3 &= 1,500/ LIk
HR - MEE I REEL REIME
Ko EERGSERIK « FHTESR
R TVERE IR ZEH100% 2 B
SRR o

RETERRBEEERZHAM
ARBZPEMBARZEEIAR
R ENEE ([ZFE)) - &
it ZENB A RARZETEIE
HER - AN A BERER ZRIK
BA o MR EE L 2 1R
AR R B e 2 B0 AR 151 AT R T A3 R 6 A
RAZBEBDLLEE - PEIKR
EREEERARRRKERX(E
2 2BURRER - AEBFLZSE
ARl BEEERREZFTEIRE
TEHFTR 5K -

SRR AN SRS
ERREEEE REF I ZFTE
PARAE & 2 E BT BIE
2 BLREER -

BBk 2 486K 2643,00078 7T
(20194F : 744,000/ 7T) » BNARE
BERAE TR xS RN 2

K -

ARBRAEEETREBEEZ
BRI ES2 ©

hERIERAR AR
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RARBHMENE ¢

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

15. DIRECTORS’ AND INDIVIDUALS WITH 15. EERBESEHEMA T 2B

HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS €

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (@) EEBERFETHAESME
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the eight BTSN\ 4 (20194F ¢
(2019: eight) directors and the chief executive were as NB)EERFETHRAE
follows: ZMET

HZE2020F12H31HLEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020

E
Other emoluments
Hitie
Retirement
Salaries, benefit
allowances and schemes
other benefits  contribution
Fees & 28 RHER Total
ik REMER TR @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL S TAL FER
Emoluments paid or receivable BEHAWARARA
in respect of director’s other (EYNGIE w2
services in connection with the BEHRBEE
management of the affairs of s e
the Company and its subsidiary
undertakings
Executive directors: HTEE
An Junjing’ ZEIE - 950 - 950
Chen Deshao FRi=as - 864 - 864
Emoluments paid or receivablein  —BALHETES (&
respect of aperson’s senvicesasa ARLDEIHEKEA
director, whether of the Company %K 7E%) ZIREEE
or its subsidiary undertakings SOES L4
Non-executive drectors: FHTEE:
Yu Zhiping Rt - - = =
Sun Xu A - - - =
Yin Xiong Bt = = = -
Indlependent non-executive BUHHTEE -
drectors:
Qiu Xianhong allies 120 - - 120
Lee Kwok Tung Louis 5] 120 - - 120
Gao Pei Ji BiEE 120 - - 120
360 1,814 - 2,174

Il 226 CGN Mining Company Limited Annual Rep6rt 2020



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

15.

DIRECTORS’ AND INDIVIDUALS WITH
HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2019

Fees
HK$'000
&

ESHABALALANE
NRXHEHER

Emoluments paid or receivable
in respect of director’s other

€@

15. EERZSHEMA T 2N

() ESKRFETBRAEHE

(%

i

HZE2019F12A31B IEF

i3

Other emoluments
Ethfie
Retirement
Salaries, benefit
allowances and schemes

other benefits contributi
RINET]
REMER HEE
HK$'00 HK$'000
T TE

HK$ 000
A7

services in connection with the RSB EL R
management of the affairs of #e
the Company and its subsidiary
undertakings
Executive directors: BHi7EE
An Junjing’ ZEI = 950 - 950
Chen Deshao BRIz - 864 - 864
Emoluments paid or receivable n  —BATHEEES (R
respect of aperson’s senvicesasa  ARDERENBARE
director, whether of the Company K2 &%) ZRECER
or its subsidiary undertakings sl e
Non-executive directors: FHEE
Yu Zhiping? S - - - -
Sun Xu? ik - - - -
Yin Xiong? B - - - -
Independient non-executive BUFHTEE
directors:
Qiu Xianhong il 120 - - 120
Lee Kwok Tung Louis Gl 120 - - 120
Gao Pei Ji BEE 120 - - 120
360 1,814 - 2,174
T Mr. An Junjing is also the CEO of the Company and his T REBEENAARAAEEHR
emoluments disclosed above included those for services rendered 118 ' REX < 215
by him as the CEO. HETERERAITE B
2 During the year end 31 December 2020, no emoluments were 2 B ZE2020F12A31AIEF
paid or payable to such directors of the Company by the Group B AEBREEZMEL
(2019: HKS nil). HIEEER (20194 :
THTT) -
P EZEERR AR

—ETFFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

15. DIRECTORS’ AND INDIVIDUALS WITH
HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(Continued)

There was no arrangement under which a director
or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the years ended 31 December
2020 and 2019.

The directors of the Company did not receive any
emoluments from the Group as an inducement to join
or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss
of office during the years ended 31 December 2020
and 2019.

During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019,
retirement benefit schemes contribution for directors is
borne by CGNPC, the ultimate parent of the Company,
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“CGNPC Group”). No apportionment has been made
as the directors of the Company consider that it is
impracticable to apportion this amount between their
services to the Group and their services to CGNPC
Group.

(b) Individuals with highest emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments
in the Group, one (2019: two) were directors and the
CEO of the Company whose emoluments are included
in the disclosures in note 15(a) above. The emoluments
of the remaining four (2019: three) individuals were as
follows:

Salaries, allowances and other

15. EERZSHEMA T 2N

cAC )

(a) EERIETHAE#HS
(&)
REE2020%2019F12 A

B1TRILFER - WHEEM
EZCHEXRAENELE
AT Hr B ey 22 B o

REZE2020%2019F12 A
S1HIEFEA  AAFE
ERKEEMR AIRFEINE
S TE N BE AN £ B F sk A (8
R =BT HYIREN o

KRB E2020%F K2019F12
A31HLEFE  EHRIK
B FFEIER T B AR A
CEREEARFEZER
N REKE AR (G
BiZEE ) A - ARAR
AEERARERAEHE
o B A% A B 4R AR 7S
DEZEB L AT
i & AR AVEL D8 o

(b) ESHMAL

RAEB R E&e&H A
+d s —&(2019F : [
B)ERNABEEREER
7B - H¥FBE E Ll
T15(@)FEHEE - 2 1
% (20194 : =&) AL
MEFMAEDT :

2020
20204

2019
20194
HK$'000
FBTT

HK$’000
TR

e R EEAMER

benefits 4,345 2,698
Discretionary bonus EIEAL 1,130 395
Retirement benefit schemes RIREFIET B RR

contribution 187 303

5,662 3,396
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;nv_\éﬂji%iﬁ%%m{ra """"""""""""""""""""""""""" ®
For the year ended 31 December 2020 &, Z22020F12 A31 H L FE
15. DIRECTORS’ AND INDIVIDUALS WITH 15. EERESHMA L ZH
HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS (continuea) cAC )
(b)  Individuals with highest emoluments (Continueqd) b) EEFMALGE

He A THEA

The emoluments were within the following bands:

2020 2019
20204 20194F
Number of Number of
Individuals Individuals
N AE
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ %1,000,000/8 7T 1 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7c 21,500,000
BIT 2 2
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T22,000,000
BIT 1 _

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. Y¥ > MENRKRE

Furniture,
fixtures
Leasehold and office
improvements equipment
Buildings HE B £8
BF NELE R 1E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THR T#x THT
COST PR
At 1 January 2019 720191 A1H 16,742 577 4,958 22,217
Additions NE - - 82 82
Surplus on valuation hERH 52 - - 5412
Transfer to investment properties (Note 18) ~ EEZREME (i3H18) (21,916) = - (21,916)
Exchange realignment B 5 A - = (9) ()
At 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 2019612431 A 220204
1A1H 238 577 5,031 5,846
Additions B - - 524 524
Exchange realignment 5 A = = 7] @)
At 31 December 2020 R2020% 12317 238 577 5,553 6,368
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND ZiHTERAME
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2019 120191 A1H 3,039 577 4,195 7,811
Provided for the year REREE 87 - 685 772
Transfer to investment properties (Note 18)  EEZ R EME (Fi:19) (2,888) = - (2,889)
Exchange realignment B R - - o) 9
At 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 12019128318
20201 A18 238 577 4871 5,686
Provided for the year TEERE - - 63 63
Exchange realignment A - = (3) ()
At 31 December 2020 12020124318 238 577 4,931 5,746
CARRYING VALUES RAE
At 31 December 2020 202012 A31H - - 622 622
At 31 December 2019 120196124318 - - 160 160

hERIERAR AR
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RARBHMENE ¢

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

17. RIGHT OF USE ASSETS AND LEASE
LIABILITIES

(a) Right-of-use assets

17. ERAEEEREERR

(a)

EREEE

2020 2019
20205 20194

HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T

Properties ES

1,977 3,836

The Group has lease arrangements for staff quarter
and offices. The lease terms are generally ranged from
two to five years.

Additions to the right-of-use assets for the year ended

31 December 2019 amounted to approximately
HK$2,159,000 due to new leases of offices.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group
did not enter into any lease agreement.

(b) Lease liabilities

(b)

AEBFREIBERPR
EREHERH - HEH
RBAENFRERLS -

HZE2019F12A31HILF
ERFAMRAESEHE
EE®MNA2,159,000/5
ﬁo

HZE2020%F12 A31 8 IH4F
B AEBIWEIT M
HEwE -

HERE

2020 2019

20204 20194F

HK$’°000 HK$'000

FET T

Current Mk 704 1,703
Non-current IERB 1,162 2,021
1,866 3,724
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

17. RIGHT OF USE ASSETS AND LEASE
LIABILITIES (Continued)

(b) Lease liabilities (Continued)

17.

EHAREEREERR
()

(b) HEEEEFE)

31 December

31 December

2020 2019

20204 20194

12A31H 12H31H

Amounts payable under HK$000 HK$'000
lease liabilities REHEEERGNEHE TET THT
Within one year —FR 704 1,703
After one year but within two years —ERBERFER 442 868
After two years but within five years MEZERFR 720 1,153
1,866 3,724

Less: Amount due for settlement B RTZERREEEE

within 12 months ok (704) (1,703)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months A+ — (A B A RIHEE 4 1,162 2,021

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group
entered into a number of new lease agreements in
respect of renting offices and recognised lease liability
of approximately HK$2,159,000.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group
did not enter into any lease agreement.

(c) Amounts recognised in profit or loss

HE2019F12HA31 B 1L
[ AEBRI A THEBH
RERFHE BRI ERE
EaE42,159,000/5 7T °

HE2020F12A31 B IEFE
B NEBEWEST ST
e -

() REZHEINSHE

2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000
THT THL

Depreciation expense on right-of-use & AEEENES H
assets 1,859 1,732
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEAENF AT 104 114
Expense relating to short-term leases EHIREX 981 976

(d Hft

(d) Others

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the total
cash outflow for leases amount to approximately
HK$2,943,000 (2019: HK$2,934,000).

HZE20205F12A31H L5
B HEMHSRLRE
#7/52,943,0005 7T (2019
£ : 2,934,000/87T) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

18. REW%E

18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

HK$’000
TER
FAIR VALUE RAE
At 1 January 2019 720191 A1H 30,359
Transfer from property, plant and equipment W% - BE R R 19,028
Net increase in fair value recognised in profit or loss EREERRZ AR EFEM 272
Exchange realignment B 5 oA (1,064)
At 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 201912 H318 &2020F
1H1H 48,595
Net increase in fair value recognised in profit or loss BERERERZ AN BTG 855
Exchange realignment e 3,173
At 31 December 2020 2020512 A31H 52,623
The carrying value of investment properties shown above are MEEEEZEMETIRF

situated in the PRC and held under medium-term lease.

All of the Group’s property interests to earn rentals or for
capital appreciation purposes are measured using the
fair value model and are classified and accounted for as
investment properties.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group has
transferred an office located in the PRC from property,
plant and equipment to investment property due to the
change in use, which was evidenced by commencement of
development with a view to inception of an operating lease
to another party. The carrying value of the unit on the date of
reclassification amounted to HK$13,616,000 with fair value
of approximately HK$19,028,000, which resulted in a gain
on revaluation of property of approximately HK$5,412,000 in
other comprehensive income.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

18.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties held by
Beijing Sino-Kazakh as at 31 December 2020 and 2019
have been arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out
on that date by an independent qualified professional valuer
not connected with the Group, Avista Valuation Advisory
Limited, who has among its staff members of the Hong Kong
Institute of Surveyors with recent experience in the location
and category of property being valued. The valuation was
arrived at on an open market value basis by using the income
approach of capitalising the net rental income receivable from
the existing tenancies and the reversionary income potentials.

There has been no change from the valuation technique used
in the prior year. In estimating the fair value of the properties,
the highest and best use of the properties is their current use.

The Group’s investment properties that are measured
subsequent to initial recognition at fair value are
HK$52,623,000 (2019: HK$48,595,000). They are grouped
into fair value hierarchy Level 3 based on the degree to which
the inputs fair value measurements is observable.

There were no transfers between levels in fair value hierarchy
for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.

18.

REWHE»

1b R AR 1S 820204 22019412
RA31BFRHEARERIEEMEN N
RETIEREAEEERRE BT
AERBEGEMEDT AN
BRARFTETAEMER - L
B EEABRARSSEIAS
BRHEMEees  HALHAE
BV Z R EER 2 (S EE
B - ZhHESKEARMEREE - &
BREREHETHE - BRERNML
REBAFHENHESRAFERE
BIEETR U A MERK -

PSR — R A A
B o B BYEY DREME
W% BRI FE RIS 2
A -

REBZIREMHENN P ERE 2
N {E52,623,000/8 7T (20194F :
48,595,000/ 7) 5t 2 + THIRAR
BEABRRNEESERAREE=
o

HZE2020F k2019512 A31H 1E
FE o WEAARESRHIE 2B
EREERs -

PEZEEZERRAR —T_TEFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 18. REWR =
Information about Level 3 fair value measurements of ERARENES=HARENE
investment properties: BHL
Valuation Significant
technique Key input unobservable inputs
flE R FEBAE TABRZERER
All Investment Income approach Income approach takes into account Term yield and reversion
properties net rental income of the properties yield are at 6%

derived from the existing leases and/ (2019: 6%)

or achievable in the existing market
with due allowance for the reversionary
income potential of the leases,
which have been then capitalised
to determine the market value at an
appropriate capitalisation rate.

TR B WA WAET T REBMENEAREN  BRKESRRERKES
B/ HERETS EARERZEASK £AE6%(2019F : 6%)
ANFRE - BEAEAE 2 ERRAE
NEBEHE  BEBMEETUER
fEARE—EEEMNMELL REETE -

The fair value measurement of the investment properties RARAELEE 2 REMEARE
determined by using income approach is negatively correlated 2K E RIE R RS
to the term yield and reversion yield. A slight increase in term Z8E# - BEKaEE RERE R
yield and reversion yield used would result in a significant KBS REEEYEA LB
decrease in fair value measurement of the properties, and vice BERD RN ©

versa.

The net increase in fair value of approximately HK$855,000 HZE2020F12A31HILFE -
(2019: HK$272,000) was recognised in profit or loss for the N EHEINFEEEA855,0008 T
year ended 31 December 2020. (2019%F : 272,000/ 7T) R IE =
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

19. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE 19. R—BEEERZED
2020
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET T
Cost of interest in an unlisted joint R—RFELmEEaE R
venture AR 793,730 793,730

Share of post-acquisition results and ~ JE{G U BBE 2 4E R E M2 X
other comprehensive expenses, net  (FIBRE WAL E)

of dividends received (528,774) (555,955)
264,956 237,775
Details of the joint venture as at 31 December 2020 and 2019 & &R 20204 K 20195612 A
are as follows: 31TERFEAT :
Place of
incorporations Percentage of
establishment and ownership held
operation Class of by the Group
Name of entity Form of entity  EEMAL /R 3L shares held AEBfE Principal activities
ERER 1 5170 REKHE iR &5 EEREAL  FEEREH
Semizbay-U Limited Liability Limited liability ~ Kazakhstan Ordinary shares 49% Extraction, preliminary
Partnership (“Semizbay-U") partnership processing and sale
of uranium oxide on

Semizbay and Irkol

fields
HREEFBREBLE BREMAY  WERE LR 49% R EMIREE
(Enal) Semizbay % rkol[ 5
kR
Summarised financial information of material joint BEAEGECENKRENBRE
ventures
The summarised financial information in respect of the joint HAEEBEAFEZ AEDRE
venture that is material to the Group and is accounted for using (AEREAR) M IEER Z8
equity method set out below: HEE
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

19. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE (Continued) 19. R—EEaEtXE iR

(#)
Semizbay-U EPNG]
20205 20194
HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT FHET
Current assets MENEE 258,805 277,012
Non-current assets IERBEE 376,456 426,675
Current liabilities mBEIE 49,037 162,906
Non-current liabilities JERBRIE 76,485 93,932
The above amounts of assets and CEERAGSHERE
liabilities include the following: T3
Cash and cash equivalents BeMReEEER 54,110 36,546
Current financial liabilities (excluding  REICEIBE
trade and other payables and (M EIEEMNERFR R HA
provisions) FEASTSRIE R e 4E) - 97,707
Non-current financial liabilities FnRBEREE
(excluding trade and other payables (B 1EFEAT BR 3k I E b fE 1+
and provisions) FRIE K ) - =
2020 2019
20204 2019%F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FTET FHTT
Revenue % 486,315 483,749
Profit for the year RERE A 144,579 132,391
Other comprehensive expenses REEHEMEEFS
for the year (52,043) (6,761)
Total comprehensive income AEEEHENEBEE
for the year 92,536 125,630
Note:  Dividend of approximately HK$16,734,000 from joint venture has BizE : MEZE2020F12A31HILFE -
been received during the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: BUIRER A & & % 0 54916,734,000
HK$14,490,000). ﬁ;u(ozmgi 14,490,000/ 7T) 2
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

19. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE (Continued) 20. R—EEELXE R

(#&)
Semizbay-U (Continued) AR (E)
The above profit for the year include the following: AR FEREFBE TS
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FiBT
Depreciation and amortisation e R 59,263 60,795
Interest income FEHA 1,406 -
Interest expense MBS 2,009 4,426
Income tax expense TS 40,125 31,877
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information LR EE D2 RS E R
to the carrying amount of the interest in the joint venture is set ZHEEEMNERAT
out as below:
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FExT FBT
Net assets of Semizbay-U AR EBEFE 509,739 446,849
Proportion of the Group’s ownership & B A 7
interest in Semizbay-U o) Zatna ]l 49% 49%
Carrying amount of the Group’s AEBRNH A A
interest in Semizbay-U FRE R AR E (A 264,956 237,775
No capital commitment and contingent liabilities incurred REER—EE 2 ERN R E
related to the Group’s interest in a joint venture. BAFEERIAEE o
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

20. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

20. R—EHE QTR

2020 2019

20204 20194

HK$’000 HK$’000

FTHET FAT

Cost of interest in a listed associate 7> — M Bt & A AlHERS < A AR 453,924 453,924

Accumulated impairment R2iHRE (131,337) (190,760)
Share of post-acquisition profit PR W B 1& 8 ) K

and other comprehensive 2 mEkas

income (Note a) (FfzEa) 218,426 282,712

Share of other reserve JE(E Bt 12,557 7,646

553,570 553,522

2020
20204

2019
20194
HK$'000
FAT

HK$’000
FET

R—E L QA
a2 hiE

Market value of the interest in

the listed associate 229,268 161,596

Details of the associate as at 31 December 2020 and 2019 20204 K2019F12 831 H * #%
ity B

are as follows: B N RFHIBIAT

Percentage of
Place of ownership held
incorporations by the Group
establishment (Note b)
and operation Class of AEEfE
Name of entity Form of entity  FEMA shares held BERADL  Principal activities
BERER BRp REHHE iR o R (Fitztb) TEEBEY
Fission Uranium Corp. Corporation Canada Common shares ~ 16.74% (Note ¢) ~ Acquisition and
(“Fission”) (31 December development of
2019: 19.88%) exploration and
evaluation assets
Fission Uranium Corp. s IIEYN LB 16.74% (fititc) WERFEHRR
([Fission]) (2019F TEEE
128318
10.88%)
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H It FE

20.

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

Note (a):  As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the management of the Group
reviewed the interest in an associate for impairment assessment
and determined the recoverable amount based on a value-in-use
calculation using a 20-year (2019: 20 years) cash flow projection
with reference to a valuation performed by an independent qualified
professional valuer, Asia-Pacific Consulting and Appraisal Limited.
The key inputs are the uranium prices and the resources of uranium.

During the year, as a result of recovery of uranium price, a reversal
of impairment loss of approximately HK$59,423,000 (2019:
HK$18,267,000) was recognised and included in the share of result
of an associate for the current year.

Note (b):  The Group is able to exercise significant influence over Fission
because it has the power to appoint two (2019: two) out of eight
directors of Fission under the terms stated in the subscription
agreement entered into by the Company and Fission on 11 January
2016.

Note (c): During the year, Fission entered into agreements with certain
underwriters on 26 October 2020 and 11 December 2020 pursuant
to which the underwriters have agreed to purchase, on a bought
deal basis, approximately 79,163,474 ordinary shares in aggregate.

Fission also engaged into a credit agreement with a company
(“Lender”) for the purpose of funding the development of the
Patterson Lake South uranium project and general working capital. In
connection with the facility, Fission issued approximately 11,684,000
ordinary shares upon exercise of purchase warrants and interest
payment to the lender in accordance with the terms and conditions
of the credit facility agreement.

In addition, Fission issued 244,000 (2019: 605,000) ordinary
shares upon exercise of share options granted to the directors and
employees of Fission under the share option schemes of Fission.

As a result, the Group’s interest in Fission reduced in aggregate
by 3.14% (2019: 0.02%) from 19.88% as at 31 December 2019
to 16.74% as at 31 December 2020. The effect on the deemed
disposal of partial interest in Fission is approximately loss of
HK$64,439,000 (2019: loss of HK$267,000) which included in share
of result of an associate for the current year.

The market value of the Group’s interest in an associate
disclosed above is based on the quoted market price available
on the Toronto Stock Exchange under the symbol “FCU”,
which is level 1 input in terms of HKFRS 13.

20.

R—EBE ATz R

(&

b5 () :

MiEE() :

M5E)

20204 2019412 A31H -
AEEEEEEHN —HBEA
Rz EZRE Y2EBIAE
REE TG AT EHAER
ARFTETHGEE  KA205
(20194 : 205F) He miER 2 &
REGEEFZEEETKE S
B FEHABIRAMERBE
TR e

FR - HREERF - ANRRIRE
ROB(EE B [E14759,423,000/75
7€ (2019%F : 18,267,000/87T) °
Hi ARARFZREL—RHEBEA

REB Y FissioniE I E A
2 . FAREADQE EFission
201641 B11 BRI 2 RBE W
B AEEBREZEENES
BB (20194 : MB)ES ©

RALEE - Fission 2020510 A
26H F20205F12A11HEETE
SHPERT N ek - IRUL - BEEE
RAEEEZHBHELERE S &Y
79,163,474 & @A o

Fission7REE—E A& (B AD)
Y —MhiEERE  RE®R
Patterson Lake South$#iZE B &
—REEESHETRE - HRE
M5 + FissionE R1TERBEE
FFE£174911,684,0000% L @A% -
W AR IR B B A 1755 B0 16k I A
HHERAZMAFE o

AN+ Fission B AR Fissionf# A
T8I FFrission=EEREEH
BB AR M M1 T {65 T E 3%17244,000
% & A% (20194 : 605,0004%) °

Bt - ANE B FissionHyHE S B
2019412 A31 H&19.88% 4
2020512 A31HE16.74% °
AHEMAD3.14% (20194 -
0.02%) ° BAEH &SR FissionEZp5
B B4 BE51864,439,000
7T (20194 : E1H 267,000/
7T) + BRAFEE T AL — R

EWNSIE S

bR AR BN R E A E
BammmENIREZREZESFRS
PiTeR A5 TFCUL Pl 2 T (B (BNt
BEWHRELENF1SHRME NH
— R ARE) METE -

PEZEEZERRAR —T_TEFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

20. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued) 20. R—REBE QAT Z2ER
(&)
Summarised financial information of a material BEABEQARZHBEERBE
associate
The summarised financial information in respect of the HAEEEERTE 2 HE QA
associate that is material to the Group and is accounted for (AEREAR) M EE R ZS
using equity method set out below: HEAR -
Fission Fission
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHxT THETT
Current assets MENE EE 183,531 29,420
Non-current assets BN E E 1,953,549 1,868,053
Current liabilities mENA & 4,996 2,471
Non-current liabilities FRBEE 59,920 1,896
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHxT T
Revenue BERE - =
Loss and other comprehensive REEEE
expenses for the year HEf2ESH 52,100 31,946
Other reserve for the year REEHA S (26,449) 112

25,651 32,058
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

20. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued) 20. R—EBE QR 2R
(&
Summarised financial information of a material EARBE QAT M BENRE (&)
associate (Continued)
Fission (Continued) Fission (%)
The above profit for the year includes the following: A FE R BE T
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT T
Depreciation and amortisation e 1,032 1,124
Interest income A EMA 695 1,641
Interest expense FEZH 66 93
Income tax expense FriSHisz i - =
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information B A R 2 R A TS B R
to the carrying amount of the interest in the associate is set ZHREENERAT
out as below:
2020 2019
20205 20194
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FEx FiBT
Net assets of Fission Fission H) & &% 8 2,072,164 1,893,106
Proportion of the Group’s ownership 2<% B Fission RIS LL {71
interest in Fission 16.74% 19.88%
Carrying amount of the Group’s A& B Fission AiE
interest in Fission Z BRHE 553,570 558,522
No capital commitment and contingent liabilities incurred 755 (B 70— [ATHG 4 8 R A A I AR
related to the Group’s interest in an associate. BRAERFAEE -

REZEEARAT —T-TFF% 241 1



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

21. INVENTORIES

Uranium it

21.

2020
20204

2019
20194
HK$'000
FAT

HK$’000
FH

1,767,335 1,441,980

During the year ended 31 December 2020, a reversal of
impairment of inventories of approximately HK$1,768,000
(2019: provision of impairment of inventories of approximately
HK$1,768,000) was recognised and included in the “cost
of sales” line item in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss. The net realisable value of the inventories have been
determined with reference to the recent market prices of
similar items within the same industry.

22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

22,

REE2020F12 A31B ILFE -
BREFERMEREE1,768,0007%
T (2019F : FERBERELD
1,768,000/ 0) BEat ASRABEE
BI[SHEXAIIER - FERRIER
SFEBIBARITENELIER AR
HTISEEET °

FE W R R % EL At PR YRR IR

2020 2019

20204 20194

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET T

Trade receivables (Note a) FEUER K (Y 5Fa) 351,810 120,882
Prepayments, deposits and other AR - He KHEM

receivables (Note b) JE xR (Fff 3Eb) 11,366 5,824

363,176 126,706

The Group did not hold any collateral over these balances. At
31 December 2020 and 2019, there was no loss allowance
provided.

Note a: Trade receivables of HK$64,821,000 (2019: HK$7,387,000)
represents amount due from immediate holding company, China
Uranium Development.

Note b: Included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables,
approximately HK$805,000 (2019: HK$472,000) and HK$69,000
(2019: HK$54,000) are interest receivables due from CGNPC
Huasheng Investment Limited (‘CGNPC Huasheng”) and /#8175
BREEATF (for identification purpose, in English CGN Finance Co.,
Ltd. referred to as CGN Finance) respectively, fellow subsidiaries of the
Company.
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22.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

The Group normally grants to its trade customer credit periods
for natural uranium segment ranging from 15 days to 120
days after delivery dates.

The following is an ageing analysis of the trade receivables
presented based on the invoice date, which approximates
the respective revenue recognition dates, at the end of the

reporting period.

22.

FE W R K B EL At FE YRR IR

(&

AEEBEARAMOBRTHEE
HEFBEXMNBHREFANF16BE
120EMEEH] -

RmERR - SRR L XEER
HHRENERRHAEE - B
RFGRE O T -

2020 2019

20204 20194

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET T

Within 30 days 30HA 344,430 113,495
31 to 60 days 31&60H = 7,387
61 to 90 days 61ZF90H - -
91 to 120 days 91E120H 7,380 =
351,810 120,882

The Group measures the loss allowance for trade receivables
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. The ECLs on trade
receivables are estimated using a provision matrix by reference
to past default experience and creditworthiness of the debtor
and an analysis of the debtor’s current financial position,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions of the industry in which the debtors
operate and an assessment of both the current as well as the
forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date.

For other receivables, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12-month ECLs, unless when there is a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group
recognises lifetime ECLs. The assessment of whether lifetime
ECLs should be recognised is based on significant increase
in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.

AEEFENRIRRERBES
RERBEHREEER - BEERZ
BREEBRIR2EEHABE
B REEA RS EB AR
FARSAROR B DA 1R R PR B s B P 1
it WREBANFERE - &5
ANEEMBRITRANEREBEBIA
KRS B HIR B AT AIHR L 0T A
ERHE T IARE -

MEMEBRRIEMNS - AREFE
1218 A EMEERIRERNEE
Bl BIMERRR B BIRHER A
REEIE - AIAEESER
BEHEEER - FhAELEERE
HRHEERE - HEXREBXHE
RELFZONFEERERES
BREIRIN -

hERIERAR AR
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 22, FEWRRFR H B RIE
(Continued) (#&)
There has been no change in the estimation techniques or RE R E B EAERERTE
significant assumptions made during the current reporting AR B FE -
period.
The Group’s trade and other receivables that are denominated AEENEEEEERE R
in currencies other than the functional currencies of the PASN EEEETHE 2 FEU AR R R Ho At
relevant group entities are set out below: FEWGRIEANT -

Presented in: 2020 2019 2020 2019
PR A 20205 20194 20204 20194

HK$000  HK$'000  RMB’000  RMB’'000
TR TAETL AR®TR ARBTT

Trade and other receivables  FEURBRZ N E fth,

JE W I8 604 1,224 3,041 3,180

23. AMOUNT DUE FROM/(TO) AN 23. W () —EHEER

INTERMEDIATE HOLDING COMPANY NRIIE

The amount due from an intermediate holding company &Y — R R4 AR R B 3k I8 B e Uk

represents the rental receivable from CGNPC-URC B EZhERERS - HP o &

Development of which the maximum outstanding amount F2020F12A31HIEFEHRA

during the year ended 31 December 2020 is approximately BB & %#93,875,000/% 7T (2019

HK$3,875,000 (2019: HK$5,375,000). 4 : 5,375,0000&7T) °

The amount due to an intermediate holding company JEAT — R A AR A R ZRIE RN &

represents unsettled amount of management service provided ZihFEE R M ASEIRERNEER

by and the expenses paid by CGNPC-URC Development on BRRINEBRAMNRGEENRIEA -

behalf of the Group.

The amounts are unsecured, interest-free, and repayable on SR THEER - T B RBEELK

demand. 838 -
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

23. AMOUNT DUE FROM/(TO) AN 23.

INTERMEDIATE HOLDING COMPANY
(Continued)

The Group’s amount due from/(to) an intermediate holding
company that are denominated in currencies other than the
functional currencies of the relevant group entities are set out
below:

Presented in:
HIRA

Ui — i PP PR

Amount due from an intermediate

FEW,” (13) — R R 2 AR

NRIFRIE (@)

AEBEY () — P EERA
AIRIENAREE TS 2 e E S
LASNZ EEECHESEGIMT ¢

2020
20204
RMB’000
ARET T

2019
20194
RMB’000
ARET T

holding company RRIFIA 1,955 3,472
Amount due to an intermediate e~ —FEl AP R FEE A%
holding company NGIE/QE:] 735 7,519
24. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) FELLOW 24. EW/ (T ERMEBLATE

SUBSIDIARIES

The amounts due from/(to) fellow subsidiaries are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

The Group’s amounts due from/(to) fellow subsidiaries that are
denominated in currencies other than the functional currencies

of the relevant group entities are set out below:

IE

e, (<) [ ZFT B8 2 R sRIA T

AEE R () RZRKTERRR
TBIAERS BB 2 e B LASL
ZEEHESIINT

Presented in: 2020 2019
BRA 20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMT T ARET T

Amount due from a fellow subsidiary — FEU— R R E A RZIA 16 =
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries  FE R R EB R R ZIE 956 718
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25. BANK BALANCES AND CASH

25, RITHEERBEE

2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FAT
Bank deposits: RITIFR
Cash at bank and on hand RITEFIRE 1,174,508 676,793
Analysis of bank balances and RERBITHEGERRE DT
cash at end of the year:
Cash at bank and on hand (Note a)  B1T&FEMIRE (Fizta) 50,928 28,625
Cash placed at CGNPC Huasheng ~ 1FHUA R ERX A% K
and CGN Finance (Note b) PEZIBRIES (D) 1,123,580 648,168
1,174,508 676,793

Notes:
a) Cash at bank carries interest at prevailing market rates for both years.
b) The balance is unsecured, interest bearing at rates ranging from

0.21% to 2.76% (2019: 0.15% to 3.66%) per annum and recoverable
on demand. On 14 June 2019, the Company entered into the new
Financial Service Framework Agreements with CGNPC Huasheng and
CGN Finance for a terms of three years commencing from 1 January
2020 and ending on 31 December 2022 (the “Agreements”). Under
the Agreements, the directors of the Company consider that these
deposits made to CGNPC Huasheng and CGN Finance is qualified as
cash as the Group can withdraw the deposits without giving any notice
and without suffering any penalty.

The Group’s bank balances and cash that are denominated in
currencies other than the functional currencies of the relevant
group entities are set out below:

Presented in: 2020 2019
SR A

20194
HK$'000
TET

20205
HK$000
Tz
BOEERAS 105,482

Bank balances and cash 214,556

RMB’000
ARBT

9 REEFEHRTEREEDSH
EHEFIE o

b) RETREER  BREMNENT
0.21%%22.76% (20194 : 0.15% =
3.66%) st BT ERFAKE] o 7
201966 A 148 - AR FILEPEX
X R B AR B 5T S 37 B 5 AR A
HEZR % - B2020FE1 A1BFEKBE
2022%12A31A1t » BHH=F -
mEER([ZEH#H]) - BREZE
i - ARRESRRR - BAKE
BEAMRENRZE TR (BERLEMA
BARTGESTMEE)  FE
AR EAZIE RS R P BB TS B E K
BEBERERES -

REEEESEEREEEEIA
Iz BMFHE 2 RITHEF RIB W
T

2020 2019 2020 2019
20205 2019%F 2020 2019%
RMB'000 ~ USD'000  USD'000
ARBT T TR TEL

330 486 4,922 3,689
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

26. BRI REMmENSFE

2020 2019

20204 20194

HK$’000 HK$’000

FTHET FAT

Trade payables (Note a) FERFARER (FisEa) 147,340 23,889
Accrued expenses and other FEETR S SR Bt

payables (Note b) FERT5RIE (FitsE D) 10,949 11,020

Contract liabilities (Note c) EHEE (MisEe) - 1,473

158,289 36,382

Note (8): Trade payables of HK$54,189,000 (2019: HK$5,994,000)
represented amount due to a joint venture of the Company, namely,
Semizbay-U.

Note (b):  Included in other payables, approximately HK$1,015,000 (2019:
HK$1,219,000) are interest payable due to CGNPC Huasheng, a
fellow subsidiary of the Company.

Note (c):  Contract liabilities include the upfront deposits from the customer to
deliver the natural uranium.

Revenue recognised during the year ended 31 December 2020 that
was included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of the year is
approximately HK$1,473,000 (2019: HK$2,391,000). There was no
revenue recognised in the current year that related to performance
obligations that were satisfied in a prior year.

The following is an ageing analysis of trade payables presented

based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

MisE(@) : FERIBRZ54,189,000/ 7T (2019
F 1 5,994,000 T) BEMAA
Al —M& SR EHR T RIFIE o

Mizk() : HtENREREEMARAR
— R RN B R AR EZER
491,015,000 7T (20194 :
1,219,000 7T) BIFERIF 8 °

i) : ANEBEREREP ARXMNRAH
BN RS

FUEHNBERERE2020F
12AC1RIEFERRMNE X
E8#91,473,0008 7T (20194 :
2,391,000 7T) ° RANF E I &
RENEKFEEKNBLOEHHE

RBEHR  RERFEAHZ2T2
PR R Z BRI AT AT

2020 2019

20205 20194

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHET

Within 30 days 30EA 141,078 23,889
31-60 days 31E60H 126 =
61-90 days 61ZE90H = =
91-120 days 91E 1208 6,136 —
147,340 23,889

The average credit period on purchases of goods was ranging
from 15 days to 120 days after delivery date. The Group has
financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all
payables are settled within the credit time frame.

HREERCTHEENARNAH
BNF15HE120H - AEEHEE
ME TSR EIRBUR - LATEIRFTE
ERRIEREEBRAEE -

REZEEARAT —T-_TFFH 247 1



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

The Group’s trade and other payables that are denominated in
currencies other than the functional currencies of the relevant
group entities are set out below:

Presented in: 2020
FImm 20204
HK$’000
THET

Trade and other payables FER BRI
E At eI FRIE 2,138

,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, .
26. FENERIFREAMESTIE
=)

AEE AR EEEREEE U
S EEEFHE < AR HAb FE
IR -

2019
20194

2020
20204
RMB’000
AR¥T T

2019
20194
RMB’000
ARET T

HK$’000
TAT

4,060 3,011 2,369

27. LOANS FROM A FELLOW SUBSIDIARY

Loans repayable on maturity, =83
unsecured and interest bearing

ranging from 3.2% to 4.6% 4.6%) 5B 2B

SEH « I IR FEFR
3.2% % 4.6% (20194 : 3.2% &=

27. RE—ERARKNBQFL
&N

2020
20204

2019
20194
HK$'000
T

HK$’000
FERT

NF

(2019: 3.2% to 4.6%) per annum 904,289 1,067,053

Analysed into DA
Current portion mENEE 370,693 422 559
Non-current portion BN EL 533,596 644,494
904,289 1,067,053

The effective interest rate of the loans from a fellow subsidiary is
3.12% (2019: 3.55%) per annum.
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27. LOANS FROM A FELLOW SUBSIDIARY 27. RE—HERZAKNBEATWN
(Continued) BEXR@®
The repayment schedule of the above loans based on the $ET)§—F'EJWI%BHJ§"T?@%E’JT5%E
agreed terms of repayment granted by a fellow subsidiary are BRUER - EllE A E R EIE
as follows: HanR -
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
On demand or within one year BRERKFR—FA 370,693 422 559
After one year but within two years —E AR ED E(‘ F 533,596 110,898
After two years but within five years ~ M sKIAKE DR AF - 533,596
904,289 1,067,053
28. BANK BORROWINGS 28. SRITER
2019
20205 20194
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FEx T
Bank loans — unsecured IRITE R — EIK IR
and guaranteed REER
Analysed into DT
Current portion mEhEr s 666,704 =
Non-current portion IERBNE S 387,754 -
1,054,458 -
The above loans were borrowed by CGN Global, a subsidiary LAl ERAARRAFMNBA R R E
of the Company, under credit facilities with amounts ranging ZEBHEE R AREA EER
from USD50,000,000 to USD100,000,000. ZREE N T50,000,000EF L E
100,000,0003 7T ©
The borrowing bears interest rates ranging from 0.78% to BREFENF0.78%F1.47% °
1.47% per annum and it is guaranteed by the Company. W AR BIHELR o
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28. BANK BORROWINGS (continued)

The repayment schedule of the above borrowings based
on the agreed terms of repayment granted by bank are as

follows:

28.

BITER®

RIRRITRI BB RER - £
ISR B A BB -

2020 2019

20204 20194

HK$’000 HK$’000

THET FHETT

On demand or within one year BRERY 1 FR 666,704 =
More than one year, but not exceeding 12 2 4

two years - -
More than two years, but not 2E5F

exceeding five years 387,754 =

1,054,458 -

29. AMOUNT DUE TO A JOINT VENTURE

As at 31 December 2019, the amount mainly represents other
taxes in relation to purchase of natural uranium resources from
Semizbay-U, a joint venture of the Company, charged by the
local government of Semizbay-U. The amount is reimbursed
to Semizbay-U in accordance with a purchase agreement
entered into between the Company and Semizbay-U.

The balance was unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand.
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30. SHARE CAPITAL 30. B
Number of
shares Amount
BB &8
HK$’000
AT
Ordinary share of HK$0.01 each FRREE.01E T BB
Authorised: ETE
At 1 January 2019, 31 December 20191 18 + 2019512
2019, 1 January 2020 and HA31H - 20201 A1H &
31 December 2020 202012 A31H 50,000,000,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: BEETRERE -
At 1 January 2019, 31 December MR2019%F1 A1H » 2019412
2019, 1 January 2020 and A318 : 2020F1A1H K&
31 December 2020 202012 A31H 6,600,682,645 66,007
All the ordinary shares issued during the years ended 31 REE2020%F Kk20194F12H31H
December 2020 and 2019 rank pari passu with the then LIEFEA TR S MR 2

existing shares in all respects.

EERORETEEA BHAL -

31. DEFERRED TAXATION 31. EZEHIE
The analysis of deferred tax liabilities is as follows: ERBRREZ DMAE -

2020
20204

HK$’000
FERT

Deferred tax liabilities FEFRITBEE 23,968

2019
20194
HK$'000
FAT

19,104

PEZEEZERRAR —T_TEFR
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31. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued) 31. EEBIHE
The followings are the major deferred tax liabilities recognised ITAERAREE RATFERR L
and movements thereon during the current and prior years: FEREERIBAGUREBEES) :

Change in fair

value of buildings ~ Undistributable

Accumulated  and investment profits of
Taxlosses  tax depreciation properties  a joint venture
EFIR -Hag
RENz2 iz 7]
WEEE  RiRERE MMESS FAREN it
HK§'000 HK§ 000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HKS 000

Tin Tin Thn TR T

A Jenry 2019 Houig L A1 % B0 4im) (1089 (76%)
Transferfom property, plant and equipment BIE  BRERREAZRENS

o investment properties - 2906 2906 - =
Charged to other comprehensive income RS - - (1,363) - (1,369)
(Chargec)/creaited to proft or loss (49%) %) (56) b4 (626)
Exchange realignment = = 108 9 406
At 31 December 2019 andl 1 January 2020 019512831 B RA00E1A1H - (182) (6378) (10,544) {19,104
(Chargec)/creaited o proft orloss RER (R /HA - 1% (14 3,389 3.446)
Exchange realignment kS - - (29 (1.210) (1419
At 31 December 2020 HaE 12831 B - ) 8800 (15142 2%
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused REmEBHR - ANEE A K
tax losses of approximately HK$30,101,000 (2019: K w2z ABARBEEIEBLY
HK$27,747,000) available for offset against future profits. #30,101,000/8 7T (20194 :
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of 27,747,000/ 7T) ° R ARBETRRIAR
the tax losses of approximately HK$30,101,000 (2019: FOE A - B A RE 430,101,000
HK$27,747,000) due to the unpredictability of future profit BT (20194 : 27,747,000/ 7T)
streams. Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses of ZIRIBBIERRELERBEE - &
HK$30,101,000 (2019: HK$27,747,000) that will expire after TR BB EEH 4930,101,00078 7T
five years from the year of assessment to which they relate to. (20194 : 27,747,000 7T) 1 7
No tax loss was expired during the years ended 31 December B E AR 2 AT B Rt AR
2020 and 2019. m e B2 2020%F K 2019F 12 A 31

BIEFE  SENBEEBREEW o
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MEMISWMARME

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 32. BBRREEFTE

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at the annual
general meeting held on 2 June 2010, a new share option
scheme (“2010 Share Option Scheme”) was adopted. Details
of which were set out in the Company’s circular dated 27 April
2010.

The board of directors of the Company may, at their
discretion, grant option to the eligible participant including any
employees, any non-executive directors, directors, suppliers,
customers, advisors, consultants, joint venture partners
and any shareholders of any members of the Group or any
invested entities or any holders of any securities issued by any
members of the Group or any invested entities. The maximum
number of shares of the Company which may be issued upon
exercise of all options granted under its share option scheme
or any other share option scheme adopted by the Company
must not in aggregate exceed 30% of its issued share capital
of the Company from time to time. The total number of shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be
granted under the 2010 Share Option Scheme and any other
share option scheme of the Group must not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the shares in issue as at the date of passing
the relevant resolution adopting the share option scheme
unless it is approved by shareholders in a general meeting of
the Company. The maximum number of shares issuable under
the options to each eligible participant in any 12-month period
is limited to 1% of the shares in issue unless it is approved by
shareholder in a general meeting of the Company. Any grant
of options under the share option scheme to a director, chief
executive or substantial shareholder of the Company or any of
their respective associates must be approved by independent
non-executive directors (excluding any independent non-
executive director who is the grantee of the options). Any
share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director of the Company or to
any of their respective associates, in excess of 0.1% of the
shares in issue and with an aggregate value (based on the
closing price of the shares at the date of grant) in excess
of HK$5,000,000, in any 12-month period, are subject to
shareholders’ approval in a general meeting of the Company.

During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, no

share options were granted, cancelled or exercised.

The 2010 Share Option Scheme has been expired on 1 June
2020.

RIER2010F6 A2 BT ZRE
RAEXRE FBA— T8 @RHRS
AR R B RN — BB S
([2010F ER#EETEI]) - BRAFF
BHNAAF B EI20105F4 H27H
K ©

AAREESIRIFEREGEKRDH
BHRTERE - REAEEEAK
BARFWREER RS -
EHITEE - EF - HER T
BB EAA ARBERE
R AE BT S QRS E
ERIEITHESZFAA  BHIT
FIRIEA D R B RAET B A A A
FT B 4 (T {m) L A BE AR 51 B AT o
BERSAE T A A 51T 2 AN A R R0 BR
B AEBZ T ERBARAETE
BEITIAR 2 30% ° BETTIEARIE
20104 BB R i 5t 8 & AR & B {E {7
H b BB AR AT B FT IR HH BB AR AE T =]
BEER 1T 2 RN HAS - NSHRBERA
ERER S B ARRERBA
HAE BTN 2 10% » BRIERER R
AR RBRASHEBIER ° B
FER AN B R A SRR SR AL
GRIBAE AR EEREMI2
18 B AR PRI AR A 31T Z IR 1D 48
HRZBEETROD Z21% ° RIE
BREAZIRAQRIMES - =
BITRABREFERRABESH
Wi YN - qunlii- i g DAY=V 2 VA
EHITE R (T EIER BB RAE A
BAZBMIENITES) 2 & -
i PAMEMA121E BB AR A Z
FTERRABIIERTESHES
ZSEAZHBALRL ZERER
BE BTN 20.1% R BERA
5,000,000/ 7T (FRAEAR D A B B
2z WmEE)  BIERARAT
BTN S Tl

REE2020%F K£2019%F12 A31H
IEFE - BEERE - ST ET
IR AR AE o

2010F AR 2 B 7202046 A
1B E|H -
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

33. ADFFBARREK

33. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY

2020 2019
20205 2019F
HK$°000 HK$'000
TET T
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BE KA 194 55
Right-of-use-assets FREEE 435 1,858
Interests in subsidiaries RIME ARl #Ea 1,008,454 1,008,454
Interest in an associate KT E R R 2R 453,924 453,924
Rental deposits HERe - 387
1,553,007 1,554,678
Current assets RBEE
Trade and other receivables JRE LS B R e ot R M kR 69,777 12,327
Loan to a subsidiary el —FE B AR E R - 555,430
Bank balances and cash ROTEFERRS 971,908 462,736
1,041,685 1,030,493
Current liabilities REBaE
Trade and other payables FERTBR R S EL A B 19 308 59,577 12,222
Lease liabilities HERR 445 1,444
Amounts due to subsidiaries NN @ 1,088 1,130
Amount due to a fellow subsidiary EN—HRZMBARZUE (b) 643 484
Amount due to an intermediate JE— R AR A Rl 5UR
holding company (@) - 5,376
Income tax payable JERT TR HE 3,560 7,291
65,313 27,947
Net current assets RBEERE 976,372 1,002,546
Total assets less current liabilities EEABRARDERE 2,529,379 2,557,224
Non-current liabilities FREBEAE
Lease liabilities HEAE - 445
Deferred tax liabilities ELEHEAR 25 153
25 598
Net assets HEFE 2,529,354 2,566,626
Capital and reserves BRARFHE
Share capital RAR 66,007 66,007
Reserves 1 (©) 2,463,347 2,490,619
Total equity AL 2,529,354 2,556,626
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

33. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY (Continueq)

Note (a):  Amounts due to subsidiaries and an intermediate holding company
are unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

Note (b):  Details of amount due to a fellow subsidiary are set out in note 24.

Note (c):  Movements in the reserves during the years are as follows:

Share
premium

B RE
HK$'000
FAL

33. ARQTHBRRE @

MicE(@) : FEATFTE A B R — M REZER AR
RAREER LB RARENRE

M (o)

FizE(c) :

Share
options
reserve

BRERE
HK$'000

BT

&S — R R Z B AR

MAFiEE24 -

ERREEEBIT -

Other Retained
reserve earnings
HitfEfE REEF
HK$'000 HK$'000

PR B

Total
@t
HK$'000

BT

At 1 January 2019 201961818 1,734,144 154 7 722593 2,456,898
Profit for the year AEE R - - - 66,724 66,724
Dividend recognised as distribution RADKZRE
(Note 12) (FizE12) - - - (33,009) (33,003)
At 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 72019412 831H
R20204E1 A18 1,734,144 154 7 756,314 2,490,619
Profit for the year AEE R - = = 38,735 38,735
Dividend recognised as distribution RADKZRE
(Note 12) (PiEE12) - = = (66,007) (66,007)
At 31 December 2020 2020124318 1,734,144 154 7 729042 2,463,347
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

34. LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES 34. fBATYIFR
Details of the subsidiaries held by the Company as at 31 KA EFR20204F 2019612 A 31
December 2020 and 2019 are as follows: BiEEZMBARGSHT :

Place of Particulars of issued
Class of incorporation/  Place of share capital/paid up Attributable equity
Name of subsidiary shares held establishment  operations registered capital interest of the Group  Principal activities

AL/ BR{TRE/

i k2 KERAER Rz E3 S HREMRA S AEEEERE  TEER
2020 2019
NNF  N19F

Direct subsidiaries:
ERRWERAR:
Bejing Sino-Kazakn* Contributed Captal ~~ PRC PRC RMB823,770,000 100% 100%  Investment project
L 1 L i i AR823,770,0007C RERR
CGNM UK Ltd. Ordinary shares UK UK 100,000 ordinary shares 100% 100%  Trading of netural uranium
AR 48 #H of GBP 1 each KRS
100,000 5 8%
BREEIES
OGN Global Uranium Limited Ordinary shares UK UK 3,000,000 ordinary shares 100% 100%  Trading of natural uranium
TEFERMERFEARAT LAk #E 75 of USD 1 each AIHES
3,000 000R L&k
ShEEET
# Wholly-owned foreign enterprise with limited liability. & SNEBEARREELE
None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding BEMB A RN RERRINRE
as at the end of the reporting period or at any time during the HR R R B AR EERER
reporting period. B o
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated

financial statements, the Group had the following

material transactions with related parties during the

year:

Sales of natural uranium resources to
China Uranium Development

Purchases of natural uranium resources
from Semizbay-U, including taxes

Management fee charged by
CGNPC-URC Development

Interest income from Huasheng

Interest income from CGN Finance

Rental income from CGNPC-URC
Development

Administrative service fee paid to General
Uranium UK Ltd (“General Uranium’”)

Dividend income received from
Semizbay-U

Non-utilisation fee to CGNPC Huasheng

Interest expenses to CGNPC Huasheng

AP EERRHAE
ARHER

EEPNTE
ARHER (BH)

PREZHIER R
MERE

WERER T SRA

YRR R T A B A

Wi B E R R
ZBEWA

[mGeneral Uranium UK Ltd
(IGeneral Uranium])
THREER

WRERGH 2 RS

NFHERERZASRE

NFPERERMERX

35. FHBALRS

U

(il

)

(v

(vii

(a)

BRI ASR A M RARANE

fl ity 77 W FE & 5

AEE

£ o BB A 1 8 B 4 I
THEARS :

2020
20205

HK$’000
FER

424,913

363,414

6,011

8,663

95

3,012

16,734

35,896

hERIERAR AR

2019
20194
HK$'000
AT

377,253

297,113

5,376

19,804

103

3,239

621

14,490

651

20,352
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 35. BBALRZ @
(Continued)

(@) (Continued) (@ &
2020 2019
2020% 2019
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
izE T x FEL

Interest expense to China Uranium A FHE#ERR SR

Development (x) 107 =

Information system services fee paidto AR BIEZENRHERAR

CGN Power Company Limited (TREZEN]) ZHHNER

(“CGN Power’) ZRRBER %) 89 75
Accounting services fee paid to R EZE AL

CGN Power HEREER %) 1,043 729
Administrative service fee paid to B E R R T TH

CGNPC-URC Development R5ER (i) 529 534
Storage fee paid to China Uranium APEHERR T TERE

Development (i) - 606

Purchases of natural uranium resources B Swakop Uranium (Pty) Ltd

from Swakop Uranium (Pty) Ltd, (ISwakop)) BE R K& IR
including taxes (“Swakop’) (&%) (xiv) 66,690 121,397
Notes: PRy -
(i) On 6 December 2016, the Group entered into a framework 0] RK2016F12A6H, K%
agreement with CGNPC-URC Development for the sales of EEEAPEZMEERELE
natural uranium resources for the years ended 31 December F2017FE2019F12 8
2017 to 2019 at prevailing market rates. Details are set out in 31 HIFEARRIR T M E L
the announcement of the Company dated 8 December 2016. EXAHE IR AT MAESR
& o FBEHNRARFH
B A2016F12 ASHAA
&
On 14 June 2019, the Group has entered into a new R201966 148 » A&
framework agreement with CGNPC-URC Development for B E R R A
the sales of natural uranium resources for the years ended 31 F2020F £2022F12 A
December 2020 to 2022 at prevailing market rates. Details 31B IEFERBITHEL
are set out in the announcement of the Company: dated 9 EXARHE R AT AR
September 2019. & o FIEHNAAFH
HA2019F9A9HK A
25 o

=
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H It FE

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(a)

(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(i)

(i)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii

On 1 March 2017, the Group entered into a sale agreement
with China Uranium Development for the sales of natural
uranium resources for the year 2017 to 2019.

On 25 November 2019, the Group entered into a new sale
agreement with China Uranium Development for the sales of
natural uranium resources for the year 2020 to 2022.

On 1 March 2019, the Group entered into a purchase
agreement with Semizbay-U for the purchase of natural
uranium resources for the year 2019 with other certain taxes
in relation thereon borne by the Group.

On 12 March 2020, the Group entered into a purchase
agreement with Semizbay-U for the purchases of natural
uranium resources for the year 2020 with other certain taxes
in relation thereon borne by the Group.

The Group entered into a service agreement with CGNPC-
URC Development for the management services provided by
CGNPC-URC Development.

The Group entered into a framework agreement with CGNPC
Huasheng to deposit amounts with CGNPC Huasheng and
generate interests from such deposits.

The Group entered into a framework agreement with
CGN Finance to deposit amounts with CGN Finance and
generated interests from such deposits.

The Group entered into a rental agreement with CGNPC-
URC Development to lease out the investment properties to
generate rental income.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, General Uranium,
a fellow subsidiary of the Group shared the finance staff with
the Group and charged for administration and the accounting
services fee.

The Group entered into a loan agreement with CGNPC
Huasheng to withdraw amounts with CGNPC Huasheng and
incurred commitment expense for unwithdrawed loans.

35. BAEBALRE @

(a)

(&

s« ()

(i)

(i)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii

hERIERAR AR

R2017E3 818, A%£H
£ AR B $h 2 B R 5201 74
E2019F HERAHE R
BT SHE R o

2019411 A25H, 8%
%] 2 rh B i 32 3¢ R 542020
FE2022F HERAHE
RIS ETIHE i o

R2019F3A1H » &%
E IR R FE 20195 5
BRAMIILBE B
H fth 5 BE I8 R AN & B A
i o

R2020F3A 128 * K&
= HH A R BER2020F FE
BRARMIT L EE W
H 5 BE T I8 A B
¥ o

AR BB E A R R
BhAP A S S B R R R
BB 32 IR 5 7] S AR 75 1

g
A%

A B R ERERHRN
RERERT R AELERN
BRI SAERBE °

REE R BRI BRI
RER W - H BT
£ AR - BREUAE A
B

ANE B B AP AR i S TR
AL EMETLAE
g - NEEBEWA -

REE2019412A31H
LIEFE - AEEHRRH
J& 2 F)General Uranium§z
REEKAUBAERIK
NERRVISRISE -

REE R EZERHR
R B R BRFURAT 3L
N E VS S
BREEFAER -

—ETFFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H It FE

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(a) (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(ix)

(xi)

(i)

(xiil

(xiv)

The Group entered into a loan agreement CGNPC Huasheng
to withdraw amounts with CGNPC Huasheng and incurred
interest expense for those loans.

The Group entered into a loan agreement with China Uranium
Development to withdraw amounts with China Uranium
Development and incurred interest expense for those loans.

During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019,
CGN Power, a fellow subsidiary of the Group provided the
information system and accounting services to the Group
charged for the services fee.

During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019,
the Group entered into an agreement with CGNPC-URC
Development that shared the finance staff with the Group
and charged for services fee.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group
entered into an agreement with CGNPC-URC Development
for the storage fee of the inventory.

During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, the
Group entered into a purchase agreement with a fellow
subsidiary of the Group, Swakop, for the purchases of
natural uranium resources with other taxes in relation thereon
borne by the Group.

All transactions were conducted with terms mutually

agreed with the counter parties.

Details of connected transactions of the Company

are disclosed in the “Directors’ Report” section to the

annual report.
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(a)

=

(&

Mz : (&)

(ix)

(i)

(i)

(il

(xiv)

AEEEP ERERHR
TR BARBROR M 7]
ST ESRipE R R EE R

EEMESF

A& B B rh B g S B Rt
PA R B ik 26 3% R BB BUGROR
MRS E R R it ik
EREENSHAX -

H E20204F 2019412
AB1HILFEHME - A&
B —ERRME DA E
ZENRAANEEREED
REREFTARTS » 3 UKER
R EF o

REZE20204F 20194
12A31BLLFE - AEE
B SRR EK
SEEXEZHBEAS LD
FRWERGE -

HZE2019F12A318 1
FE - AKEREENE
HB AP ERMEEER
ST o

HZ22020%F K20194F12
AB1HLLFE ~"&HE
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(a)

b)

(Continued)

The Group entered into a facility letter with CGNPC
Huasheng (as lender), pursuant to which the Company
can borrow from CGNPC Huasheng for operation
capital within of total borrowing amounting to
USD610,000,000 (2019: USD660,000,000) from time
to time within 3 years from the first withdrawal. As
at 31 December 2020, there was unused borrowing
facilities amounting to USD493,394,000 (2019:
USD522,406,000).

Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of directors of the Company during
the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 is as
follows:

35. BBALRZ @)

(a)

(b)

()

RNQREPEZER (1ER
BERAN)ILERBE
Bt AARBE BRI
HBEN=ZFRA - EL
&7 %8610,000,0003% 7T
(20194 : 660,000,0003
L) - A RERAF EZ
EREABESHARKEEE
& - N2020F 12 A
318 - RBAEARMEE
493,394,000 7T (2019
£ : 522,406,000%7T) °

FEEHEAE Z R
REE2020%F 201912
A31BIEFEEARRRES
ZBemT

2020 2019

20204 2019%F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FHET

Short-term benefits SR 2,174 2,174

Post-employment benefits BEER 2R A - =

2,174 2,174
The remuneration of directors of the Company and ARRAIEEREBTHA
key executives was determined by the remuneration BrMemyMEl® Z%
ZEMENALTZRE T

committee having regard to the performance of
individuals and market trends.

LBEETE -

REZEEARAT —T-_TFF% 261 1N



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

nv_\éﬂji%iﬁéélzﬁﬁ o

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

36. NOTES SUPPORTING STATEMENT OF 36. REMBRMTE

CASH FLOWS
BERBEL Z BBk

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities:
Loans from
immedlate holding  Loans from a fellow
company subsidliary
Efi-RPRER EN-ER
RAIS A .

Interest payable Bank borrowings Lease liabilties
HEAR
(Note 17(b))
(HEH170)
HKS'000

(Note 28)
(f£28)
HK$ 000

Th1 Thr

(Note 27)
(Hfzkon)
HK$'000

T

HK$000 HK$'000
THEL TAL

At1 January 2020 7202051 A1H 1,219 - 1,067,063 - 3,724
Changes fom fnancing cash ~~ REBER £ TEF):

flows:
Interest paid on loans from WREEEZRAR

immediate holdng company ~~ EFE[FIE (107) = - - -
Interest paid on loans froma SR E—FAAZ

fellow subsidiary WELREZEMHE (36,100) = - - =
Interest paid on bank borrowings - 8F/TEHEHE (1,5%9) = = = =
Advance of loans from immediate K8 E&ERATEHA

holding company - 349,686 - - -
Repayment of loans toimmediate EEEZERAAMER

holding company - (349,686) - - -
Advance of loans fromafelow ~ RE—RRZHEAREHER

Subsidiary - - 259,795 - -
Repayment of oanstoafelow ~ BE-FFAZHBAA

subsidiary - - (422,559) - -
Advance of bank borowings RATHEFES - - - 1,054,458 =
Repayment of lease liabiiies ~ BEEEE(E - - - - (1,962)
Total changes from financing cash KEBEEEIR L EEE)

fous 37,745) - (162,764 1,054,458 (1962
Other changes: A
Finance costs MERR 40,785 - - - 104
As at 31 December 2020 HZ2000512831H 4259 - 904,289 1,004,458 1,866
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

36. NOTES SUPPORTING STATEMENT OF 36. REMBRMTE

CASH FLOWS

Loans from a
Interest payable fellow subsidiary  Lease liabilities

FEft— IR 2t

R FE

HK$’000
TR

15
ZE®

(Note 27)
(FftzE27)
HK$'000

FET

=N

(Note 17(b))
(FitzE17(0))
HK$’000
THETT

At 1 January 2019 R2019%1 HA1H 940 743,928 3,409
Changes from financing RERMER S RES:

cash flows:
Interest paid on loans from  FL2K 5 — R KM B A ]

a fellow subsidiary EREAFHE (20,073) = =
Advance of loans froma & E —MERRWEAF

fellow subsidiary BRI - 850,686 =
Repayment of loanstoa  18i& — R X E

fellow subsidiary BX - (527,561) -
Repayment of lease EEHEaE

liabilities - - (1,958)
Total changes from REREEEHR S MES

financing cash flows &) (20,073) 323,125 (1,958)
Other changes: HhZs)
Finance costs EMA 20,352 - 114
New lease entered into FREFTIHEE

during the year - - 2,159
As at 31 December 2019 & Z20194F12531H 1,219 1,067,053 3,724

HEREEARAR
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

37.

38.

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group entered
into lease arrangement in respect of office premises. Right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities of approximately HK$2,159,000
were recognised at the commencement of the leases. During
the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group did not enter
into any new lease arrangement in respect of office premises.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the borrowing of
HK$1,054,000,000 (2019: HKS$ nil) as set out in note 28 has
incurred interest expenses of approximately HK$40,785,000.

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Group as lessor

Property rental income earned during the year was
HK$3,012,000 (2019: HK$3,239,000). The Group’s
investment properties held for rental purposes and are
expected to generate rental yields on approximately 6% (2019:
7%) on an ongoing basis.

The Group leases out investment property under operating
leases. The leases typically run for an initial period of one
to three years. None of the leases includes variable lease
payments.

Undiscounted lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases in place at the reporting date will be

receivable by the Group in future periods as follows:

37.

38.

FEFRRERS

HE2019F12A31HIEFE - &
SEBBR AT I HERHE - £
REEERMEEREX2,159,000
BITEREERIRRER - REZ
2020F12A31HILFE @ XEE
WM AEY T L AHEE
ZHE o

RELZE2020F12A31BIEFE -
B FE28 ATEL fE 2K 1,054,000,000/%5
(20194 : M)BEEAFSER
#)40,785,000/8 7T

o

RERERE
AEEERGEA

FRABRBM W ERS KA
£3,012,0008L(20194F
3,239,00087T) ° AN&EE 2 EY)
ERHEHERERBERFEEEL
6% (20194 : 7%)MFE UK -

AEERELKLHEHLEREY
¥ HEMVLENBER 2=
F o HEMTBEAIZEHENRK -

RS BN BHE S HER
TRMBREEMN KA B ARERR
PREART R AN T URER -

2020 2019

20204 20194

HK$’000 HK$'000

FEx FiBT

Within one year —FNR 3,564 3,349
After one year but within two years —FERBERERN - 3,349
3,564 6,698
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

39. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND 39. RERHETHNEMEER
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY tREENE

Categories of financial instruments SR T AENER

2020 2019
20205 20194

HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT T

Financial assets TEEE
Financial assets at amortised cost BBER AT EZ SR EE
(including bank balances and cash)  (B#FRITATMIES)

— Trade and other receivables — FEURBRFX B E b B U5k 359,802 126,169
— Amount due from an intermediate ~ — fEU— & AR REIERR A RIFRIE
holding company 2,323 3,875
— Amount due from a fellow — FEUR — AR 2 Y /8 A Bl 5K IE
subsidiary 19 -
- Bank balances and cash —RITEFRERE 1,174,508 676,793
1,536,652 806,837
Financial liabilities THEeE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost E%%&K%EZ%@QE
— Trade and other payables — EBR R R B AL S 5K 158,289 34,910
— Loans from a fellow subsidiary —RE—ERRHBA TZ N 904,289 1,067,052
— Bank borrowings —RITERK 1,054,458 -
— Amount due to an intermediate — JE— A EER A A
holding company 874 8,373
— Amount due to a joint venture — B —HaERER - 5,513
— Amounts due to fellow — B —TER R B A B
subsidiaries 1,135 1,421
2,119,045 1,117,269
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e VIR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments

in the normal course of the Group’s business are credit risk,

liquidity risk, interest rate risk and currency risk.

(@

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which
will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge an obligation by the counterparties is arising
from the carrying amount of the respective recognised
financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of
the Group has delegated a team responsible to ensure
that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
In addition, the Group reviews the recoverability of
each individual trade debt at the end of each reporting
period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are
made for irrecoverable amounts.

For trade receivables, the Group has applied the
simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss
allowance at lifetime ECLs. The Group determines
the ECLs on an individual basis for customer with
significant balances by using a provision matrix,
estimated based on historical credit loss experience, as
well as the general economic conditions of the industry
in which the debtors operate. In this regard, the
directors of the Company consider that the Group’s
credit risk is significantly reduced.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)

For other receivables, amounts due from fellow
subsidiaries included in bank balances and amount
due from an intermediate holding company, the credit
rating was categorised as "Performing" as set out
on page 269. Based on the financial position and
good history of repayment of the fellow subsidiaries
and intermediate holding company, the Group has
assessed that the ECLs for these receivables and
amounts due from fellow subsidiaries and intermediate
holding company are not material under 12-month
ECLs. Thus, no loss allowance provision was
recognised during the respective period.

The credit risk on liquid funds other than those
placed with fellow subsidiaries is limited because
the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

The Group considers the probability of default upon
initial recognition of asset and whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing
basis throughout the reporting period. To assess
whether there is a significant increase in credit risk
the Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on the asset as at the reporting date with the risk of
default as at the date of initial recognition. It considers
available reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking
information. Especially the following indicators are

incorporated:
o internal credit rating;
o external credit rating;
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’\*Eﬁﬂﬁﬁﬂ (Fn %269
Eﬁﬁ%@) c ERERMBA
A KA R A B B B
ﬂﬁﬂ&ﬂﬂﬁ?ﬂiﬂﬁ VN
LA HERAZEE
HKEE R JEW R R B A
K —E R EZERA [
IEJ:T:TQ(H WIEBEEE
BRI TNBEKX - AL -
REHEASERRER
B o

T BUA [R) 2 Bt /8 22 R BA S
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)

° actual or expected significant adverse changes
in business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant change
to the borrower’s ability to meet its obligations;
and

o significant changes in the expected performance
and behaviour of the borrower, including
changes in the payment status of borrowers in
the Group and changes in the operating results
of the borrower.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group has tasked
its management to develop and maintain the Group’s
credit risk grading to categories exposures according
to their degree of risk of default. The credit rating
information is drawn from publicly available financial
information and the Group’s own trading records
to rate its major customers and other debtors.
The Group’s exposure and the credit ratings of its
counterparties are continuously monitored and the
aggregate value of transactions concluded is spread
amongst approved counterparties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIR MR

"""" L
For the year ended 31 December 2020 &;£2020F12 831 H L F[E
40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continvec) ~ 40. BI I EBR B ()
(@)  Credit risk (Continued) (@ FERRGE)
The Group’s exposure to credit risk (Continued) FEFEGREERRE (B
The Group’s current credit risk grading framework RNEEE A0 55 &R ET
comprises the following categories: %M[?EE?E LA &48

Category

5

Performing

Rt

Doubtful

A &¢

Default

fi
2%

Write-off

s

Description

For financial assets where there has low risk of default or has not
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition
and that are not credit impaired (refer to as Stage 1)
REXNRREBREREEERBRAREENEINMHEERE
HERMEE (ZHE—HR)

For financial assets where there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition but that are not credit impaired

(refer to as Stage 2)
BIRERRIEER

(2HE_ER)

RO AENEMESHEERENSREE

Financial assets are assessed as credit impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that asset have occurred (refer to as Stage 3)
E-ARSZEEMHEENLFIRRREREEE TNTER -
CREENTEAGERECHE=KR)

There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and the Group has no realistic prospect of recovery
BERRRABBABABRENTBRE - B AN EEREFIED
HEWTE

hERIERAR AR

Basis for
recognising ECLs

HREHEE
EEREAE

12-month ECLs

12 ATafifz &
18

Lifetime ECLs - not
credit impaired

EHEMEEBE -
EBEERE

Lifetime ECLs —
credit impaired

EHEREEEE -
HREERE

Amount is written off

TR E B H

—ETFFR
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RARBHMENE ¢

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 40. BIERAMRERE

(@)  Credit risk (Continued) (@) FEERRGE)
The Group’s exposure to credit risk (Continued) AREEERGLEERSE (&
The tables below detail the credit quality of the Group’s TRAMIETAEE S
financial assets, as well as the Group’s maximum BMEEMNEFEEEZ UK
exposure to credit risk by credit risk rating grades. AEBEERBITRER

MERAEERRAA

Gross Net
Internal 12-month or carrying carrying
31 December 2020 credit rating lifetime ECLs amount amount
2020%12H31H R EERTR 12B AR EHNRREESE fREAE REFE
HKD’000 HKD’000
THERT THET
Trade receivables Note Lifetime ECLs 351,810 351,810
(simplified approach)
FEHBR TR Bisr FHEHEEER (@75
Deposits and other Performing 12-month ECLs 7,992 7,992
receivables
Be REMEYIA REF 12 ATRHEEEE
Amount due from an Performing 12-month ECLs 2,323 2,323
intermediate holding
company
Y —FEPBERAR R 12{A AFEEEEER
IR
Amount due from a fellow Performing 12-month ECLs 19 19
subsidiary
e —HRZMBELRSR Rif 12{8 A EHEEEE
B
Bank balances and cash ~ Performing 12-month ECLs 1,174,508 1,174,508
RITEFRIRE Ry 12{A R EEEEER
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group’s exposure to credit risk (Continued)

31 December 2019
2019 12H31H

Internal
credit rating

WEMEEREAR

12-month or
lifetime ECLs
12{A Ak = BTEEEE

a8

40. HBRERER @

BB (&)

AL [ [E o 15 B (AR

REAE
HKD’000

Gross Net

carrying

carrying
amount
REFE
HKD’000
FET

amount

TR

Trade receivables Note Lifetime ECLs 120,882 120,882
(simplified approach)
FEWBR R BiteE > HITEEMEEEIE
(G 9ap2)
Deposits and other Performing 12-month ECLs 5,287 5,287
receivables
ReRHEMMBEUWHIE  RAif 1218 A BB B &5 18
Amount due from Performing 12-month ECLs 3,875 3,875
an intermediate
holding company
e —fER EER AR R 12{8 AR HIE B E1E
FIH
Bank balances and Performing 12-month ECLs 676,793 676,793
cash
RITHEF MR E R4f 12{8 ATEHAE BE1E
Notes:  For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified MizE : BREWERRME @ AEE

approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at
lifetime ECLs. Except for debtors with significant outstanding
balances or credit-impaired, the Group determines the
ECLs on these items by using a provision matrix, grouped
by ageing of trade receivables. No loss allowance has
been made on trade receivables as the amount involved is

insignificant.

ERAEEMBRMELEL
FOMMBLT AFER
HMmEREEEBENEE
B - BREAEXRREH
BREERENEBEI
AEERARBERETE
HERENRBEEE
B iR AR R D
o RSB E
R R B R A
BREBEFELEERRE -

PEZEEZERRAR —T_TEFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)
The Group’s exposure to credit risk (Continued)

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by
geographical locations is mainly in Germany (2019:
Hong Kong), which accounted for 61% (2019: 77%) of
the total trade receivable as at 31 December 2020.

Besides, the Group has concentration of credit risk
as 18% (2019: 6%) and 80% (2019: 23%) of the total
trade receivables was due from the Group’s largest
customer and the five largest customers respectively
within natural uranium trading segment.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management
to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The management
monitors the utilisation of loans from a fellow subsidiary
and ensures compliance with loan covenants.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities and lease liabilities based on the agreed
repayment terms. The table has been drawn up based
on undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities and
lease liabilities based on the earliest date on which
the Group can be required to pay. The maturity
dates for non-derivative financial liabilities are based
on the agreed repayment dates. The table includes
both interest and principal cash flows. To the extent
that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted
amount is derived from interest rate curve at the end of
the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BAMBRMBMEE °

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 40. BIERAMRERE
(b)  Liquidity risk (Continued) (b) HRHELEREE)

More than More than
Repayable on 1 year but 2years but Total

demand or |ess than lessthan  undiscounted Carrying

within 1 year 2years 5years cash flows amount
EES e B-% HERE B4R
S BIRRE {BHEE Beig
HK$'000 HK$1000 HK$1000 HK$000
T Tin Tin Tén

At 31 December 2020 H200E125318

Non-derivative financial liabilties FitERER

Trade and other payelles EREHREMERTE 156,269 - - 156,289 15,269

Loans from a felow subsidiary KE-RRZNBLE &R 304,538 548,598 - 943,136 904,289

Bank borrowings St 668,668 - 387,754 1,066,422 1,054,458

Amount dueto an intemediate holding company R —FERRERAGIE 874 - - 874 874

Amounts due o felow subsidries EES G 1,13 - - 1,35 1,13
1,223,504 548,598 387,754 2,159,856 2,119,045

Leases [ibiltes el 916 468 i 2,125 1,866

More than More than
Repayable on 1 year but 2 years but Total
(emand or less than less than undiscounted Cannying
within 1 year 2years cash flows amount

R-% BJIRE FEE
HKS 000 HKS 00 HK$ 00 HK$000 HKS 000
AR Thn TR AT AT

At 31 December 2019 20195125318

Non-derivative financial liabilties FESHER

Trade and other payelles A Rt ff510B 34909 - - 34909 34909

Loans from a felow subsidiary KE-RRZNBLE &R 450,740 131,784 548,990 1,131,514 1,067,053

Amount due to an intermediate holding company R~ RIERAGI:E 8373 - - 8373 8373

Amount due to ajoint venture Efi-Magtsid 5513 - - 551 5518

Amounts due o felow subsidiares ENFZNEARRE 1421 = - 1421 1401
500,956 131,784 548,990 1,181,730 1117269

Leases labiies il 1922 916 1208 4,046 8724
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b)

()

Liquidity risk (Continued)
Fair value

The directors of the Company consider that the
carrying amounts of financial assets and financial
liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated
financial statements approximate their fair values due
to their immediate or short-term maturities.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk
in relation to fixed-rate loans from a fellow subsidiary.
The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate
risk in relation to its variable-rate bank borrowings,
pank balances, amounts due from fellow subsidiaries
included in bank balances and cash. The Group
currently does not have an interest rate hedging policy.
However, the management monitors interest rate
exposure and will consider other necessary actions
when significant interest rate exposure is anticipated.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for non-
derivative instruments including bank balances and
cash at the end of the reporting period. The analysis
is prepared assuming the financial instruments
outstanding at the end of the reporting period were
outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis points
(2019: 50 basis points) increase or decrease is used
when reporting interest rate risk internally to key
management personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in
interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points (2019: 50
basis points) higher/lower and all other variables were
held constant, the Group’s post-tax profit for the year
ended 31 December 2020 would increase/decrease by
approximately HK$5,658,000 (2019: HK$3,170,000).
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) ~ 40. BITSRBEEE &
(d)  Currency risk (d E¥ER
The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such TEEEDE RS EKR
exposures arise from rental income and purchases % - BERKRIKREHS I
by the Group in currencies other than the entities’ ARKREENZEEER
functional currencies. Approximately 100% (2019: e EB NNz B &
100%) of the Group’s rental income are denominated TERHE - NEEA100%
in currencies other than the functional currency of (20194 : 100%) KIFA & UL
the group’s entity. In addition, certain portion of ANEBEERB 2GR
trade and other receivables, amount due from an AN EHEBIME o o -
intermediate holding company, bank balances and aTE o MR R HE A
cash, trade and other payables, amounts due to an FEUWRTE - EUL— R
intermediate holding company and fellow subsidiaries ERARIFRIE - RITE
are denominated in currencies other than the functional ERBRe - BNERFREH
currency of the entity to which they relate. L FE < FRIE A K B A — R
HEE R A B R B R B
NAIFIE - TYAERE Z A
R e M DA Hh 2 R 4
" .
The following table shows the Group’s exposure at the TRERASEERREH
end of the reporting period to currency risk arising from RAAEHREKEELE
recognised monetary assets or liabilities denominated B EREBNEE
in a currency other than the functional currency of the ohz BB EEEE 2R
entity to which they relate. % o

Presented in: 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

SRR 2020F 20194 2020 2019%F 2020 2019F

USD’000 USD’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TR TEr AR®TR ARETET FHT T

Assets BE 5,851 3,589 12,481 14,154 89,382 215,780
Liabilities afE - - (4,703) (10,6006) (2,138) (4,060)

7K S (B 35 B I S 0
KR - R EEEER
SMNERKR - WRABFER
EELHHPERINERL

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, the management monitors
foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need
arise.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(d)

Currency risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to the currency risk of
RMB, USD and HK$.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity
() to a 5% and 0.5% increase or decrease in HK$
against the RMB and USD respectively for the years
ended 31 December 2020 and 2019. 5% and 0.5%
are the sensitivity rates used when reporting foreign
currency risk internally to key management personnel
and represent management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates.

The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign
currency denominated monetary items and adjusts
their translation at the end of the reporting period for
a 5% or 0.5% (2019: 5% or 0.5%) change in foreign
currency rates. A positive number below indicates
an increase in post-tax profit where the respective
functional currency strengthen 5% or 0.5% (2019: 5%
or 0.5%) against the relevant currency. For a 5% or
0.5% (2019: 5% or 0.5%) weakening of the respective
functional currency against the relevant currency, there
would be an equal and opposite impact on the profit.

40.

R TR e

(d)

BWmEERE)

AEBEIZ2HHARYE -
ELMETEERR

TR A& B ()& =2020
FEN2019F12A31 8 15
EHETOREARBK
ELAHERIZE5%%0.5%
ZHRRE o L BURKE L &
(5%%0.5%) BlaE£BER
A B Bt AN B B VE A 3T 3R
EREACHRE KX
EIEERLINEE R A] pEE
2 BB ATIERTE -

BRED M ERIE R ARG
BN EFEEBEE R
R & BRI E R 2
5%8%0.5% (20194 : 5%
500.5%) EBEH 2 T E R

JERNREER N BHEEK
F{E5%5%0.5% (20194 :
5%73%0.5%) FT 8 B R Fi1&
A2 TR o fMABFERY D)
BB H BEBEIESY
500.5% (20194 : 5%k
0.5%) + B HEMEK

MR EFBRTZE

Presented in: 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
BTRA 20205 20196 20205 20194 20205 20194
USD'000  USD'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  HK$000  HK$000

ST TET AR%TR ARETT Fax AT

5% 5% 5% 5% 0.5% 0.5%

Profit or loss a Ak EE (219) (135) (293) (117) (364) (884)

EEERS ARFEAR
Z B K2 3 = R A R
B EBRE ALK
B A SNE R o

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk
as the year end exposure does not reflect the exposure
during the year.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H I FE

41.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes loans from a fellow subsidiary and leases liabilities,
net of cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to
owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital
and reserves. The directors of the Company review the
capital structure on a regular basis. As a part of this review,
the directors of the Company consider the cost of capital
and the risks associated with each class of capital, and take
appropriate actions to adjust the Group’s capital structure.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors
capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated
as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as
total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is
calculated as equity as shown in the consolidated statement
of financial position plus net debt.

The gearing ratios at 31 December 2020 and 2019 were as
follows:

41.

EXmpEE

AEEEREER - ARRALE
N
BE=E TEEGRER - UAK
RARBARR o AREEBRE
SR -

AEEZENGERERFRER
R —MER R B AR &R RE
,,,,,, - MRBRENEEEFER
BUARARNRABIER ARG (B
P EBEETRARGER) - AR
RIESERRIEAER - FAR
AEHPIR  ARAREFEREAN
AR BB E AR AR -
FULREUEZ TS ABAREE R
e o

HERNHEMABME—  AEE
NERB B RERER o ZLL X
LOFBERNERNGRENE - 58
BiREEBERIA S MRS EIE
Bit#E §$ﬂ%&ﬂfﬁﬁﬁﬂ
RATYIMRER N EF B ERE

720204 K2019412 431 HME
ARBERIT -

As at 31 December

M12831H
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FETT
Net debt FAE 784,239 390,260
Total equity e fA%E 2,027,060 1,944,241
Gearing ratio BRBFH R 38.69% 20.07%

hEXEE AR DA
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e VIR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #£2020F 12 A31H It FE

42. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform
to the current period's presentation.

43. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the directors of the Company on 31 March 2021.
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Particulars of Major Properties as at 31 December 2020

R2020F12831AZEBYESE o

PROPERTIES HELD FOR INVESTMENT BFIERE2Y

Location NE Type of properties Lease term
YEEE FAEHIR

Rooms 2906-2910 & 2912, 29/F, PR Office premises Medium-term lease

Shi Ao International Centre, SHZ R PWAE FHIRE

No. 101 Shaoyaoju Beili, ARl B1015%

Chaoyang District, B ERR A s

Beijing, PRC 20182906-2910 %2912 F
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Definitions

-

In this annual report (excluding the “Independent Auditor’s Report to the shareholders of the Company”), unless the
context otherwise requires, the following expressions shall have the following meanings:

RAFEEREAN (NEBREIBARBRROBLZEENRSE]) - BMXEBEXBMEIN ATAEREANTEE

“2020 AGM”
[2020F IR FAFRE |

“associates”
R EIN

“Aﬁicles of Association”
[E2408]

“Aud\it Committee”
[BZEEg]

“Beijing Sino-Kazakh”

Blyatatiy::

«Ril»
Bill

Etd

“Board”
[EEg]

“CAD” or “CA$”
[h07t) 2k [CAS)

“Canada”’

BilEFN

“CGN” or “CGNPC”

[P EZI P EZEE QT
“CGN Finance”

[ E Az 75 ]

“CGN Global”

[ EZBEREE AT

“CGN Group”
[P EZEE]

“CGNPC Huasheng”
[ EAZEE R |
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the annual general meeting of the Company held on 18 June 2020.
RAFIH20205F6 A18H BFRMRREFAE -

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules.
BB AR 7 208 -

the articles of association of the Company.
RAREBERAA -

the audit committee of the Company.
RRREREZES -

Beijing Sino-Kazakh Uranium Resources Investment Company
Limited* (b7 0I5 # & JRIZRE B R A7), a limited liability company
incorporated in the PRC, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.
ERPRBERERERRAR - RABRFMXZNEREELRA]
RARRZEMBAF]

the Inland Revenue (Amendment)(No.7) Bill 2017.
FERMBIEUERTHZR2017 -

the board of Directors of the Company.
ARFIEES -

Canadian dollars, the lawful currency of Canada.
MERTT - MERZEEEE -

Canada, a country in the northern part of North America.
MEX - B—EARAIEEMILFFAIER -

China General Nuclear Power Corporation* (1 Bl & 1% & B A R A 7)),
a company incorporated in the PRC with limited liability and the sole
shareholder at CGNPC-URC.

HREEZEBBRAR  RABIKZ 2BREEAR @ AP EZH
FERIMERR o

CGN Finance Co., Ltd* (F EZBEERFEELAF]), a company
incorporated in the PRC with limited liability and a subsidiary of
CGNPC.
%Eﬁ?%ﬂﬂ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ R BI Y 2 BREEAT - R EZM
E/NA] ©

CGN Global Uranium Ltd (f EZBER#EMRESEBR AT, a
company incorporated and registered in England and Wales with
limited liability and a subsidiary of the Company.

HR A% B B 6 2 o S B PR 2 A)*(CGN Global Uranium Limited) © —
F%ﬁ$ETJ§§@%%%&@ﬁ%iﬁi&%‘fﬂﬁ}ﬁﬁﬁ’ﬂﬁﬁﬁ@ﬁ? /N )N
A o

CGNPC and its subsidiaries.
FEZEEARIRENBAR -

CGNPC Huasheng Investment Limited (FREZZERZEGR AR, a
company incorporated in Hong Kong and a subsidiary of CGNPC.
PEZERREARAR  REBIMK L 28 RTPEREE
NRIZMBAF -



Definitions

T A

“CGNPC-URC”
[ EZ R
“CGNPC-URC Group”

[ R R EE

“China Uranium Development”

[ B ERR]

“Company”, “CGN Mining”
or “we”

[RR7E] - [PEZREE]
DAE:E (Sl

“Controlling Shareholder”
[ERRARER |

“Corporate Governance Code”
[bEE AR

“Covid-19 epidemic”
[Fr gl

“Director(s)”

[E%]

“EDs”
[FITESR]

“EIT Law”
[ B RPREBUA]

“Financial Services Framework
Agreement”

[ 81 %5 RIS HE DR Wp e

“Fission”

[Fission’A &l

)

“Fourteenth Five-year Plan’

(5]

CGNPC Uranium Development Company Limited* ({F E1Z 32 &
AR A7), a company incorporated in the PRC with limited liability
and the sole shareholder of the China Uranium Development.
FEZBEZEBRAR  RABEKIZI2BEREEAR @ B Rk
FEEME—RE -

CGNPC-URC and its subsidiaries, except for the Group members.
PEZMERR LERAKEKEINIEMHE AR

China Uranium Development Company Limited (7 Bl #hZ 2R AR
‘A 7d]), a company incorporated in Hong Kong and the controlling
shareholder of the Company.

PR ERERAR - REBKZAT » AARLZERRKRE -

CGN Mining Company Limited, a company incorporated in the
Cayman lIslands with limited liability, the shares of which are listed on
the main board of the Stock Exchange.

R EZIEZE AR 27 (CGN Mining Company Limited) * RHAZH S
A2 BEREEAT - HROREERAAER L -

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules.

AELEMARAE T 2% -

Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report set
out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules.
R AIM ST AR R EE AT R R ERRE -

the epidemic of 2019 novel coronavirus.
FAEIRE SRS

the director(s) of the Company.

RRAERE -

executive Directors of the Company.

RRBHITES -

the Law of the PRC of Enterprise Income Tax.
R EERARNE RS AR -

the financial services framework agreement dated 14 June 2019
entered into among the Company, CGN Finance and CGNPC
Huasheng.

RATF] - REZMBEP EZERE B EAR2019F6 A 148 228t
BRISAEZR 1775k

Fission Uranium Corp., a Canadian-based resource company of
which ordinary shares are listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange
under the symbol “FCU”, the OTCQX market place in the US under
the symbol “FCUUF” and on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange under the
symbol “2FU” a company owned as to 16.74% by the Company as
at 31 December 2020.

Fission Uranium Corp. * —RUMNERBEM 2 ERAR  EREH
BRLARSR [FCUI R ZmZ R ZFT » LARSR [FCUUF] IR EBIOTCQXR
S5 RARBK2FUI R ER R BEF RSP L - KA RH2020
F12 831 B BFissionA 7116.74%4E5

The fourteenth five-year plan for the national economic and social
development of the PRC, which covers 2021 to 2025.
PEEREENLSERNE THERF - WE2021F20255F ©
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Definitions

T A

“Group”
[REE k5 E]

“Hainan Mining”
R ]
“HK$” or “HKD”
[T

“HKAS”
Bl
“HKFRSs”

B

“HKICPA”
[BAEGMAE

HAA]

“Hong Kong” and “HKSAR”
(BB BB ERITTIRE]

“Hong Kong Xinmao”
[EEEX]

“INED(s)”

B IERITEE]
“Irkol Mine”

[

“Kazakhstan”

[MaEEse HiE ]

“Kazatomprom”

[MGRT]

4N
[KWJ

“Wh”
[kwh]

“Io?
Mol

“Listing Rules”

[Em#RA
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the Company and its subsidiaries.

ARBERENBRE -

Hainan Mining Co., Ltd*, which is listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange, stock code: 601969. )
BREBEERNERAT - R EOEEFR ST LM - BRIHHKSE -
601969 °

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong.

BRAERHE

the Hong Kong Accounting Standards.
BB EFER -

the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by HKICPA.
HEB ST ARG RN 2 BB BERELED -

the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
RN

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People’s
Republic of China.
hEARKMEEESRITTHRR -

Hong Kong Xinmao Investment Co., Limited, a company incorporated
in Hong Kong with limited liability which is a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Hainan Mining.

EABXKKREBRART  REBTMAINERREF - REEEE
2EWBRA -

independent non—_exgcutive Directors of the Company.
RRRBILIENITES °

the Irkol mine located in the Kyzylorzhinsk area, 20 kilometres from
the town of Chiili, Kazakhstan with limited liability, which was owned
and operated by Semizbay-U.

FE AR - (7FAS 52 HTAChligE20 R B B 2 Kyzylorzhinskith &
ZIrkolfElL - BB ARIHEE RERE -

The Republic of Kazakhstan.
e B Se HisE AR o

Joint Stock Company National Atomic Company “Kazatomprom”, a
joint stock company established according to the laws of Kazakhstan
with limited liability, which holds 51% equity interest of Semizbay-U.
504 1 e BB B R /R T 8E 2 Al* (Joint Stock Company National
Atomic Company “Kazatomprom”) » —Z AR & IG5 b 7o HT 8 A2 AL
WARRDT - FHEM ARSI % °

kilowatt.
FE -

kilowatt hour.
FFL/NE o

pound.

5

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited. 1
EEMERRFXHMBERARRES FTHRA -



Definitions

-

“Mauritius”

[ B2
“Model Code”
[~ Al

“MWe”
[Mwel

“NED(s)”
[FEMITEE]

“New Kazakhstan Uranium Project”

[MaFTHhiEIA B |

“Ortalyk”

VNG

“PLS Project”

[PLSIEE |

“PRC” or “China”

(B

“Reporting Period”
[ HA

“RMB”

A%

“Sales Framework Agreements”
[SHEERZ

“Semizbay Mine”

[ |

“Semizbay-U”

PG

the Republic of Mauritius, is an island nation in the Indian Ocean.

EERETHME - REEFHE -

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules.\
LETRAM ST FTE LT AR ESETEL X SHNEESE

megawalts of electricity.
KREH -

non-executive Directors of the Company.

RABBPERITES ©

the acquisition of not more than 49% interest in Ortalyk which owns
100% interest in two deposits in central Mynkuduk and Zhalpak in
Kazakhstan.

RBUE A FIRERS B A BN MR & e BB ) PIE A 5 R HL
R 2 5o W {8 S B TR 149 % HE 2

Mining Company “ORTALYK” LLP, a legal entity established in the
form of a limited liability partnership in Kazakhstan and is wholly
owned by Kazatomprom as of the date of this report.
RRAENZAREERAE  —KPXRERIMEKINEREEE
¥ RAREEHRRIZERES -

Patterson Lake South project, Fission’s primary and wholly-owned
asset, which located in Saskatchewan, Canada, with an exploration
area of approximately 31,039 hectares.

Patterson Lake SouthT B ' AFissionABlZ TE R EHEEEE -
IR MERERIREORE - FRIBEEIEA)31,039ALE o

The People’s Republic of China.
I A RHAE -

from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2020.
20204F1 H1HZE2020F12 H31 B EffE

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC.
AR hBEZEEEE -

the framework agreement dated 14 June 2019 and entered into
between the Company and CGNPC-URC in relation to the sale of
natural uranium by the Group to CGNPC-URC Group.

AR R AP EZIRER R 2 BEA2019F6 A14H 2 iEZR %

NEEBAEE R Bz R EREEFEERAM

the Semizbay mine located in the Valihanov District of Akmoltnsk
Oblast in Kazakhstan, which was owned and operated by
Semizbay-U.

SKLAFEFRIRIL - ALAMATE S 718 Akmoltnsk Oblast 2 Valihanoviz
AR EERRER -

Semizbay-U Limited Liability Partnership, a limited liability partnership
established in Kazakhstan, with the Company holding 49% of its
equity interest through its wholly-owned subsidiary and recognised as
a joint venture of the Company.

FAR LT FE R A B 12 (Semizbay-U Limited Liability Partnership)
RRERAAR Y BRETEREE  REARREEDRE  AQ
RIFEAE AN A REA H49% 5 o
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Definitions

“share(s)”
[R5 ]

“Shareholder(s)”
[ A% ]

“Stock Exchange”
(B 22 P

“subsidiary(s)”
K= PNSIE

“Swakop”

R =Nl

“Tenge”

[2x]

“Thirteenth Five-year”
+=%

“TradeTech”
[TradeTechl
U

[tuJ

UK
[ 5[ ]

“UMP”

[UMP]

WS
[<E ]

“USD” or “US$”
B EAIS

“UXC”

[UxC]
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ordinary share(s) in the Company with a nominal value of HK$0.01
each.
AAREGREBONAIT B

holder(s) of the share(s).
ROFEBA °

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
EEBMERFMARIE -

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules.

BEALTRAME T2 &% -

Swakop Uranium (PTY) Ltd., a company incorporated in Namibia and
a subsidiary of CGNPC-URC.

PEZMEIMB AR AR —ERAKL TR E R E
I EEROFRA]

Tenge, the lawful currency of Kazakhstan.

BX  RERANEREEE o

The thirteenth five-year for the national economic and social
development of the PRC, which covers 2016 to 2020.
FEEREEMTSEENE T =ZERF - HE201622020%F -

TradeTech of Denver Tech Centre, 7887 E. Belleview Avenue, Suite
888, Englewood, CO 80111, USA, one of the leading providers of
uranium prices and an independent third party
I REBRFRIZE R Z M (CO 80111)Englewood Suite 888E. Belleview X
#878875% Denver Tech Centre #J TradeTech °

tons of elemental Uranium.
ME 2 B o o

the United Kingdon of Great Britain and Northern Ireland.
APFIEREIL E RS EE o

Joint Stock Company “Ulba Metallurgical Plant”, a joint stock
company established according to the laws of Kazakhstan, and a
subsidiary of Kazatomprom.

SEEREHEMD AR AR Joint Stock Company “Ulba Metallurgical
Plant”) - —RIBIERERAUDEEXZHRM AR - RiaRIHME

RA] e

the United States of America.
EHERE R o

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the US.
T EROEEE -

The UxC, LLC, one of the leading consulting companies in the nuclear
industry.
UxC, LLC * RAZRE BRI ALMZARRZ — °
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